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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE
OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate
small and mid-sized companies to which a higher investment risk
may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange.
Prospective investors should be aware of the potential risks of
investing in such companies and should make the decision to invest
only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-
sized companies, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM may be
more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on
the Main Board and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid
market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no
responsibility for the contents of this report, make no representation as to its
accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for
any loss howsoever arising from, or in reliance upon, the whole or any part
of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Shenzhen Neptunus
Interlong Bio-technique Company Limited (the “Company”) collectively and
individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance
with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock
Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information
with regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable
enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief the
information contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material
respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters
the omission of which would make any statement herein or this report
misleading.
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Chairman’s Statement

FEHRE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of the Company, | am
pleased to present the annual results of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2023 (the
“Year").

In 2023, the pharmaceutical industry has gradually returned to the normal
track of development following the end of COVID-19 pandemic. Under the
impact of factors such as prevention and control of COVID-19 pandemic and
decrease in sales of relevant products, coupled with the enlarging scope of
procurement of “centralized procurement of drugs organized by the State”
and “centralized procurement of drugs by local alliances”, the overall prices
of pharmaceutical products and high-value medical consumables continued
to fall, and the pharmaceutical industry experienced negative growth as
a whole. In terms of categories, year-on-year decreases were recorded
in the sales of pandemic prevention medical devices, hygiene products,
biological products and chemical drugs, while sales of Chinese medicines,
non-pandemic prevention medical devices and healthcare products were on
an upward trend.
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Chairman’s Statement

In the face of the complex and volatile macro-environment and numerous
challenges, the Group has taken “stabilizing growth, controlling expenses,
highlighting new business and strengthening execution” as the main
management keynote to further cultivate a modernized corporate governance
structure and improve corporate efficiency. During the Year, the principal
business of the Group included research and development, manufacturing
and selling of medicines and medical devices and the purchase and sales
of medicines, medical devices and healthcare food products. In response
to the impact of factors such as market environment, policy changes
and prospects of the industry, the Group has continuously adjusted and
optimized its operation strategies. Firstly, the Group vigorously developed
the healthcare food product market with the combination of multiple sales
modes to enhance the sales performance of key products and to gradually
cultivate new flagship products. Secondly, the Group focused on the
production of fine Chinese medicines as the main direction of the traditional
Chinese medicine business and upheld the philosophy of “safeguarding
the integrity of inheritance, being stable and innovative, and producing fine
Chinese medicines”. Thirdly, the Group continued to expand the business
of manufacturing, purchasing and selling of medical devices, and increased
the proportion of such business in the Group's operations. Fourthly, the
Group screened products in loss-making subsidiaries to facilitate the shift
of products from low to high gross margins, expanded the consignment
and contracted processing business model, leveraged the collaboration
advantage of the industry structure and business structure of the Neptunus
Headquarters, laying a solid foundation for the upcoming turnover from loss
to profit. Overall, in the Year, the Group has basically effectively implemented
the strategic plans formulated in the beginning of the Year and steadily
realized the annual sales performance target. However, profits declined to a
considerable extent due to the impact of goodwill impairment of loss-making
subsidiaries.

In the future, the Group will continue to adhere to the overarching principle
of seeking progress amidst stability, insist on sustainable high-quality
development, implement the guiding principles of “effective expenditure,
multi-channel marketing, focus on growth categories and enhanced
gross profit levels” in an intensive manner, and continue to promote
the optimization of its business structure. The Board will also lead the
management of the Group to continue to improve its governance, enhance
standardized management and the internal control system. We believe
that under the leadership of the Board and the management and with the
persistent efforts of our staff, the Group’s operating business and profit will
resume its growth trend.

On behalf of the Company and the Board, | would like to express my
heartfelt gratitude to all shareholders and business partners for their support
and trust to the Group, and to all staff for their commitment to the Group.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEESNWR D

BUSINESS REVIEW

During the Year, the Group was principally engaged in the research and
development, manufacturing and selling of medicines and medical devices,
and the purchase and sales of medicines, healthcare food products and
medical devices in the PRC. The medicines being sold by the Group mainly
cover several therapeutic areas which are oncology, cardiovascular system,
respiratory system, digestive system and mental disorders.

Research and Development, Manufacturing and Selling of Medicines
and Medical Devices

The Group has two pharmaceutical production bases, which are respectively
located in Jin'an District, Fuzhou, Fujian Province, the PRC (“Fuzhou
Production Base”) and Miyun Economic Development Zone, Beijing
Municipality, the PRC (“Beijing Production Base"”). The Fuzhou Production
Base possesses 366 Guo Yao Zhun Zi approval documents for Chinese
medicines (including more than a dozen of dosage forms such as tablets,
capsules, granules, oral solutions and tinctures) and chemical medicines
(which include various dosage forms namely tablets, capsules, granules,
small volume injections and large volume injections) in total, of which 235
varieties are included in the “Catalogue of Drugs for Basic National Medical
Insurance” (BIZRE AN {RER %45 B £%), and 146 products are included
in the “National Essential Drug List” (BIZRE 7245, B £%). In addition, the
Fuzhou Production Base is the only narcotic combination drugs production
base in Fujian Province designated by the State. The Beijing Production Base
mainly produces chemical medicines (tablets, hard capsules and powders) and
holds 137 Guo Yao Zhun Zi approval documents, of which 89 products are
included in the “Catalogue of Drugs for Basic National Medical Insurance”
(BIZR EAC B8 & (R B 8400 B £%) (64 Basic Medical Insurance Category A drugs
and 25 Basic Medical Insurance Category B drugs), 60 products are included
in the “National Essential Drug List”, and 31 OTC products (23 in Category A
and 8 in Category B).

The Group's research and development work mainly fulfills the internal
development demands of the Group through conducting independent
research and development and cooperation with external research and
development institutions. Three pharmaceutical manufacturing subsidiaries
of the Company are recognized as high-tech enterprises and all of them
are entitled to enjoy preferential corporate income tax treatment for high-
tech enterprises. Over the years, the Group has consistently promoted its
research and development innovation strategy and continued to invest in the
consistency evaluation of generic medicine and the research and development
of new medicines. Currently, the Group owns a total of 35 patents for
inventions. In respect of consistency evaluation, four of the Group’s products
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Management Discussion and Analysis

have passed the consistency evaluation, including Sodium Bicarbonate Tablets
(xE& &40 /), Norfloxacin Capsules (7% #0222 5), Metformin Hydrochloride
Tablets (8% —FR€ I /7) and Propranolol Hydrochloride Tablets (B&f 25
/BB ). The consistency evaluation of several other products is being carried
out in an orderly manner, including Vitamin B6 Tablets (442 B6}7), which
evaluation has been completed and are still pending approval, and Vitamin
B1 Tablets (442 B1/) and Benzhexol Hydrochloride Tablets (E& /%75
ZFr) have completed the consistency evaluation and process validation.
In the aspect of research and development of new medicines, Doxofylline
Injection (ZRZMRIESTE), which was commissioned by the Company’s
pharmaceutical subsidiary, and Concentrated Sodium Potassium Magnesium
Calcium Injection (4R850 55)¥ 57 AR /K) have both obtained approval.
Both generic Sildenafil Citrate Orodispersible Tablets (###&ES 74 its AR 3E O
AFT), a self-developed variety, and generic Sodium Bicarbonate Ringer’s
Injection (FRE&E EAMAZ)EETIR), a holder variety, have received notification
of additional studies from the Drug Evaluation Center, and are expected to
receive manufacturing approval in 2024. The Group also possesses various
new drugs and exclusive products with self-owned intellectual property
rights, including Tegafur, Gimeracil and Oteracil Potassium Tablets (the
“TGOP Tablets” or & B, a drug for anti-gastric cancer), Xiaozheng
Yigan Tablets GHAEZ=TFr, an anti-liver-cancer drug), Proteoglycan Tablets
(%¥EZEHF, for enhancing the immune system), Biyuan Capsules (£ B2
#£, an anti-rhinitis medicine), Amaranth Berberine Capsules (£ =& % B
%, a drug for acute diarrhea), Disodium Glycyrrhizinate (H &8 — 4, a drug
for anti-inflammatory and liver protection), Spironolactone Tablets (12 &g
Fr, a drug for auxiliary diuresis), Ligustrazine Phosphate Tablets (Bl&) || = &=
Fr, a drug for ischemic cerebrovascular disease), Pre-filled Catheter Flusher
(FEFE R EE I EER, a Class Il medical device) and HTK Myocardial Protection
Cardioplegic Solution (HTK D JLIRFEIZFBER, a Class Il medical device).

During the year, two pharmaceutical subsidiaries of the Group located
in Fujian followed the current acting strategy to unify sales policy,
complemented strengths, allocated resource, cross-holding, integrated
development to fully expand the market of key products. At the provincial
level, the Group utilized the home advantages and resources to sort out
and adjust the price of some varieties on the network, proactively develop
the unoccupied market shares within the province and increase the share of
products in the province’s medical institutions; while outside the province,
the Group utilized the national market resources and customer resources of
Neptunus Headquarters, and give full play to the advantages of the linkage
between the industrial system and trade system of Neptunus Headquarters
to continue to expand the market, and actively participate in the alliance
band purchasing of the expiring varieties of the national collection and
procurement in each region to seize the market and drive the sales of other
products. Meanwhile, according to the characteristics of the products, the
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Management Discussion and Analysis

B IR B R am M AT

distribution channels are divided into three major channels, namely, omni-
channel sales, controlled sales and e-commerce sales, so as to continuously
open up the sales channels and adopt a complementary approach between
the medical institutions and the distribution market, so as to consolidate and
develop the original advantageous products’ share in the medical institutions.
Among the subsidiaries, Fuzhou Neptunus Fuyao Pharmaceutical Company
Limited (“Neptunus Fuyao”) insisted on solid focus as the foundation,
and continued to steadily improve its operating results by expanding the
market through multiple channels and cultivating new growth points in
product sales under the premise of implementing key work in the areas
of quality, safety and standardization; while Fuzhou Neptunus Jinxiang
Chinese Pharmaceutical Company Limited (“Neptunus Jinxiang”) continued
to focus on the production of fine Chinese medicines, implementing the
philosophy of “safeguarding the integrity of inheritance, securing and
innovative, and producing fine Chinese medicines”, and actively upgrading
product positioning. The continuous efforts made by these pharmaceutical
subsidiaries in the areas of production, product quality, sales, inventory and
pricing have not only ensured the steady development of their businesses,
but also contributed significantly to the Group’s profitability.

Beijing Neptunus Zhongxin Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.* (4t 5%/ T 7 # 2 j% (5
ABRAF], “Neptunus Zhongxin”), a pharmaceutical manufacturing subsidiary
of the Group located in Beijing, actively responded to the difficult and tense
development situation and the tremendous challenges brought about faced
by the domestic chemical raw materials pharmaceuticals during the Reporting
Period, and promptly followed the industry policies and the market changes
by means of expanding production capacity, increasing products, strictly
enforcing quality control, adjusting the portfolio structure, transforming the
marketing model and the team, etc., closely focusing on the strategic layout
of “shifting products from low gross profit to high gross profit, shifting the
sales team from regional to national, and expansion of consignment and
contract processing business model”, strengthening budget and compliance
management, reducing costs and increasing efficiency, and further refining
risk control, the operating condition improved over the corresponding period
of last year. During the year, sales of Neptunus Zhongxin existing products
were sluggish and the introduction of new products by the Group was
delayed as compared to the original plan, as a result of which Neptunus
Zhongxin remained in a loss-making position. In accordance with the results
of the impairment test, the Group has impaired the goodwill related to the
merge and acquisition of Neptunus Zhongxin. In 2024, Neptunus Zhongxin
intends to carry out operational adjustment programs such as transformation
of marketing model, change of organizational structure, conversion of
remuneration model and staffing, and deepening development of target
markets, as well as optimize pricing, channel and competition strategies of
products, intensify its efforts in budgets control, paybacks focus, receivables
reduction, and winning bids, and strive to turn the business around to
profitability as soon as possible.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Purchase and Sales of Medicines, Healthcare Food Products and
Medical Device

Currently, the main products distributed and sold by the Group are medicines
and healthcare food products manufactured by the Group and its parent
company group, which include the well-known product series of the
Neptunus Ginkgo Leaves Tablets (8 E$EAEE ) and Neptunus Jinzun (/2
T £18). Meanwhile, the Group initiated the distribution of medical device.
Such products are mainly distributed to the end medical institutions through
professional sales promotion companies and to the end users through large
and medium-sized chain pharmacies.

During the Reporting Period, the implementation of the policies of the new
healthcare reform adversely affected the sales of retail pharmacies, which
in turn affected the business of the Group’s medicines and healthcare food
purchase and sales division to a certain extent, and it is expected that such
impact may increase in the future. In order to stabilize its business and
safeguard its long-term development, the Group’s medicines and healthcare
food products division will continue to focus on integrated planning and
timely adjusted its sales strategies, focusing on the sales of key products and
vigorously developing the healthcare food products market. Through self-
media to strengthen the advertisement for the product and the promotion of
the brands, cultivating new flagship products while increasing the sales result
of the key products to actively address adverse impacts to drive continuous
results growth.

Starting from 2022, Fuzhou Fuyao Medical Company Limited (“Fuyao
Medical”), the purchasing and selling subsidiary of the Group located in
Fuzhou, is committed to the rapid development of the relevant business by
focusing on the expansion of the purchasing and selling business of medical
devices and the optimization of the distribution service process. During the
year, Fuyao Medical has significantly improved its performance by distributing
products such as microcatheters, which are peripheral vascular medical
consumables. In 2024, Fuyao Medical plans to introduce products such
as parenteral nutritional supplements to continue to broaden its business
categories, and will also add new distribution agents in some provinces and
cities to ensure steady growth.

During the Reporting Period, the results of the Group’s medicines and
healthcare food purchases and sales division increased as compared with the
corresponding period of last year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

B IR B R am M AT

Environmental, Social and Governance

The Group has been placing emphasis and taking actions in the aspects
of environment, society and governance, including: constantly improving
production efficiency, conserving resources and enhancing employees’
awareness of environmental protection. Regarding production, the output
corresponding to unit carbon emission increased, the pollution and the
emission of hazardous substances which are in violation of laws and
regulations were banned, and old equipment was replaced to reduce
energy consumption and enhance production efficiency. Regarding office
management, office supplies and energy consumption were conserved,
the office is gradually transforming into a paperless office. Also, the Group
actively improves the working environment and is committed to social
responsibility by actively taking part in charitable activities.

During the Year, the Company engaged a professional third-party institution
to assist in conducting comprehensive communication (from various
dimensions) with stakeholders by way of face-to-face communication,
telephone interviews, questionnaires and surveys. The relevant results
not only serve as an important reference for the Company to review and
promote the sustainability agenda of the Group, but also provide a solid
basis for the content selection and preparation of our environmental, social
and governance report. The environmental, social and governance report
prepared by the Company pursuant to Appendix C2 of the GEM Listing Rules
will be published at the same time as the publication of this report.

PROSPECTS AND OUTLOOK

The Group continuously adjust and improve development strategies in
accordance with the innovation trend of the pharmaceutical industry and
its own characteristics, to gradually utilise the collaboration advantage of
the industry structure and business structure of the Neptunus Headquarters,
committing to the development of traditional Chinese medicine prescriptions
and enhance the internal value of the brands to cultivate star products under
the key elements of stabilised quality, safety and regulation. In addition,
the Group will continue to strengthen the promotion of food supplements
by the marketing model of combination of various sales channels, to drive
the sales increase of key food supplement products. At the same time, the
Group proactively introduced the commissioned production of external
varieties to supplement operating results and protect against undesirable
risks. We believe that through the overall layout of the Group, the research
and development of new drugs can progress in stable and development of
various business shall be long lasting.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL REVIEW

The Group's total revenue for the Year was approximately RMB1,064,861,000
(2022: approximately RMB986,691,000), representing an increase of
approximately 7.92% as compared with the corresponding period of last year.
In relation to the revenue, approximately RMB576,679,000, which accounted
for approximately 54.16% of the Group’s total revenue, was derived from
the manufacturing and selling of medicines segment, while approximately
RMB488,182,000, which accounted for approximately 45.84% of the Group’s
total revenue, was derived from the sales and distribution of medicines and
healthcare products segment.

During the Year, the Group’s gross profit margin was approximately 42 %
(2022: approximately 45%), representing a decrease of approximately
3% as compared with the corresponding period of last year, which mainly
accounted for the greater drop in the sales proportion of high gross profit
products in hospital segment.

The Group's gross profit during the Year was approximately RMB447,511,000
(2022: approximately RMB444,142,000), representing an increase of
approximately 0.76% as compared with the corresponding period of last
year. The increase in gross profit was mainly attributable to the increase in the
overall revenue of the Group.

During the Year, the Group’s selling and distribution expenses were
approximately RMB252,826,000 (2022: approximately RMB244,231,000),
representing an increase of approximately 3.52% from the corresponding
period of last year. The increase in selling and distribution expenses was
mainly due to the corresponding increase in selling and distribution expenses
with the increase in general revenue of the Group.

The Group’s administrative expenses for the Year were approximately
RMB90,433,000 (2022: approximately RMB93,733,000), representing a
decrease of approximately 3.52% from the corresponding period of last
year. The decrease in administrative expenses was mainly attributable to the
decrease in staff costs and the decrease of legal fee and rental fee.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

B IR B R am M AT

During the Year, the Group’s other operating expenses (including impairment
losses on trade and other receivables, net) amounted to approximately
RMB96,873,000 (2022: approximately RMB40,927,000), representing an
increase of approximately 136.70% as compared with the corresponding
period of last year. The increase in other operating expenses was mainly
attributed to the RMB33,102,000 impairment of goodwill of Neptunus
Zhongxin and the increase of approximately RMB17,480,000 in research and
development fee.

The Group's finance costs for the Year amounted to approximately
RMB5,574,000 (2022: approximately RMB7,032,000), representing a
decrease of approximately 20.73% as compared with the corresponding
period of last year. The decrease in finance costs was mainly due to the
decrease in interest expenses incurred from the banking loans of Neptunus
Zhongxin.

For the reasons above, the Group’s profit after tax decreased from
approximately RMB63,830,000 for the corresponding period of last year
to approximately RMB 14,526,000 for the Year, representing a decrease of
approximately 77.24%. Profit attributable to the owners of the Company
decreased from approximately RMB54,346,000 for the corresponding period
of last year to approximately RMB24,127,000 for the Year, representing a
decrease of approximately 55.60%.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group usually finances its operating and investing activities with its
internal financial resources and bank loans. The Group’s transactions are
mainly denominated in Renminbi and the Group reviews its working capital
and finance requirements on a regular basis.

Banking Facilities
As at 31 December 2023, the Group had short-term bank borrowings of

RMB82,105,000. For details of banking facilities, please refer to note 23 to
the consolidated financial statements.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

NET CURRENT ASSETS

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had net current assets of approximately
RMB554,404,000. Current assets comprised bank balances and cash of
approximately RMB372,206,000, short-term bank deposits of approximately
RMB 10,000,000, inventories of approximately RMB205,424,000 and trade
and other receivables of approximately RMB332,954,000. Current liabilities
comprised trade and other payables of approximately RMB260,527,000,
current taxation of approximately RMB3,703,000, contract liabilities
of approximately RMB16,034,000, lease liabilities of approximately
RMB499,000, interest bearing borrowings of approximately RMB85,417,000.
The net current assets increased approximately by RMB72,038,000 as
compared with that of approximately RMB482,366,000 as at 31 December
2022. The increase in net current assets as compared to that on 31 December
2022 was mainly due to the fact that bank balances and cash increased
by approximately RMB82,108,000, short-term bank deposits decreased
by approximately RMB50,000,000 and contract liabilities decreased by
approximately RMB27,544,000.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2023, the utilized banking facilities of RMB57,070,000
and the available banking facilities of RMBnil of the Group were secured by
pledge of its buildings and the pledged buildings were stated at an aggregate
value of approximately RMB24,099,000.

At 31 December 2023, the Group's future, fixtures and equipment with a
carrying amount of RMB3,928,000 (2022: RMB1,822,000) were pledged to
secure the Group'’s other borrowings.

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

During the Year, the Group’s operating revenue, major selling costs and
capital expenditure were denominated in RMB. As at 31 December 2023,
the Group’s cash and cash equivalents were mainly denominated in RMB.
As such, the foreign currency risk facing the Group is limited. Currently, the
Group has not adopted any financial instrument for hedging purposes.

GEARING RATIO

As at 31 December 2023, the gearing ratio of the Group, calculated by
dividing the total liabilities by total equity and multiplied by 100%, was
approximately 39.31% (2022: 44.06%).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Hr}%nj-uﬁﬂ& Tﬁ

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Segment revenue and segment results by business and region of the Group
for the Year are set out in note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT HELD

Save as disclosed in this report, there was no other significant investment
held by the Company during the Year.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

During the Year, there has been no change in the capital structure of the
Company. The capital of the Company comprises its shares and other
reserves.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2023, the Group has contracted commitments for future
capital expenditure of approximately RMB734,000. The Board believes that
such capital expenditure can be financed by the Group’s bank deposits and
bank borrowings.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES

The Group had not made any material acquisitions and disposals of
subsidiaries, associates, and joint ventures during the Year.

CONTINGENT LIABILITY
As at 31 December 2023, the Group had no significant contingent liability.
FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS AND

CAPITAL ASSETS

As at the date of this report, the Group does not have any plan for material
investments or purchase of capital assets.

14 SHENZHEN NEPTUNUS INTERLONG BIO-TECHNIQUE COMPANY LIMITED
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Management Discussion and Analysis

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group employed a total of 1,444 staff (2022:
1,458).

During the Year, the staff costs including directors’ remuneration which
amounted to approximately RMB148,985,000 (2022: approximately
RMB151,268,000). The Group raised the salaries and improved fringe
benefits for its employees to maintain competitiveness and broaden appeal
of the Group. The employees’ incentives were reviewed and determined
annually pursuant to the remuneration and bonus policies of the Group
based on the performance of the employees. The Group also provided
various other benefits to its employees.

Compared with 31 December 2022, there was no significant movement in
the number of employees of the Group at the end of the Year.

The Group monitored closely the remuneration and fringe benefits of the
employees and rewarded employees in accordance with the Group’s business
performance. In addition, training and development opportunities for the
employees were also provided by the Group.

DIVIDEND

The Board did not recommend the payment of any dividend for the Year
(2022: Nil).
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Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management Profile
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Executive Directors

Mr. Zhang Feng (5#%), aged 51, has been appointed as the chairman of the
Board and compliance officer of the Company since June 2011, and was
appointed as the authorized representative of the Company on 8 February
2021. He obtained an MBA degree from University of Technology, Sydney.
Mr. Zhang studied in Goteborg University, Sweden. He was a member of
the 13th National Committee of Chinese People’s Political Conference, a
committee member of the 10th and 11th and a standing committee member
of the 12th Jilin Municipal Provincial Committee of the Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference, a standing committee member of the 14th
Jilin Provincial People’s Congres, the deputy chairman of the 10th, 11th and
12th sessions of Jilin Youth Federation (F#%& & Fi& ), the president of
the 8th session of and the honorary president of the 9th session of council
of Jilin Province Youth Entrepreneurs Association (E#M& B FELERHE)
and the part-time deputy chairman of the 11th Jilin Federation of Industry
and Commerce (F#%E Tigt). Mr. Zhang was the general manager of
Shenzhen Neptunus Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (“Neptunus Pharmaceutical”)
and Shenzhen Neptunus Tongai Pharmaceutical Manufacturing Company Ltd.
and the deputy general manager and chief branding and marketing officer
of Shenzhen Neptunus Bio-engineering Company Limited (“Neptunus Bio-
engineering”). He is currently the deputy chairman and non-independent
director of the 9th session of the board of directors and president of Neptunus
Bio-engineering, the director of Shenzhen Neptunus Group Company
Limited (“Neptunus Group”), Shenzhen Quanyaowang Technology Company
Limited (“Quanyaowang”) and Ascendent BioTechnology Company Limited,
the chairman of the board of directors of Shenzhen Neptunus Changjian
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (“Neptunus Changjian”), the chairman of the board
of directors and the legal representative of Neptunus Pharmaceutical, the
director of Neptunus Fuyao and Neptunus Jinxiang and the chairman of the
board of directors and director of several other companies.
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Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management Profile

Mr. Huang Jian Bo (&)%), aged 47, has been appointed as an executive
director of the Board, joint company secretary and authorized representative
of the Company since June 2020, vice general manager of the Company
since 24 April 2020 and the Board secretary and the financial controller
of the Company since 13 May 2020. Mr. Huang graduated from Hunan
University with a bachelor’s degree in economics and majoring in finance
and is a member of the Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
He has extensive experience in listing operations, financial management
and investment management. Mr Huang has worked in the Company
during the period from February 2003 to April 2016, and served as the chief
financial officer, joint company secretary, Board secretary and authorised
representative of the Company. He was the chief financial officer of each of
Anhui Jiuhua Huayuan Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (Z BN FEFEREE R A F)
and Shenzhen Ainengsen Technology Co., Ltd. (RIIE EEFREIHEL AR A R)).
Mr. Huang is currently a director of Neptunus Changjian and the chairman of
supervisory committee of Neptunus Zhongxin.

Mr. Zhang Xiao Guang (3R %), aged 58, has been appointed as a executive
director of the Company since 25 June 2023. Mr. Zhang graduated from
China FAW Group Workers College (1 BI55 — /98 £ @ 8% T K 2), majoring
in mechanical and electrical automation. Mr. Zhang has been working in the
pharmaceutical industry for over 20 years and officially joined the Neptunus
Group in 2009. Mr. Zhang has extensive experience in sales management
and has won multiple awards in the industry, including the Outstanding
Management Team Award and Excellent Manager Award of the OTC Sales
Department of Neptunus Changjian. He previously served as the sales
manager, the provincial manager of Shanxi and Jilin provinces, the sales
director of the north China region, and the deputy national sales supervisor
and deputy national sales general manager of Neptunus Changjian. Currently
he is the legal representative, director and general manager of Neptunus
Changjian and a director of Neptunus Zhongxin, Neptunus Fuyao and
Neptunus Jinxiang and several other companies.
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Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management Profile

2% EIRSHERERE

Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Zhang Yi Fei (5R#7K), aged 51, has been appointed as a non-executive
director of the Company since 1 March 2021. Mr. Zhang obtained his
bachelor’s degree in Technical Economics in 1996 and a master’s degree
in Management Science and Engineering in 2015 from the School of
Management, Harbin Institute of Technology. He previously served various
roles, including secretary of the president office of Neptunus Group, regional
sales manager of Heilongjiang province, manager of the northeast region,
nation-wide commercial director, assistant general manager and operations
director of Neptunus Bio-engineering. He had also acted as the general
manager of Zhejiang Huafang Life Technology Co., Ltd. (#/T# 5 A mEHT
APBRAF]) and a director of Neptunus Pharmaceutical, Shenzhen Neptunus
Jiankang Technology Development Co., Ltd (“Neptunus Technology”) and
Shenzhen Neptunus Yinhe Pharmaceutical Investment Co., Ltd (“Neptunus
Yinhe”). Mr. Zhang is currently the executive vice president and non-
independent director of Neptunus Bio-engineering, the legal representative,
chairman of the board of directors and general manager of Jilin Neptunus
Yinhe Pharmaceutical Investment Co., Ltd., the chairman of the board of
directors of Neptunus Fuyao and Neptunus Zhongxin, and a director of several
other companies.

Ms. Yu Lin (F3#f), aged 66, has been appointed as a non-executive
director of the Company since February 2005. Ms. Yu graduated from Sun
Yat-sen University of the PRC, and has more than 30 years of experience in
biochemical and pharmaceutical industries in the PRC. Ms. Yu was a director
of Shenzhen Neptunus Pharmaceutical Technology Research Company Limited
(“Neptunus Research”) and Neptunus Pharmaceutical, and was responsible
for the research and development of new products.
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Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management Profile

Mr. Shen Da Kai (£ A3l), aged 58, has been appointed as a non-executive
director of the Company since 25 June 2020. Mr Shen is an accountant
and has an executive master of business administration degree. Mr. Shen
obtained the qualification of secretary of the board of directors of Shenzhen
Stock Exchange in 2008. He was a material accountant and cost accountant
of Guangdong Instrument Co., Ltd. (ER &AM A 7)), the manager of
the financial department of Shenzhen Miji Electronics Co., Ltd. (RYIIGHE
BEFAHRAF]), general ledger accountant and financial supervisor of the
financial management department, and leader of the finance team of the
SAPR3 project of Shenzhen SEG Samsung Glass Co., Ltd (RYIBE=E
&1 B R A 7)), senior manager of the financial department and securities
affairs representative, deputy director of the financial centre of Neptunus
Bio-engineering, and the executive deputy general manager, director and
vice president of Neptunus Technology. He is currently the non-independent
director, vice-president and chief financial officer of Neptunus Bio-engineering,
and concurrently the chairman of the board of directors, legal representative
and general manager of Neptunus Yinhe and a director of several other
companies. Mr. Shen retired as the non-executive director of the Company on
24 June 2023.

Mr. Jin Rui (&%), aged 39, has been appointed as a non-executive director of
the Company since 13 May 2022. Mr. Jin obtained a bachelor’s degree from
Nanjing University in 2007 and a master’s degree from Zhejiang University
in 2013. Mr. Jin previously served various roles in the management level in
a number of companies, including the assistant president of Holley Group
Co., Ltd., the vice president of Holley Pharmaceutical Group Co., Ltd, and
a director of Zhejiang Wazam New Materials Co., Ltd. and Anhui Neptunus
Pharmaceutical Group Co., Ltd. He is currently the vice president and non-
independent director of Neptunus Bio-engineering and a director of Neptunus
Fuyao, Neptunus Jinxiang, Neptunus Zhongxin and several other companies.
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2% EIRSHERERE

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Yick Wing Fat, Simon (57K %), aged 66, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive director of the Company since August 2005.
Mr. Yick holds a bachelor’s degree in business administration, majoring in
accounting, from the Chinese University of Hong Kong. He is a fellow member
of both the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants in England. Mr. Yick has more
than 30 years of experience in auditing, direct investment, investment banking
and corporate advisory services. From August 2015 to August 2020, Mr. Yick
was an independent non-executive director, the convener of the nomination
committee and a member of the strategy committee of Chengdu Xingrong
Environment Co., Ltd. (the shares of which are listed on the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange), and Mr. Yick was an independent non-executive director, the
chairman of the remuneration and nomination committee and a member of
the audit and compliance committee of Nexteer Automotive Group Limited
(the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange)
from August 2017 to June 2022. In addition, Mr. Yick is an independent non-
executive director, a member of the nomination and remuneration committee
and the chairman of the audit committee of Shanghai International Shanghai
Growth Investment Limited and China Shuifa Singyes Energy Holdings Limited
(formerly known as “China Singyes Solar Technologies Holdings Limited”)
(the shares of these two companies are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange) and an independent non-executive director, a member of
the nomination committee and the chairman of the audit and remuneration
committee of Meta Media Holdings Limited (formerly known as “Modern
Media Holdings Limited”) (the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange).
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Mr. Poon Ka Yeung (&3z%), aged 57, has been appointed as an independent
non-executive director of the Company since August 2005. Mr. Poon obtained
his bachelor’s degree in mathematics with minor in economics and marketing
from the Chinese University of Hong Kong in 1989 and was further admitted
to the MBA degree by the University of Hull, United Kingdom, in 1996. Mr.
Poon has been appointed as an Honorary Institute Fellow of the Asia-Pacific
Institute of Business of the Chinese University of Hong Kong since April 2002.
He has been teaching marketing-related subjects for the master’s degree in
science program, MBA program and Executive EMBA program of the Chinese
University of Hong Kong. Since June 2008, he has been appointed as visiting
Adjunct Associate Professor in the Department of Marketing of the Chinese
University of Hong Kong. In addition, Mr. Poon has been appointed as an
independent non-executive director and a member of audit, remuneration
and nomination committees of Great Eagle Holdings Limited (the shares of
which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange) since March 2016.
On 22 December 2021, Mr. Poon was re-designated as an executive director
of Great Eagle Holdings Limited, presiding over innovative technology and
investment.

Mr. Zhang Jian Zhou (E#/5}), aged 54, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive director of the Company since January 2016. Mr.
Zhang graduated from China Youth University of Political Studies with a B.A.
degree in 1990, from Beijing Foreign Studies University with a LL.B degree in
1992, and from Boston University with a LL.M degree in 2002. He had been
an assistant professor of International Trade Law at Guangdong University of
Technology from 1992 to 1993. Mr. Zhang has been in private practice since
1993 when he was qualified to practice law in the PRC. He is now a partner
of Beijing Anjie Broad (Shenzhen) Law Firm.
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Supervisors

Mr. Xiong Chu Xiong (B&##8), aged 68, has been appointed as a supervisor
of the Company since June 2008. Mr. Xiong obtained a doctorate degree in
accountancy from Xiamen University in 1992. Mr. Xiong was an accounting
professor of Shenzhen University and he is now retired. Mr. Xiong was an
independent director of Neptunus Bio-engineering, China National Accord
Medicines Corporation Ltd. (Bl %5 B — X R{H B R A7), Shenzhen
Wongtee International Enterprise Co., Ltd. (RIITH EEBBFEERMDER A
&), Shahe Industrial Co., Ltd. (/A E 5 AR A ) and Shenzhen Laibao
Hi-Tech Co., Ltd. (FIIIZRE S EIAKD EBR A7), the shares of which are listed
on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange. Mr. Xiong is currently an independent
non-executive director of UBTECH Robotics Corp Ltd (the shares of which are
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange).

Mr. Jin Ge (£X), aged 55, has been appointed as supervisor of the
Company since 25 June 2020. Mr. Jin graduated from Macau University of
Science and Technology with a master of business administration degree.
He has been engaged in the pharmaceutical and related industries for 25
years, specialising in finance, auditing and financial work. He is familiar with
the pharmaceutical market in mainland China, and has extensive experience
in financial management and auditing in the pharmaceutical industry. Since
2009, he has been an external tutor at the School of Business of Sun Yat-
sen University, serving as a thesis instructor for the degrees of master of
business administration, master of professional accounting, etc.. He joined
Neptunus Group in 1994, and served as accountant, finance supervisor
and deputy finance manager of Neptunus Pharmaceutical, finance director
of marketing centre of Neptunus Bio-engineering, and finance director of
Neptunus Technology. He was a director and vice president of Shenzhen
Kind Care Group Co., Ltd. CRIIT —E=EE BRAF]), being in charge
of group finance, auditing and investment and financing work, the vice
chairman of Shenzhen Xingye Financing Guarantee Co., Ltd. (&I E £zt
BIERABMR/AT]), the director and vice president of Shenzhen Qianhai Kind
Care Holdings Co., Ltd. (&I ANE —=IER AR A F]), and the assistant to
chairman of Neptunus Group. He is currently the vice-president of Neptunus
Bio-engineering and a supervisor of Neptunus Fuyao, Neptunus Jinxiang and
several other companies.
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Ms. Cao Yang (EF%), aged 33, has been appointed as an employee
representative supervisor of the Company since 18 May 2018. Ms. Cao
graduated in business administration from Shenzhen University, and
possesses Cambridge Diploma in Business Administration. She joined the
Group in July 2013 and previously served as specialist, supervisor, deputy
manager and manager of the human resource department of Neptunus
Changijian. Ms. Cao has rich experience in enterprise human resources
planning, organization structure optimization, compensation system
construction, performance appraisal management, talent assessment,
recruitment, training, and labor cost control. She is currently the human
resources director of the Company and a supervisor of Neptunus Changjian,
Neptunus Fuyao, Neptunus Zhongxin and Neptunus Jinxiang.

Senior Management

Ms. Fung Wai Sum (F5Z%R), aged 41, has been appointed as a joint
company secretary of the Company since 1 June 2020. Ms. Fung is a senior
manager of corporate services of Tricor Services Limited, a global professional
services provider specializing in integrated Business, Corporate and Investor
Services. Ms. Fung has over 15 years of experience in the corporate secretarial
field. She has been providing professional corporate services to Hong Kong
listed companies as well as multinational, private and offshore companies. Ms.
Fung is a Chartered Secretary, a Chartered Governance Professional and an
Associate of both The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute (formerly
known as “The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries”) and The
Chartered Governance Institute in the United Kingdom.
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Report of the Directors

EESHRE

The Board is pleased to present the report of the Directors and the
consolidated financial statements of the Group during the Year.

Principal Activities

During the Year, the Group is principally engaged in the research and
development, production and sales of medicines and medical devices, and
the purchase and sales of medicines, healthcare food products and medical
devices.

Business Review

Details of business review during the Year are set out on pages 6 to 10 of
this annual report.

Summary of Financial Information

A summary of the published consolidated results and assets and liabilities of
the Group for the last two financial years ended 31 December 2023, and the
published consolidated results and assets and liabilities of the Group for the
Year is set out on pages 75 to 192.

Dividends

The Directors do not recommend the distribution of any dividends for the
Year (2022: Nil).

Property, Plant and Equipment

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group
and the Company during the Year are set out in note 14 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Share Capital

There has been no movement for the Company’s share capital during the
Year, details of which are set out in note 27 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Reserves

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and Company during
the Year are set out in page 80 and note 34 to the consolidated financial
statements respectively.

Distributable Reserves
As at 31 December 2023, the Company had no distributable reserves.
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Capitalized Interest

The Group has no capitalized interest during the Year.

Pre-emptive Rights

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles
of association or the laws of the PRC which would oblige the Company to
offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.

Purchase, Sale Or Redemption of the Listed Shares
of the Company

The Company and its subsidiaries did not purchase, sell or redeem any of the
Company’s listed shares during the Year. The Company and its subsidiaries
did not redeem, purchase or cancel any of their redeemable securities either.

Major Customers and Suppliers

In the Year, sales to the Group’s five largest customers accounted for
approximately 17.71% of the total sales for the Year which is less than
30%, and sales to the largest customer included therein accounted for
approximately 8.49% of the total sales for the Year. Purchases from the
Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 35.99% of the
total purchases for the Year and purchases from the largest supplier included
therein accounted for approximately 13.97% of the total purchases for the
Year.

Save as disclosed in this report, none of the Directors, the supervisors of
the Company or any of their associates or any shareholders (who, to the
best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s
issued share capital) had any beneficial interest in the Company’s five largest
customers and suppliers.

Directors and Supervisors

The Directors and supervisors of the Company during the Year and up to the
date of this report, and their terms of employment were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhang Feng 3 years from his re-appointment on 25 June

2023

Mr. Huang Jian Bo 3 years from his re-appointment on 25 June
2023

Mr. Zhang Xiao Guang 3 years from his appointment on 25 June
2023
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Non-executive Directors
Mr. Zhang Yi Fei 3 years from his re-appointment on 18 June
2023

3 years from her re-appointment on 25 June
2023

3 years from his appointment on 25 June
2020; retired on 24 June 2023

3 years from his re-appointment on 25 June
2023

Ms. Yu Lin
Mr. Shen Da Kai

Mr. Jin Rui

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Yick Wing Fat, Simon 3 years from his re-appointment on 25 June

2023

Mr. Poon Ka Yeung 3 years from his re-appointment on 25 June
2023

Mr. Zhang Jian Zhou 3 years from his re-appointment on 25 June
2023

Supervisors

Mr. Xiong Chu Xiong 3 years from his re-appointment on 25 June

2023

Mr. Jin Ge 3 years from his re-appointment on 25 June
2023

Ms. Cao Yang 3 years from her re-appointment on 25 June
2023

The Company confirms that as at the date of this report, it has received
annual confirmations of independence from Mr. Yick Wing Fat, Simon,
Mr. Poon Ka Yeung and Mr. Zhang Jian Zhou. The Company still considers
the three independent non-executive Directors during the Year to be
independent pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Service Contracts of Directors and Supervisors

Each of the Directors and supervisors of the Company has entered into a
service contract with the Company with a term up to 24 June 2026 and is
subject to termination by either party giving not less than three months’ prior
written notice to the other.

None of the Directors or supervisors of the Company has entered into
any service contract with the Company which is not determinable by the
Company within one year without payment of compensation other than
statutory compensation.
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Directors’ and Supervisors’ Remuneration

Directors’ remuneration is subject to shareholders’ approval at general
meetings. Other emoluments are determined by the Remuneration
Committee with reference to Directors’ duties, responsibilities and
performance and the results of the Company. Details of the remuneration of
the Directors are set out in note 10 to the consolidated financial statements.

According to the service contracts entered into between the Company and its
supervisors, (i) the Company shall pay Mr. Xiong Chu Xiong the remuneration
of RMB30,000 per annum for his service as a supervisor; (ii) the Company
shall pay Mr. Jin Ge the remuneration of RMB30,000 per annum for his
service as a supervisor; and (iii) Ms. Cao Yang, the employee representative
supervisor, is entitled to a supervisor’s allowance of RMB20,000 per annum
for her service as a supervisor.

Five Highest Paid Employees

The five highest paid employees and their remuneration are set out in note
11 to the consolidated financial statements.

Directors’ and Supervisors’ Interests in Contracts

Save for the service contracts of the Directors and supervisors of the
Company as disclosed above, there were no transactions, arrangements or
contracts of significance to which the Company or its controlling shareholder
was a party and in which a Director or supervisor of the Company had a
material interest, either directly or indirectly, subsisting at the end of the Year
or at any time during the Year.

Controlling Shareholders’ Interests in Contract

Save as disclosed in this report, at no time during the Year had the Company
or any of its subsidiaries, and the controlling shareholders or any of its
subsidiaries entered into any contract of significance or any contract of
significance for the provision of services to the Company or any of its
subsidiaries by the controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries.

Share Option Scheme, Convertible Securities and
Warrants

Up to 31 December 2023, the Company and its subsidiaries have not
adopted any share option scheme and have not granted any option,
convertible securities, warrants or other similar rights.
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Permitted Indemnity Provision

At no time during the Year and up to the date of this report, there was or is,
any permitted indemnity provision being in force for the benefit of any of the
Directors of the Company or an associate company.

During the Year, a Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management Liability
Insurance is in place to provide appropriate cover for the Directors,
supervisors and senior management of the Group. However, such insurance
coverage shall not extend to any matter in respect of any fraud or dishonesty
which may attach to such director, supervisor and senior management.

Interests and Short Positions of Directors, Supervisors
and Chief Executives in the Listed Securities

As far as the Directors or supervisors of the Company are aware, as at 31
December 2023, the interests and short position of the Directors, supervisors
and chief executives of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO")), which
were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which
they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or
were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be and were recorded
in the register to be kept by the Company, or were required, pursuant to Rule
5.46 to Rule 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange were as follows:

Long positions in shares of associated corporations of the Company:
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Director/Supervisor Capacity interests Pzl BEEEEE ERITRAEZ

BEx EE g4 ERER EEEE ZRGOEE BABEDT

Mr. Zhang Feng (Note (a)) Beneficial owner Personal Neptunus 1,331,093 0.05%
SRSE A (Hata@) EnfEAA fEA  Bio-engineering
BEED

Ms. Yu Lin (Note (b)) Beneficial owner Personal Neptunus 900,000 0.03%
TFHh 2zt (Hfazb)) EnfEAA f@ A  Bio-engineering
BEEY

Mr. Zhang Xiao Guang (Note (c)) Beneficial owner Personal Neptunus 430,000 0.02%
SREE S S & (HT72 () BEREAA f8A  Bio-engineering
BEEY

Ms. Cao Yang (Note (d)) Beneficial owner Personal Neptunus 200,000 0.01%
EG 22+ (B/aEd) BB A fEA  Bio-engineering
BEED
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Interests and Short Positions of Directors, Supervisors

and Chief Executives in the Listed Securities (Continued)
Notes:

(a)

(b)

(d)

Mr. Zhang Feng, chairman of the Board of the Company and deputy chairman
and non-independent director of the 9th session of the board of directors
and president of Neptunus Bio-engineering, was beneficially interested in
approximately 0.05% of the entire issued share capital of Neptunus Bio-
engineering, the Company’s controlling shareholder, which in turn held directly
and indirectly the beneficial interest in approximately 73.51% of the entire issued
share capital of the Company, of which 70.38% was directly held and 3.13%
was indirectly held through Shenzhen Neptunus Oriental Investment Company
Limited (“Neptunus Oriental”).

Ms. Yu Lin, non-executive Director of the Company, was beneficially interested
in approximately 0.03% of the entire issued share capital of Neptunus Bio-
engineering, the Company’s controlling shareholder, which in turn held directly
and indirectly the beneficial interest in approximately 73.51% of the entire issued
share capital of the Company, of which 70.38% was directly held and 3.13%
was indirectly held through Neptunus Oriental.

Mr. Zhang Xiao Guang, executive director of the Company, was beneficially
interested in approximately 0.02% of the entire issued share capital of Neptunus
Bio-engineering, the Company’s controlling shareholder, which in turn held
directly and indirectly the beneficial interest in approximately 73.51% of the
entire issued share capital of the Company, of which 70.38% was directly held
and 3.13% was indirectly held through Neptunus Oriental.

Ms. Cao Yang, employee representative supervisor and human resources director
of the Company, was beneficially interested in approximately 0.01% of the entire
issued share capital of Neptunus Bio-engineering, the Company’s controlling
shareholder, which in turn held directly and indirectly the beneficial interest in
approximately 73.51% of the entire issued capital of the Company, of which
70.38% was directly held and 3.13% was indirectly held through Neptunus
Oriental.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, none of the Directors,
supervisors or chief executives of the Company nor their respective associates
held any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Part XV of the SFO, or were
required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be and were recorded in the
register to be kept by the Company, or were required, pursuant to Rule 5.46
to Rule 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules, to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange.
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Report of the Directors
FERHE

Substantial Shareholders’ Interests in Shares and
Underlying Shares

So far as the Directors and supervisors of the Company are aware, as at 31
December 2023, the interests and/or short positions held by shareholders (not
being a Director, a supervisor or a chief executive of the Company) in shares
or underlying shares of the Company which were recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO or
had otherwise notified to the Company were as follows:

Long positions in the shares of the Company:

FERRNRD KRR HER

BARREEREEMM R _=F+_A
=+—H BEAERARAES  EEHHZEIT
A B)IBIEFFH KA E 5HI53361&Em AR T
15 2 & MAr et 8RR AN A B AR 15 =48 B A 1D sk
AE A0 77 A A D B A E MRS &,/ S0k 2 an
T

RARBRD 2 7R

Approximate

Approximate percentage of

Number of domestic percentage of all the Company’s
shares held the domestic shares issued share capital
Substantial Shareholder Capacity BERER ERERERY  EAARERITREAN
FERE 54 ROEE BHABESH BABE
Neptunus Bio-engineering (Note (a)) Beneficial owner 1,181,000,000 94.33% 70.38%
BEEN Wizt a) EHEBA
Interest in controlled 52,464,500 4.19% 3.13%
corporation
R EE R
Neptunus Group (Note (b)) Interest in controlled 1,233,464,500 98.52% 73.51%
corporation
BERE WD) R EE R
Shenzhen Neptunus Holding Group Interest in controlled 1,233,464,500 98.52% 73.51%
Company Limited (“Neptunus Holding") corporation
(Previously known as “Shenzhen Yinhetong REtEE RS
Investment Company Limited") (Note (c))
A B EEREBERAR (TR
FIREDRImRTREEERAR]) (#izc)
Mr. Zhang Si Min (Note (a) Interest in controlled 1,233,464,500 98.52% 73.51%

REBRLE W)

corporation
R EE R
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Substantial Shareholders’ Interests in Shares and
Underlying Shares (Continued)

Notes:

(@) Neptunus Bio-engineering was deemed to be interested in the 52,464,500
domestic shares of the Company held by Neptunus Oriental as the entire issued
share capital of Neptunus Oriental was beneficially owned by Neptunus Bio-
engineering, and Neptunus Oriental was interested in the 52,464,500 domestic
shares of the Company. Neptunus Bio-engineering was also directly interested
in 1,181,000,000 domestic shares of the Company. Therefore, Neptunus Bio-
engineering was directly and indirectly interested in 1,233,464,500 domestic
shares of the Company.

(b)  Neptunus Group was deemed to be interested in the 1,233,464,500 domestic
shares of the Company, which relate to the same parcel of shares referred to
in note (a) above, held by Neptunus Bio-engineering as Neptunus Group was
beneficially interested in approximately 44.22% of the entire issued share capital
of Neptunus Bio-engineering.

() Neptunus Holding was deemed to be interested in 1,233,464,500 domestic
shares of the Company, which relate to the same parcel of shares referred to
in note (a) above, held by Neptunus Bio-engineering as Neptunus Holding was
beneficially interested in approximately 59.68% of the entire issued share capital
of Neptunus Group, which in turn was beneficially interested in approximately
44.22% of the entire issued share capital of Neptunus Bio-engineering.

(d)  Mr. Zhang Si Min (“Mr. Zhang") was deemed to be interested in 1,233,464,500
domestic shares of the Company, which relate to the same parcel of shares
referred to in note (a) above, held by Neptunus Bio-engineering as Mr. Zhang
was beneficially interested in 70% of the entire issued share capital of Neptunus
Holding and the entire issued share capital of Shenzhen Haihe Investment
and Development Company Limited (“Haihe”), which in turn was beneficially
interested in approximately 59.68% and 20% of the entire issued share capital
of Neptunus Group respectively. Neptunus Group was beneficially interested
in approximately 44.22% of the entire issued share capital of Neptunus Bio-
engineering.

Save as disclosed above, the Directors and supervisors of the Company are
not aware of any other persons (except the Directors, supervisors or chief
executives of the Company) who held any interests or short positions in
the shares or underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO as at 31
December 2023.
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Report of the Directors

Connected Transactions and Continuing Connected
Transactions

Connected Transactions and Continuing Connected Transactions
Exempt from Independent Shareholders’ Approval Requirements

The continuing connected transactions of the Group exempt from
independent shareholders’ approval requirements during the Year are set out
below:

Neptunus Yidianyao Distribution Agreement

On 28 December 2023, the Company and Neptunus Yidianyao (being
indirectly held as to 57.82% by Mr. Zhang Si Min, the brother of one of
Mr. Zhang Feng. Neptunus Yidianyao is an associate of Mr. Zhang Feng
and thus a connected person of the Company) entered into the distribution
agreement (the “Neptunus Yidianyao Distribution Agreement”), pursuant
to which the Group will provide pharmaceutical products, food, healthcare
food products and medical devices to Neptunus Yidianyao and its subsidiaries
(the “Neptunus Yidianyao Group”) for it to distribute within the PRC for
the period from 1 January 2024 to 31 December 2026 (both days inclusive).
The annual caps of such transactions for the year of 2024, 2025 and 2026
would not exceed RMB10,000,000, RMB10,000,000 and RMB 10,000,000
respectively. Upon the commencement of the term of the Neptunus
Yidianyao Distribution Agreement, the Nepstar Distribution Agreement shall
be terminated with immediate effect. For details of the transaction, please
refer to the announcement of the Company dated 28 December 2023.

As the effective date of the above agreement is 1 January 2024, therefore,
the Company has not commenced any transaction under the above
agreement during the Year.
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Connected Transactions and Continuing Connected
Transactions (Continued)

Connected Transactions and Continuing Connected Transactions
Exempt from Independent Shareholders’ Approval Requirements
(Continued)

Quanyaowang Distribution Agreement

On 16 September 2020, Neptunus Changjian and Quanyaowang (being
indirectly held as to 100% by Mr. Zhang Si Min, the brother of Mr. Zhang
Feng. Quanyaowang is an associate of Mr. Zhang Feng and thus a connected
person of the Company) entered into the Quanyaowang Distribution
Agreement (the “Quanyaowang Distribution Agreement”), pursuant to which
Neptunus Changjian has agreed to purchase various pharmaceutical products
from Quanyaowang for distribution in the PRC for the period from 1 January
2021 to 31 December 2023 (both days inclusive), for distribution in China.
The annual caps of such transactions under the Quanyaowang Distribution
Agreement for the year of 2021, the year of 2022 and the year of 2023,
would not exceed RMB25,000,000, RMB26,250,000 and RMB27,500,000,
respectively. For details of the transaction, please refer to the announcement
of the Company dated 16 September 2020.

During the Year, Neptunus Changjian has purchased various pharmaceutical
products of approximately RMBNil from Quanyaowang, which did not exceed
the annual cap of the above agreement.

Neptunus Research Distribution Agreement

On 22 July 2022, Neptunus Changjian entered into the Neptunus Research
Distribution Agreement (the “Neptunus Research Distribution Agreement”)
with Neptunus Research (being an 100%-owned subsidiary of Neptunus
Bio-engineering and therefore an associate of Neptunus Bio-engineering.
Neptunus Bio-engineering is the controlling shareholder of the Company,
being directly and indirectly interested in approximately 73.51% of the
entire share capital of the Company and therefore Neptunus Research is a
connected person of the Company), pursuant to which Neptunus Changjian
will purchase various pharmaceutical products from Neptunus Research for
distribution in the PRC for the period from 22 July 2022 to 31 December
2024 (both days inclusive), and the annual caps for the years 2022, 2023
and 2024 are RMB10,000,000, RMB11,000,000 and RMB12,100,000,
respectively. For details of the transaction, please refer to the announcement
of the Company dated 22 July 2022.

During the Year, Neptune Changjian has purchased various pharmaceutical
products of approximately RMB104,000 from Neptunus Research, which did
not exceed the annual cap set out in the above agreement.
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Report of the Directors
FERHE

Connected Transactions and Continuing Connected
Transactions (Continued)

Connected Transactions and Continuing Connected Transactions
Exempt from Independent Shareholders’ Approval Requirements
(Continued)

The connected transactions of the Group exempt from independent
shareholders’ approval requirements during the Year are set out below:

Development Agreement

On 12 September 2019, Neptunus Fuyao and Neptunus Research (being
an 100%-owned subsidiary of Neptunus Bio-engineering and therefore
an associate of Neptunus Bio-engineering. Neptunus Bio-engineering is
the controlling shareholder of the Company, being directly and indirectly
interested in approximately 73.51% of the entire share capital of the
Company and therefore Neptunus Research is a connected person of the
Company) entered into a development agreement in relation to the medical
research and development project of vitamin C injection product (the
“Development Agreement”), pursuant to which both parties have agreed
to participate in the project, and the total consideration of the project is
RMB4,400,000 and shall be paid by Neptunus Fuyao to Neptunus Research
by 6 instalments. For details of the Development Agreement, please refer to
the announcement of the Company dated 12 September 2019.

During the Year, Neptunus Fuyao has paid consideration of approximately
RMBNIil to Neptunus Research, which did not exceed the consideration of the
above agreement.

Having considered the above, the Directors (including non-executive Directors
and independent non-executive Directors) are of the opinion that the
Neptunus Yidianyao Distribution Agreement, the Quanyaowang Distribution
Agreement, Neptunus Research Distribution Agreement and the Development
Agreement (1) were entered into in the ordinary and usual course of business
of the Group; (2) are on normal commercial terms and on terms that are fair
and reasonable and in the interests of the Company and its shareholders as a
whole.

The auditor of the Company has issued a letter to the Board confirming that
the above connected transactions:

(i)  have received the approval of the Board;
(i) were, in all material respects, in accordance with the pricing policies of
the Group if the transactions involve the provision of goods or services

by the Group;

(iii)  have been entered into in accordance with the relevant agreements
governing the transactions; and

(iv) did not exceed the respective annual caps.

ERRBYRRMERTNAERZ RIFHEBE

X5 (&)

REBNAFE AR R IB BRI ER T
EXHEIT

FIZ 5%

RZE—AENA+=H  BEEEEFTHRE
bt (BB EEMER100%ESRNMBAT - Fitt
BETEYHBBEA - BELYAKRATIER
R - EENEEEEARRARZIHRALT3.51%
Mg, At S TR BAR R HBEEAL)F]
VT HEBBEERCEISTEERNEBIR KA
HE z M ((FRERE]D) - Bt 5108
EELEZEBEE  BZBEZEREAARE
4,400,0007T * B ERESHIY N F/ETH
bt - BEAE MR ZFIER2HARRBHA
—E-AFNAAt+tZBZAE-

RAEE  BEIREMNSIAREIARELA
REZT - WARBH BRp#E T 2 R(E -

RER XL - EF(BIEFFNITES B
HITER) AR BIZHERERS  2EEK
Mk - B IR IR R AR BHE0) IR
AEEBEER—BEBBRBETL - QTIR—K
BEGRET - BXSIERAFARE  FEAR
AR E R RA R 2R

ARRIZBEMEREFSE L KT - HER LR
BERG

() CESESZSHE:

(i) HRZFEAAEEREERIRE - AR
FIAEAT MEE T RNEBEHEERE

(i) ERBEREIZOBEHRI L &

(iv) YWEBBEAFELR -

34 SHENZHEN NEPTUNUS INTERLONG BIO-TECHNIQUE COMPANY LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023



Connected Transactions and Continuing Connected
Transactions (Continued)

Continuing Connected Transaction Not Exempt from Independent
Shareholders’ Approval Requirements

The continuing connected transactions of the Group not exempt from
independent shareholders’ approval requirements within the Year are set out
below:

2021 Healthcare Food and Food Purchase Framework Agreement

On 6 December 2021, the Company and Neptunus Group (being the
controlling shareholder of Neptunus Bio-engineering, and Neptunus Bio-
engineering is the controlling shareholder of the Company, which directly
and indirectly holds approximately 73.51% of the entire share capital of
the Company. Therefore, Neptunus Group is a connected person of the
Company) entered into the Healthcare Food and Food Purchase Framework
Agreement (“2021 Healthcare Food and Food Purchase Framework
Agreement”), to revise the proposed annual caps for the years ending 31
December 2022 and 2023 of the transactions under the healthcare food and
food purchase framework agreement entered into on 16 September 2020
(*2020 Healthcare Food and Food Purchase Framework Agreement”) and
apply for the proposed annual cap for the year ending 31 December 2024,
pursuant to which the Group will continue to purchase certain food and
healthcare food products from Neptunus Group for distribution in the PRC
for the period from the effect date of the 2021 Healthcare Food and Food
Purchase Framework Agreement to 31 December 2024 (both days inclusive).
The proposed annual caps of such transactions under the 2021 Healthcare
Food and Food Purchase Framework Agreement for the year of 2022, the
year of 2023 and the year of 2024 would not exceed RMB35,000,000,
RMB42,000,000 and RMB50,000,000, respectively. The 2021 Healthcare
Food and Food Purchase Framework Agreement became effective upon
the approval by the independent shareholders of the Company at the
extraordinary general meeting held on 14 January 2022. Upon the
commencement of the term of the 2021 Healthcare Food and Food Purchase
Framework Agreement, the 2020 Healthcare Food and Food Purchase
Framework Agreement shall be terminated with immediate effect. For details
of the transaction, please refer to the announcements of the Company dated
6 December 2021 and 14 January 2022 and the circular of the Company
dated 30 December 2021.

During the Year, the Company has purchased food and healthcare food
products of proximately RMB35,647,000 from Neptunus Group, which did
not exceed the annual cap of the above agreement.
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Report of the Directors

BEETHRE

Connected Transactions and Continuing Connected

Transactions (Continued)

Continuing Connected Transaction Not Exempt from Independent
Shareholders’ Approval Requirements (Continued)

2021 Neptunus Pharmaceutical Distribution Agreement

On 6 December 2021, Neptunus Changjian entered into a distribution
agreement (the “2021 Neptunus Pharmaceutical Distribution Agreement”)
with Neptunus Pharmaceutical (being wholly-owned by Neptunus Group
which in turn is the controlling shareholder of Neptunus Bio-engineering.
Neptunus Bio-engineering is the controlling shareholder of the Company.
Therefore, Neptunus Pharmaceutical is an associate of Neptunus Bio-
engineering and thus a connected person of the Company.), pursuant to
which Neptunus Changjian will continue to purchase various pharmaceutical
products manufactured by Neptunus Pharmaceutical for distribution in
the PRC for the period from the effective date of the 2021 Neptunus
Pharmaceutical Distribution Agreement to 31 December 2024 (both days
inclusive). The annual caps of such transactions for the year of 2022, the
year of 2023 and the year of 2024 would not exceed RMB86,000,000,
RMB97,000,000 and RMB108,000,000, respectively. The 2021 Neptunus
Pharmaceutical Distribution Agreement became effective upon the approval
by the independent shareholders of the Company at the extraordinary
general meeting held on 14 January 2022. For details of the transactions,
please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 6 December 2021
and 14 January 2022 and the circular of the Company dated 30 December
2021.

During the Year, Neptunus Changjian has purchased pharmaceutical
products of approximately RMB71,655,000 from Neptunus Pharmaceutical,
which did not exceed the annual cap of the above agreement.

Nepstar Distribution Agreement

On 19 November 2020, the Company and Neptunus Yidianyao (previously
known as “Shenzhen Nepstar Pharmaceutical Company Limited”, “Nepstar”)
(being indirectly held as to 57.82% by Mr. Zhang Si Min, the brother of one
of Mr. Zhang Feng. Neptunus Yidianyao is an associate of Mr. Zhang Feng
and thus a connected person of the Company) renewed the distribution
agreement (the “Nepstar Distribution Agreement”), pursuant to which the
Group agreed to provide pharmaceutical products, food and healthcare
food products to Nepstar and its subsidiaries (the “Nepstar Group”) for it
to distribute within the PRC for the period from the effective date of the
Nepstar Distribution Agreement to 31 December 2023 (both days inclusive).
The annual caps of such transactions for the year of 2021, 2022 and 2023
would not exceed RMB52,000,000, RMB69,000,000 and RMB90,000,000
respectively. The Nepstar Distribution Agreement became effective upon
the approval by the independent shareholders of the Company at the
extraordinary general meeting held on 20 January 2021. For details of the
transactions, please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 19
November 2020 and 20 January 2021 and the circular of the Company dated
17 December 2020.
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Connected Transactions and Continuing Connected
Transactions (Continued)

Continuing Connected Transaction Not Exempt from Independent
Shareholders’ Approval Requirements (Continued)

Nepstar Distribution Agreement (Continued)

On 28 December 2023, the Company and Neptunus Yidianyao renewed the
distribution agreement (the “Neptunus Yidianyao Distribution Agreement”),
pursuant to which the Group will continue to provide pharmaceutical
products, food, healthcare food products and medical devices to Neptunus
Yidianyao Group for it to distribute within the PRC for the period from 1
January 2024 to 31 December 2026 (both days inclusive). For details, please
refer to paragraph headed “Continuing Connected Transaction Not Exempt
from Independent Shareholders’ Approval Requirements” above.

During the Year, the Group has provided pharmaceutical products, food
and healthcare food products of approximately RMB14,788,000 in total
to Nepstar Group, which has not exceeded the annual cap of the above
agreement.

New Neptunus Group Sales Framework Agreement

On 1 December 2022, the Company and the Neptunus Group (being the
controlling shareholder of Neptunus Bio-engineering, and Neptunus Bio-
engineering is the controlling shareholder of the Company, which directly
and indirectly holds approximately 73.51% of the entire share capital of
the Company. Therefore, Neptunus Group is a connected person of the
Company) renewed the Neptunus Group Sales Framework Agreement (the
“New Neptunus Group Sales Framework Agreement”), pursuant to which
the Company will continue to sell the above products to the Neptunus Group
from the date of approval of the Agreement by the independent shareholders
at the EGM to 31 December 2025 (both days inclusive) and the annual
caps for the year of 2023, the year of 2024 and the year of 2025 would
not exceed RMB110,000,000, RMB130,000,000 and RMB160,000,000
respectively. The New Neptunus Group Sales Framework Agreement became
effective upon approval by the independent shareholders of the Company at
the EGM on 31 January 2023. For details, please refer to the announcements
of the Company dated 1 December 2022 and 31 January 2023 and the
circular of the Company dated 11 January 2023.

During the Year, the Group has sold products of approximately
RMB41,598,000 to the Neptunus Group, which did not exceed the annual
cap of the above agreement.

RYIHBERBFEEYRMBRHOBRLIE

Report of the Directors

FERXSZ RIFERERS (8)

TEREE YRR ERENFEBER S (8)

VBT E IR #5% (18)
RZZT=_=F+=—A=+N\A ' ARARHEESH
BEE TETHHERERE Bt - A&
BR T -_mMF—A—RAE=_T=_"F+=A
=t+—H(BEEEWA) HMEE RS T 5 2%
SEHESZT  Ra - RERMEREESW - MU
HERPBETRIE - GRS - B2 LR
BAEREB I REAERENFERER S ]
LB o

RAFE  AEERSIEREEHEESESR R
A RERMENARKE14,788,0007T © 258
WARKBE iz FE LR -

BT NS %
R-B-——&F+—-A—H0 ARREFFEEE(S
ST AEYRIERRIRE - MBI AW ARRAR M
BEH  HEZREEFEARQA2IRAL
73.51% * ALETEE AR R RIMEEAL) &
R T BTEEEEEEGRE (e TEBIEEE
Bl - Bk BRBRRREERARE L&
BUREMEERRE_E-_AF+_A=1+—
B(BREEEMA)ARRBEERNSTEREES
riER WA-E-=£E  —ET-_NEE
FZEZRAFEIZRZ LRI BITHAEARK
110,000,000t + AFR#130,000,0007C &2 A R #E
160,000,0007T ° FE T E B HEER B EE R =
T =F— A=+ BZBRREFR RS LEEARQ
AIBM IR ERER - BREFIER2HAQF
AA-ZS-_—F+=-A—RAK=ZZE==F—H
=—t+—BZAERARRIBHA-_T_=4—F7
+—HZBH -

RAEE AEERESIEEREEERLOAR
#541,598,0007T * %AW AR itz &
BER -

2023F F3 37



Report of the Directors
EEEWE

Connected Transactions and Continuing Connected
Transactions (Continued)

Continuing Connected Transaction Not Exempt from Independent
Shareholders’ Approval Requirements (Continued)

Having considered the above, the Directors (including non-executive Directors
and independent non-executive Directors) are of the opinion that each of
the 2021 Healthcare Food and Food Purchase Framework Agreement, 2021
Neptunus Pharmaceutical Distribution Agreement, the Nepstar Distribution
Agreement and the New Neptunus Group Sales Framework Agreement (1)
was entered into in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group; (2)
was on normal commercial terms and on terms that are fair and reasonable
and in the interests of the Company and its shareholders as a whole.

The auditor of the Company has issued a letter to the Board confirming that
the above continuing connected transactions:

(i)  have received the approval of the Board;

(i) were, in all material respects, in accordance with the pricing policies of
the Group if the transactions involve the provision of goods or services
by the Group;

(iii)  have been entered into in accordance with the relevant agreements
governing the transactions; and

(iv)  did not exceed the respective annual caps.

In relation to the connected transactions and continuing connected
transactions (as defined in Chapter 20 of GEM Listing Rules) entered into
by the Company during the Year, the Company has complied with the
disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing
Rules.

Management Contracts

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or
existed during the Year.
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Competing Interests

On 21 August 2005, Neptunus Bio-engineering, the controlling shareholder
of the Company, entered into an agreement with the Company containing
undertakings relating to non-competition and preferential rights of
investments (the “Non-Competition Undertakings”), pursuant to which
Neptunus Bio-engineering had undertaken to the Company and its associates
(among others), that as long as the securities of the Company are listed on
GEM (previously known as the Growth Enterprise Market):

1. it will not, and will procure its associates not to, whether within or
outside the PRC, directly or indirectly (other than those indirectly held as
a result of the equity interest in any listed company or its subsidiaries),
participate in or operate any business in whatever form, or produce
any products (the usage of which is the same as or similar to that of
the products of the Company) which may constitute direct or indirect
competition to the business operated by the Company from time to
time; and

2. it will not, and will procure its associates not to, hold any interest,
whether within or outside the PRC, in any company or organization
(directly or indirectly, other than those indirectly held as a result of
its equity interest in any listed company or its subsidiaries) when the
business of such company or entity will (or may) compete directly or
indirectly with the business of the Company.

Pursuant to the Non-Competition Undertakings, at a time when the
Non-Competition Undertakings are subsisting, whenever Neptunus Bio-
engineering or any its associates enters into any negotiations, within or
outside the PRC, in relation to any new investment projects which may
compete with the existing and future business of the Company, the Company
shall have preferential rights of investments in such new investment projects.

Neptunus Bio-engineering has confirmed with the Company that it has
complied with the Non-Competition Undertakings during the Year.
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Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and the
knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the Company’s total issued
share capital was held by the public as at the date of this report.

Staff Retirement Scheme

Details of the staff retirement scheme of the Company are set out in notes
2.19 and 8 to the consolidated financial statements.

Review by Audit Committee

The audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2023 have been reviewed by the Audit Committee. The
Audit Committee is of the opinion that the consolidated financial statements
of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 comply with applicable
reporting standards, GEM Listing Rules, and that adequate disclosures have
been made.

Auditor

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by Grant Thornton
Hong Kong Limited, who will retire at the conclusion of the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company and being eligible, offer themselves
for re-appointment. A resolution for the re-appointment of Grant Thornton
Hong Kong Limited as auditor of the Company is to be proposed at the
forthcoming annual general meeting. There was no change in auditors of the
Company in any of the preceding three years.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Shenzhen Neptunus Interlong Bio-technique Company Limited
Zhang Feng

Chairman

Shenzhen, the PRC
27 March 2024
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Corporate Governance Report

The Company strives to attain a high standard of corporate governance.
The principles of corporate governance adopted by the Company
emphasize a quality board, sound internal control transparency and
accountability to all stakeholders.

(A) Corporate Governance Practices

(B)

(Q)

The Corporate Governance Code was effective for accounting periods
commencing on or after 1 January 2005. The Company puts strong
emphasis on the superiority, steadiness and rationality of corporate
governance. The Board is of the view that the Company has complied
with the requirements set out in the then applicable Appendix C1
“Corporate Governance Code” of the GEM Listing Rules throughout
the Year.

Code of Conduct Regarding Securities
Transactions by Directors

During the Year, the Company has adopted a code of conduct
regarding securities transactions by the Directors on terms no less
exacting than the “required standard of dealings” as set out in Rules
5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules. Having made specific enquiry
of all the Directors, all the Directors have confirmed that they have
complied with the “required standard of dealings” and the Company's
internal code of conduct regarding securities transactions by the
Directors during the Year.

Responsibilities, Accountabilities and
Contributions of the Board and the
Management

The Board is responsible for planning and overseeing the overall
development and management of the Company with the objective
of enhancing shareholders’ value. The Board, led by the Chairman, is
responsible for the approval and monitoring of the overall strategies
and policies of the Company, approval of annual budgets and business
plans, evaluation of the Company’s performance and oversight of the
management. As at 31 December 2023, the Board comprised nine
Directors, including three executive Directors, three non-executive
Directors and three independent non-executive Directors. The
composition of the Board during the Year is set out as follows:
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Executive Directors

Mr. Zhang Feng (Chairman)
Mr. Huang Jian Bo
Mr. Zhang Xiao Guang (appointed on 25 June 2023)

Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Zhang Yi Fei

Ms. Yu Lin

Mr. Shen Da Kai (retired on 24 June 2023)
Mr. Jin Rui

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Yick Wing Fat, Simon
Mr. Poon Ka Yeung
Mr. Zhang Jian Zhou

The Board delegates day-to-day operations of the Company to the
executive Directors, while reserving certain key matters for its approval,
including overall development, reviewing and monitoring the business
performance, strategic planning, approving the financial statements
and annual budgets, internal controls and risk management as well
as supervising the management of the Group. The management is
responsible for the day-to-day operations of the Company under the
guidance of the General Manager.

The delegated functions and work tasks are reviewed by the Board
periodically.

The Board may delegate any of its powers, authorities and discretions
to committees, consisting of such Director(s) and other person(s) as
the Board thinks fit, and they may, from time to time, revoke such
delegation or revoke the appointment of and discharge any such
committees either wholly or in part, and either as to persons or
purposes. Any committee so formed shall, in the exercise of the powers,
authorities and discretions so delegated, conform to any regulations
which may be imposed on it by the Board.
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Regular meetings of the Board will be held to deliberate the strategic
policies of the Company including significant acquisitions and disposals,
review and approve annual budgets, review the performance of the
business and approve the public release of periodic financial results.
Directors are also provided with access to independent professional
advice in carrying out their obligations as Directors as and when
required, at the expense of the Company.

Save as disclosed in this report, to the best knowledge of the Company,
there is no financial, business, family, or other material or relevant
relationships among members of the Board.

During the Year, the Board performed the following corporate
governance duties:

(i)  to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the Board;

(i)  to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

(iii)  to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(iv) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct applicable to
employees and Directors; and

(v) to review the Company’s compliance with the Corporate
Governance Code and disclosure in the Corporate Governance
Report.

The participation of non-executive Directors in the Board brings
independent judgement on issues relating to the Company’s strategy,
performance, conflicts of interest and management process to ensure
that the interests of all shareholders of the Company have been duly
considered. The biographies of the Directors are set out on pages
16 to 21, with details of diversity of skills, expertise, experience and
qualifications concerning the Directors. The term of office of the non-
executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors are set out
on pages 25 to 26 of this annual report.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance coverage in respect
of legal action against the Directors.
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The Board held six board meetings during the Year. The Directors did
not authorize any alternate director to attend any board meetings
during the Year.

Each Director has entered into a service contract with the Company for
a term of three years.

Board Independence Evaluation

During the Year, the Board at all times met the requirements of
the GEM Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least three
independent non-executive Directors, representing at least one-third
of the Board with one of whom possessing appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management expertise.

The Company has established a Board Independence Evaluation
Mechanism during the Year which sets out the processes and
procedures to ensure a strong independent element on the Board,
which allows the Board to effectively exercise independent judgement
to better safeguard shareholders’ interests.

The objectives of the evaluation are to improve Board effectiveness,
maximise strengths, and identify the areas that need improvement
or further development. The evaluation process also clarifies what
actions of the Company need to be taken to maintain and improve the
Board performance, for instance, addressing individual training and
development needs of each Director.

Pursuant to the Board Independence Evaluation Mechanism, the
Board will conduct annual review on its independence. The Board
Independence Evaluation Report will be presented to the Board which
will collectively discuss the results and the action plan for improvement,
if appropriate.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, all Directors have completed
the independence evaluation in the form of a questionnaire individually.
The Board Independence Evaluation Report was presented to the Board
and the evaluation results were satisfactory.
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During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Board reviewed
the implementation and effectiveness of the Board Independence
Evaluation Mechanism to ensure independent views and input are
available to the Board. Taking into account, among others, the size,
structure, composition of the Board and the annual meeting between
the Chairman and all independent non-executive Directors without
the presence of other Directors which has provided an effective
platform for the Chairman to listen to independent views on various
issues concerning the Group, the Board considered that the Company
had in place mechanisms which remain effective to ensure a strong
independent element on the Board.

(D) Committees

The Board strives to maintain excellent corporate governance and has
established committees with written terms of reference setting out the
powers and duties of the committees.

1.  Audit Committee
The Company established the Audit Committee on 21 August
2005. The Audit Committee comprises one non-executive Director,
namely Ms. Yu Lin and two independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Yick Wing Fat, Simon and Mr. Poon Ka Yeung. Mr.
Yick Wing Fat, Simon is the chairman of the Audit Committee.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are as follows:

(i)  to consider, and to make recommendations to the Board
on the appointment, reappointment and removal of the
external auditors, and to approve the remuneration and
terms of engagement of the external auditors, and to resolve
any issues of resignation or dismissal of that auditor;

(i) to review and monitor the external auditors’ independence
and objectivity and the effectiveness of the auditing process
in accordance with applicable accounting standards;

(iii) to discuss the nature and scope of the audit and reporting
obligations with the external auditors before the auditing
commences, and to ensure co-ordination where more than
one audit firm are involved;
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(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

=

(viii

(ix)

to review and monitor the integrity of the quarterly, interim
and annual financial statements, reports and accounts of
the Company, and to review significant financial reporting
judgements contained therein, before submission to the
Board, focusing particularly on any changes in accounting
policies and principles, major judgemental areas, significant
adjustments resulting from the audit, etc;

to review the Company’s financial control, internal control
and risk management systems;

to discuss with the management the system of internal
control and to ensure the management has discharged its
duties in maintaining an effective internal control system;

to review the external auditors’ letter to the management
and answer any material queries raised by the auditors to
management in respect of the accounting records, financial
accounts or system of internal control;

to ensure that the Board will provide a timely response
to the issues raised in the external auditors’ letter to the
management;

to report to the Board on the matters set out herein and, in
particular, the matters required to be performed by the Audit
Committee under the Corporate Governance Code;

to act as the key representative body overseeing the
Company'’s relationship with the external auditors; and

to discuss problems and reservations arising from the interim
and final audits, and any matters the auditors may wish to
discuss (in the absence of management where necessary).

During the Board meeting on 27 March 2024, the Board reviewed
the corporate governance measures of the Group and this
corporate governance report.
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During the Year, the Audit Committee has reviewed the quarterly,
interim and annual financial statements of the Group, and was of
the opinion that these statements complied with the applicable
accounting standards, the GEM and legal requirements, and that
adequate disclosures have been made. The Audit Committee has
also reviewed operational and compliance controls, the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems,
and continuing connected transactions. The Audit Committee
held six meetings during the Year (of which two meetings were
held with the external auditors).

Nomination Committee

The Company established the Nomination Committee on 16
March 2012. Currently the Nomination Committee comprises
one executive Director, Mr. Zhang Feng, and three independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Yick Wing Fat, Simon, Mr.
Poon Ka Yeung and Mr. Zhang Jian Zhou. Mr. Zhang Feng is the
Chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The major duties of the Nomination Committee are as follows:

(i)  to review the structure, size and composition (including the
skills, knowledge and experience) and diversity of the Board
and make recommendations on any proposed changes to
the Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy.

(i)  to identify individuals suitably qualified to become members
of the Board and select or make recommendations to
the Board on the selection of individuals nominated for
directorships.

(i) to assess the independence of independent non-executive
Directors.

(iv) to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment
or re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for
Directors, in particular the Chairman of the Board and the
General Manager.

The Nomination Committee has adopted the revised Board
Diversity Policy (the “Policy”) which became effective on 17
December 2018. A summary of this Policy together with the
measurable objectives set for implementing this Policy, and the
progress towards achieving those objectives are outlined below.
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The Company continuously seeks to enhance the effectiveness RARTEBOIRSHEESS 26
of its Board and to maintain the highest standards of corporate WRFFREIREMNEEE R RABIE
governance and recognises and embraces the benefits of having EEL—EZTIERERRENESS
a diverse Board, which can be achieved through the consideration BnR%  NERZEEZERZER -
of a number of factors, including but not limited to gender, age, BIEETERRER - Fik - YEERHAE
cultural and educational background, professional experience, B BELR - Rig - ABRITER
skills, knowledge and industry and regional experience. RIS ER o
An analysis of the Board’s current composition based on the R EE B EHESSBRRAKMN S
measurable objectives is set out below: MBI
Gender Age Group
4Bl FiRfE
Male: 8 Directors 31-40: 1 Director
S 8REE 31-408% : 1REF
Female: 1 Director 41-50: 1 Director
T NBEF 41-505% - 1REF
51-60: 5 Directors
51-60%% : SHREE
61-70: 2 Directors
61-708% : 2R EF
Designation Educational Background
SR HEER
Executive Directors: 3 Directors Business Administration: 3 Directors
WITES  3RES TRHER : 3RES
Non-executive Directors: 3 Directors Accounting and Finance: 3 Directors
FEMITESF : 3BEFF 2tke  3BES
Independent non-executive Directors: 3 Directors Legal: 1 Director
BUIEHITES - 3BES FERIREF
Other: 2 Directors
Hith : 2B EF
Years of Service as Director Business/Professional Experience
EERBEH B BELR
1-5 years: 4 Directors Accounting & Finance: 3 Directors
1-5%F : ABESR B RERE : 3RES
6-10 years: 1 Director Legal: 1 Director
6-106F - 1RES EREC1RESR
Over 10 years: 4 Directors Experience related to the Company’s business: 5 Directors
HBBI105F - 4BRES HENRIESIEENKER  SBEF
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The Nomination Committee and the Board are of the view that
the current composition of the Board has achieved the objectives
set in the Policy.

The Nomination Committee will review the Policy, as appropriate,
to ensure its effectiveness.

The Company values gender diversity across all levels of the
Group. The male-to-female ratio in the workforce of the Group,
including the Board and senior management as at the date of this
annual report is 591:853.

The Board targeted to achieve and has achieved to have at least
one female Director, and considers that the above current gender
diversity is satisfactory.

Details on the gender ratio of the Group together with relevant
data can be found in B1: Employment of Chapter Viii Social
Aspect of the Environmental, Social and Governance Report of the
Company for the Year.

The Company will also proactively provide trainings to our senior
managements and will take into account the factor of gender
diversity when recruiting suitable candidates for our senior
management in the future, so to develop a pipeline of potential
successors for the Board and enhance gender diversity in the
Board in the coming years.
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The Nomination Committee is primarily responsible for identifying
qualified candidates to become members of the Board. The
appointment of Directors will continue to be made on a merit
basis, with the principle of candidates being considered against
objective criteria (including but not limited to professional
qualifications, skills, experience, independence, time available
for performance of Director’s duties and willingness) with due
regard for the benefits of diversity of the Board. The nomination
procedures of a Director can be divided into two categories, being
the nomination procedure of a new Director and the re-election
procedure of a retired Director. The nomination procedure of a
new Director of the Nomination Committee is: 1) evaluate the
candidate based on the abovementioned Director appointment
principle to determine whether such candidate is qualified
upon receipt of the proposal on appointment of new Director
and the biographical information of the candidate; 2) rank the
qualified candidates by order of preference based on the needs
of the Company and reference check of candidates; 3) make
recommendation to the Board on the proposal on appointment of
new Director; and 4) make recommendation to the shareholders
on the proposal on appointment of new Director at the general
meeting. The re-election procedure of a retired Director of the
Nomination Committee is: 1) review the overall contribution and
services to the Company, participation in the Company’s business
and performance of the retired Director; 2) evaluate the retired
Director based on the abovementioned Director appointment
principle to determine whether such retired Director is still
qualified; and 3) make recommendation to the shareholders
on the proposal on re-election of retired Director at the general
meeting. The Nomination Committee is also responsible for
monitoring the implementation and reviewing the effectiveness of
this Policy.

During the Year, the Nomination Committee has reviewed among
other things, the Board composition and structure and the
effectiveness of the Policy and the results were satisfactory. During
the Year, the Nomination Committee held two meetings.
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was established on 21 August
2005, comprising one executive Director and two independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Zhang Feng, Mr. Yick Wing
Fat, Simon and Mr. Poon Ka Yeung. Mr. Poon Ka Yeung is the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

The major duties of the Remuneration Committee include:

() pursuant to provision E.1.2(c)(ii) of the Corporate
Governance Code, to make recommendations to the Board
on the Company’s policy and structure for all remuneration
of the Directors and the senior management and on the
establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for
developing policy on such remuneration;

(i)  to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
of executive Directors and senior management, which
shall include non-monetary benefits, pension rights and
compensation payments (including compensation payable
for loss or termination of their office or appointment), and to
make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
of the non-executive Directors; and

(iii) to review and approve the remuneration suggestions of the
management according to the corporate goals and objectives
made by the Board from time to time.

The Remuneration Committee determined the remuneration
of the Directors according to their expertise, knowledge and
commitment to the Company with reference to the Company’s
profitability and the prevailing market conditions. The
Remuneration Committee should consult the executive Directors
and the General Manager about its proposals relating to the
remuneration of the senior management.

During the Year, the Remuneration Committee held three
meetings to review and discuss the Directors’ remuneration
packages of the current session of the Board and the remuneration
packages for the current session of the senior management of the
Company.
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(E) Record of Number of Board and Committee

(E) EEERMBEEEERRER

Meetings and Directors’ Attendance BEENHFERH
During the Year, the number of Board and committee meetings and RAFERN  E5gkMBEESSH A
Directors’ attendance are set out below: REEFZHFEEAT ¢
Annual General Meeting of
Meeting/ Chairman and
Extraordinary Independent
General Audit  Remuneration Nomination  Non-executive
Directors Meeting Board Committee Committee Committee Directors
BRRBEAE/ IEEBVH
Bz RREEAE Ezg ERZES FHzEEE REZEE HTESE3
Zhang Feng (Chairman of the Boara) 212 6/6 N/A 3/3 2/2 7
g EFFELE) NEm
Huang Jian Bo 2/2 6/6 N/A N/A N/A N/A
bl NER NEA TEmA TiEf
Zhang Xiao Guang (appointed on 25 June 2023) 072 3/3 N/A N/A N/A N/A
REX (RS- =F A=t HAEZM) NER @R TEm NEm
Zhang Yi Fei 2/2 6/6 N/A N/A N/A N/A
RER NER NER NER TER
Yu Lin 212 6/6 6/6 N/A N/A N/A
T Qi TEA TEfA
Shen Da Kai (retired on 24 June 2023) 2/2 3/3 N/A N/A N/A N/A
MR RZBZ=F A= TmEREM) NEF NER NER NEf
Jin Rui 212 6/6 N/A N/A N/A N/A
ik Vil NER NER TER
Yick Wing Fat, Simon 2/2 6/6 6/6 313 2/2 1”1
FKE
Poon Ka Yeung 212 6/6 6/6 33 212 1”1
VAR
Zhang Jian Zhou 212 6/6 N/A N/A 2/2 171
ERIA NEA NERA

(F) Continuous Professional Development for
Directors

During the Year, all members of the Board had attended relevant
professional development such as trainings or seminars according to
their own professions. Directors also received from the Company from
time to time the latest information on laws, rules and regulations which
may be relevant to their roles, duties and functions as directors of a
listed company. The Company also gave Directors from time to time
the information of training and suggestions for courses. The Company
provided training to its Directors and senior management on 7 November
2023, which concentrated on key issues and related case analysis of
notifiable transactions and connected transactions.
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Particulars of participation by the Directors are set out as follows: S

Reading materials
relevant to directors’ roles

f
Fl

PEERWME
BEFNAT -

Attending training session
relevant to key issues and
related case analysis of
notifiable transactions and

Directors and responsibilities connected transactions
SRR EERRNEIRE -

WHETFARZREER S

s HEEPERETHBRNHENR ETHERA2M

Zhang Feng (Chairman of the Board) v v

R (EFFEER)

Huang Jian Bo 4 v

EAR

Zhang Xiao Guang (appointed on 25 June 2023) v v

REX R -Z-=F A-THhBEEZM)

Zhang Yi Fei v v

RER

Yu Lin v v

T

Shen Da Kai (retired on 24 June 2023) v N/A

AANRZBZ=F A= THEAEM) NEF

Jin Rui v v

ki)

Yick Wing Fat, Simon v v

Hk%

Poon Ka Yeung v v

ARG

Zhang Jian Zhou 4 v

LS
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(G) Chairman and General Manager

The roles of the Chairman and General Manager are separate and
should not be performed by the same individual as stipulated under
provision C.2.1 of Corporate Governance Code. As the leader of the
Board, the Chairman is responsible for the approval and supervision of
the overall strategies and policies of the Company, approval of annual
budgets and business plans, evaluation of the Company’s performance
and oversight of the management. Mr. Zhang Feng is the current
Chairman of the Board. The General Manager (same role as the post
of chief executive pursuant to the Corporate Governance Code) is
responsible for the day-to-day operations of the Company and this
position is temporarily vacant. The Company is identifying a suitable
candidate to fulfill the vacancy of the General Manager. The Company's
articles of association has set out the role and powers of the Chairman
and General Manager.

(H) Directors’ Responsibility for Accounts

(1)

)

The Directors have confirmed and acknowledged their responsibility for
the preparation of the Company’s financial statements is in compliance
with the relative regulations and applicable accounting standards. The
Board has also warranted that the Company’s financial statements
would be distributed in due course.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Company'’s ability to continue as a going concern.

Auditor’'s Remuneration

During the Year, approximately RMB1,437,000 (2022: approximately
RMB1,331,000) and approximately RMB658,000 (2022: approximately
650,000) were charged to the Group's income statement for the
external auditor’s audit services and non-audit services (consultation on
ESG and review of internal control system) respectively.

Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board is responsible for overseeing the internal control system and
risk management of the Group and for reviewing its effectiveness. To
facilitate the effectiveness and efficiency of business operations, to
ensure the reliability of financial report, to safeguard the Group's assets
and the interest of shareholders and to ensure compliance with relevant
laws and regulations, the Company emphasizes the importance of
a sound internal control system. The internal control system and risk
management is designed to manage rather than to eliminate the risk of
failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable
and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.
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The Board regularly and at least annually reviews the effectiveness of
the Group's internal control system and risk management through the
Audit Committee, executive management, functional departments,
external consultant of internal control and external auditors.
The main structure of internal control systems is as follows:
l. The Board
a)  Ensure the implementation of suitable and efficient internal
control systems to protect the Company’s shareholders’
investments and assets.
b) Determine the extent and nature of significant risks the
Company is willing to undertake to achieve strategic
objectives and develop risk management strategies.

Il. Audit Committee

a) Support the Board in overseeing and managing the
Company's internal control systems.

b)  Review and discuss with the management of the Company
to ensure effective internal control systems are in place.

¢) Evaluate major findings related to internal control and
provide recommendations to the Board.

lll.  Management
a)  Design, implement, and monitor the internal control systems
to ensure their proper execution and effectiveness.
b)  Monitor and mitigate risks in day-to-day operations.

¢)  Responsively address and follow up on findings on internal
control matters.

d) Confirm the effectiveness of the internal control systems to
the Board.
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IV. Internal Audit Function

a) Independently analyse and appraise the adequacy and
effectiveness of the internal control systems.

Furthermore, the Company also adopted a control approach. The
risk management process includes several key steps, including the
identification, evaluation, and implementation of measures to manage
risks. Additionally, it involves reviewing the effectiveness of the
internal control systems and addressing any significant internal control
deficiencies.

As part of this process, the management of the Company conducted
interviews with relevant staff members, thoroughly reviewed
documentation related to the internal control system, and identified and
evaluated any deficiencies in its design. Subsequently, recommendations
for improvement were provided, and the implementation of these
recommendations was closely monitored. These efforts were reported
to and reviewed by the Audit Committee during the Year.

To ensure the safeguarding of assets against unauthorized use or
disposition and to comply with applicable laws, rules, and regulations,
the Company has put in place comprehensive procedure manuals
and operational guidelines. These measures aim to maintain accurate
accounting records and provide reliable financial information for both
internal use and external publication.
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The Board approved the Company in 2017 to perform the internal
audit function by sharing the resources of the immediate parent
company, Neptunus Bio-engineering. And the internal audit function
is performed by an internal audit team, which comprises the personnel
appointed by the Company and seconded personnel of Neptunus
Bio-engineering. The internal audit team carried out comprehensive
auditing of certain subsidiaries during the Year. Taking a risk-oriented
approach, the team reviewed important control activities in respect
of key operation procedures, identified defects, implemented defect
rectification measures, organised and improved internal risk control and
management system for the purpose of risk control. The audit result
and rectification measures were submitted to the Audit Committee and
the Board for review in the Year. During the Year, the management
of the Company has also appointed an external consultant of internal
control to conduct a review on the Group’s internal control system
and risk management system. Such external consultant of internal
control has carried out the analysis and independent appraisal of the
adequacy and the effectiveness of the internal control system and risk
management of the Group and has submitted the results of the review
and its recommendations and opinions for consideration to the Audit
Committee and the Board. The review covers all material controls,
including financial, operational and compliance and risk management
functions. The Audit Committee and the Board have discussed the
relevant results of the review and appropriate modifications will be
made to the management system of the Group according to the
findings and recommendations therein. Also during the Year, the Audit
Committee and the Board has assessed whether the Group'’s resources
in accounting and financial reporting functions are sufficient, whether
the staff has sufficient qualification and experience and whether the
trainings for staff and related budget are sufficient.
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During the Year, the Audit Committee reviewed the effectiveness of
internal control system with following procedures and reported the
result of the review to the Board:

1. discussing with executive management on areas of risks (including
ESG risks) identified

2. reviewing the risks (including ESG risks) reported by external

consultant of internal control

reviewing the external audit plan

reviewing the matters reported by external auditors

reviewing the internal audit rectification list

reviewing the internal audit plan

reviewing the report produced by executive management and

related functional departments to ensure appropriate controls are

in place and any deficiencies or irregularities, if any, are rectified

S s W

Based on the information supplied, coupled with its own observations
and with the assistance of the Audit Committee, the Board believes
that, in respect of the nature and size of the Group’s operations and
business, the present internal control system and monitoring process
(including sufficiency of the resources in accounting and financial
reporting functions, staff’s qualification and experience and trainings
for staff and related budget) are effective and adequate and have
complied with the requirements under the provisions of the code.

The Board is committed to incorporating the ESG mindset into business
operations. The Board accepts full responsibility for the sustainability
of the Group, including formulating strategies, overseeing the Group's
ESG related risks and opportunities, and approving the Environmental,
Social and Governance Report. The Board is also required to keep
abreast of and comply with the latest regulatory requirements before
the approval of the Environmental, Social and Governance Report.

The Board believes that the management of ESG-related risks and
opportunities is essential to the Group’s efficient and effective
operation. The risk management and internal control systems assure
accuracy, reliability and timeliness of the data presented and sustainable
development measures. The Board will also regularly review the
implementation effectiveness of the systems and whether they cover
major control measures on material ESG issues.

Based on the findings and recommendations of external consultant as
well as the comments of the Audit Committee, the Board considered
the internal control and risk management systems effective and
adequate. The Company considers that sufficient risk management
and internal control of the Group can be maintained with the above-
mentioned arrangements.
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(K) Procedures for Handling and Dissemination of

Inside Information

The Board has established the Inside Information Policy for the handling
and dissemination of inside information. The Inside Information Policy
has stipulated the principle and contents of inside information disclosure,
the management of inside information, security measures, responsible
persons and departments, reporting methods as well as the disclosure
process, etc. The management of the Company must take all reasonable
measures from time to time to ensure that proper safeguards exist to
prevent a breach of disclosure requirement in relation to the Company.
Relevant responsible persons for inside information reporting must
promptly notify the Board secretary of the Company of any matters that
might constitute inside information and shall keep confidentiality of such
information. The Board secretary of the Company shall ask for instructions
from the executive Directors as soon as reasonably practicable, who will
then evaluate whether the information constitutes inside information and
if so, to disclose and take other appropriate prompt actions accordingly.
In the event that there is evidence of any material violation of the Inside
Information Policy, the Company will investigate relevant personnel for
their responsibilities and impose certain punishment, so as to avoid the
recurrence of such violation.
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(L) Corporate Culture

OUR CORPORATE CULTURE

The Board believes that corporate culture underpins the long-term
business development, financial success and sustainable growth of the
Group. A strong culture enables the Company to deliver long-term
sustainable performance and fulfil its role as a responsible corporate
citizen. During the Year, the Group continued to connect the public
with its rich cultural diversity, presenting a positive and energetic
cultural image to the community through its business activities and
quality product marketing.

The Company aims to achieve its purpose, values and culture through
the following strategies.

A.  Values
A.1 Integrity

A1.1 We always regard product quality as our core value,
maintain a relationship of mutual respect and trust
with our partners, and focus on offering products and
services with better quality to the society.

A.2 Responsibilities

A2.1 We insist on the implementation of national policies
and actively fulfill our social responsibilities. While
promoting business growth, we are committed to
energy conservation and emission reduction, bringing
positive impact to green development.

A.3 Innovation

A3.1 We actively promote the formation of digital marketing
models, accelerate the transformation and upgrading
of traditional business structures, and constantly infuse
innovative concepts into our work.
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A.4 Development

A4.1 We pay close attention to the development of the
pharmaceutical industry, make unremitting efforts to
improve the health of the people, strive to become a
world first-class enterprise and shoulder the important
task of revitalizing the national industry.

A.5 Cooperation

A5.1 We are open-minded in expansion of resources,
constantly seek for emerging areas of cooperation
under good planning, and work wholeheartedly to
achieve win-win solutions with all sectors of society to
create new opportunities.

Culture

We are a group of creative makers with highly collaborative spirit
and relentless drive toward our goals. We are liberal-minded,
unconstrained by formalities, and have strong desire to learn and
reflect. While acting fast and decisively, we take risks and learn
from failures, and strive to become a stronger team.

Strategies

The Company will adopt the following strategies:

. Focusing on our capabilities in delivering our products and
services;

e Leveraging our own strengths in collaboration with different
teams and business partners;

° Keeping abreast of the latest market conditions and industry
trend;

o Setting feasible targets and implementation strategies for
regular review and reflection;

o Incorporating our culture into recruitment process.
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The Board sets and promotes our corporate culture and expects
and requires all employees to have high awareness. All of our
new employees are required to attend orientation to learn the
relevant laws and regulations to gain deeper understanding of
our corporate culture and structure. In addition, the Company will
hold meetings for sharing of views on corporate culture from time
to time, inviting employees to make summary and reflection, and
employees with good performance are commended to encourage
other employees to integrate cultural concepts into their daily
work.

To strengthen our position in the dynamic business environment,
lower-level employees are assigned with designated duties so
as to facilitate internally more efficient decision-making, cultural
development, and goal alignment within the Group.

The Board considers that our corporate culture, the purpose and
values are aligned with the strategy of the Group.

(M) Constitutional Documents

The constitutional documents of the Company have been published
both on the GEM and the Company’s website. At the extraordinary
general meeting held on 31 January 2023, certain amendments to the
articles of associations of the Company were duly passed. Please refer
to the circular dated 11 January 2023 and the announcement dated
13 February 2023 for the details of the amendments. Save for such
amendments, there has been no significant change in the constitutional
documents of the Company during the Year and up to the date of this
report.

(N) Company Secretary

The company secretary supports the Chairman, the Board and Board
committees by ensuring good information flow within the Board and
that Board policy and procedures are followed. The company secretary
reports to the Board and assists the Board in functioning effectively
and efficiently. He/she also advises the Board on governance matters
and facilitates the induction and professional development of Directors.
All Directors of the Company may call upon the company secretary
for advice and assistance at any time in respect to their duties and the
effective operation of the Board and the Board committees.
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Mr. Huang Jian Bo and Ms. Fung Wai Sum are the joint company
secretaries of the Company, of which Mr. Huang Jian Bo is a full time
employee of the Company and Ms. Fung Wai Sum is the external
company secretary. Mr. Huang Jian Bo is also the Board secretary, the
deputy general manager and financial controller of the Company who
has knowledge of the Company’s day-to-day affairs. Mr. Huang Jian Bo
and Ms. Fung Wai Sum undertook not less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training during the Year.

The primary corporate contact person at the Company is Mr. Huang
Jian Bo, the joint company secretary, Board secretary, financial
controller and deputy general manager of the Company.

(O) Shareholder’s Rights

0)

(ii)

According to the articles of association of the Company, two
or more shareholders holding 10% or more of the shares with
voting rights can sign one or more written requisitions with the
same format and contents, requesting the Board to convene an
extraordinary general meeting, and stating the business to be
dealt with at the meeting. After receipt of the aforesaid written
request, the Board shall hold the extraordinary general meeting
as soon as possible. If the Board does not distribute the notice
on holding the meeting within 30 days after receipt of the
aforesaid written request, the shareholder(s) putting forward such
requisition can convene the meeting on his/their own within four
months after the Board receives such requisition. The procedures
to convene such meeting shall be similar to the procedures that
the Board convenes a general meeting.

Shareholders of the Company can make enquiries to the Board
or the Company in relation to corporate governance or other
matters. The Company will not normally deal with verbal or
anonymous enquiries. Shareholders may send written enquiries to
the Company, by email to hjb@interlong.com or by mail to Suite
1702, Neptunus Yinhe Technology Mansion, 1 Keji Middle 3rd
Road, Maling Community, Yuehai Sub-district, Nanshan District,
Shenzhen, the PRC. Inquiries are dealt with in an informative and
timely manner.
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(ii) The Company encourages shareholders to attend and give advice
in the general meeting or to appoint proxies to attend general
meetings, and vote for them when they could not attend general
meetings. Under appropriate circumstances, chairman of the
Board, other members of the Board, chairman of committees
under the Board or representative appointed by them, and
external auditors would attend general meetings of the Company,
and answer questions from shareholders. They will also consider
or respond to the suggestions made by shareholders.

(iv) According to the dividend policy of the Company formulated on
17 December 2018, the Company will declare or pay dividends
to the shareholders in the form deemed appropriate by the
Board in the relevant financial year or period with sufficient cash
reserves maintained in the Company, after taking full account
of the Group’s comprehensive factors (including but not limited
to financial results, cash flow position, business conditions and
strategies, future operations and revenue, capital requirements
and expenditure plans, interests of shareholders).

The Company has in place a Shareholders’” Communication Policy. The
policy aims at promoting effective communication with shareholders
and other stakeholders, encouraging shareholders to engage actively
with the Company and enabling shareholders to exercise their rights
as shareholders effectively. During the year ended 31 December 2023,
the Board reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the
Shareholders” Communication Policy and the results were satisfactory.

To put forward proposals at an annual general meeting or extraordinary
general meeting, the shareholders should submit a written notice of
those proposals with detailed contact information to the Company, by
email to hjb@interlong.com, or by mail to Suite 1702, Neptunus Yinhe
Technology Mansion, 1 Keji Middle 3rd Road, Maling Community,
Yuehai Sub-district, Nanshan District, Shenzhen, the PRC. The request
will be verified with the Company’s share registrar and upon their
confirmation that the request is proper and in order, the company
secretary will ask the Board to include the resolution in the agenda for
the general meeting.
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(P) Communication with Shareholders and Investors

The Company considers that effective communication with Shareholders
is essential for enhancing investor relations and investor understanding
of the Group’s business performance and strategies. The Company
endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with Shareholders and
in particular, through annual general meetings and other general
meetings. At the annual general meeting, Directors (or their delegates
as appropriate) are available to meet Shareholders and answer their
enquiries.

The Board has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the
Shareholders’ communication policy. Having considered the multiple
channels of communication and engagement in place, it is satisfied that
the Shareholder’s communication policy has been implemented during
the Relevant Period and is effective.

Subject to provisions of the Articles, eligible Shareholders who
wish to move a resolution may by means of requisition convene an
extraordinary general meeting following the procedures set out above.

The Company establishes different communication channels with
investors to update them with the latest business development and
financial performance including the publication of interim and annual
reports, the publish and posting of notices, announcements and
circulars on the GEM website and the Company’s website in order to
maintain a high level of transparency.
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Report of the Supervisory Committee

EEgHE

To: All shareholders

The Supervisory Committee of the Company has exercised its powers seriously
to safeguard the interests of the Company and shareholders, complied
with the principle of good faith, discharged its duties conscientiously and
undertaken tasks in a diligent and proactive manner in accordance with the
Company Law of the PRC, the relevant Hong Kong laws, regulations and the
articles of association of the Company (the “Articles of Association”).

The Supervisory Committee of the Company has reviewed in detail and
approved the audited financial statements and this report which will be
presented at the annual general meeting. Supervisors of the Company have
reviewed prudently the operation and development plans of the Company,
and carried out strict and effective supervision as regards whether major
decision-making and exact decisions by the management of the Company are
in compliance with the laws and regulations of the PRC and the Articles of
Association and safeguard the interests of shareholders. Supervisors believe
that during the Year, the operating results of the Company were sufficient to
reflect its condition, and all expenses and costs incurred were reasonable. The
profit sharing scheme was in the long-term interests of shareholders and the
Company. The provision for statutory surplus reserve and public welfare fund
made during the Year has complied with the applicable laws and regulations
of the PRC and the Articles of Association.

During the Year, to the best knowledge of the Supervisory Committee,
no Directors or other senior management of the Company were found to
have abused his authority or have harmed the interests of shareholders
and employees. To the best knowledge of the Supervisory Committee, no
Directors or other senior management of the Company were found to have
violated any applicable laws or regulations, the Articles of Association or the
relevant regulations of China Securities Regulatory Commission. Supervisors
believe that the Directors and other senior management of the Company
have strictly observed their respective duties and acted prudently and
exercised their powers in good faith in the best interests of the Company.

The Supervisory Committee of the Company has full confidence in the
future of the Company and would like to take this opportunity to express its
gratitude to all shareholders, Directors and staff for their strong support to
the Supervisory Committee.

By order of the Supervisory Committee
Xiong Chu Xiong
Chairman of Supervisory Committee

Shenzhen, the PRC
27 March 2024
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Independent Auditor’s Report

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF
SHENZHEN NEPTUNUS INTERLONG BIO-TECHNIQUE COMPANY LIMITED
(incorporated in the People’s Republic of China with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Shenzhen
Neptunus Interlong Bio-technique Company Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) set out on pages 75 to 190,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2023, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and
the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes
to the consolidated financial statements, including material accounting policy
information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2023,
and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs"”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.
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B 2B RS

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our

FRENSEE

MRETEEERERMOERAE - BAYHA
PG AU BRRNETRABEENEE - %5=F
HARERMEFTBEFAUBHRRREASRR
EITRER - REMATSHZSFFRREHRERN

opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. BR -

How the matter was addressed in RN ET 0
The Key Audit Matter our audit BRETEE REZER
Valuation of inventories FEMHE

Refer to notes 2.10, 4 and 18 to the consolidated financial statements.

At the reporting date, the Group
had inventories of approximately
RMB205,424,000. Inventories are
carried at the lower of cost and net
realisable value.

In determining the net realisable
value of inventories, estimates and
judgements are applied by the
management, including the use of
historical ageing statistics, projection
of expected volume and price of
future sales of inventories.

We have identified the valuation
of inventories as a key audit matter
considering the materiality of the
balances and the involvement of
management’s estimation and
judgement on the net realisable
value of inventories.

Our audit procedures to the valuation
of inventories included the following:

—  Obtained an understanding
of management’s process for
estimation of net realisable
value of inventories.

—  Selected inventory items on a
sample basis and tested their
net realisable value calculation.

- Compared, on a sample
basis, subsequent sales prices
and volumes against the
management'’s projections.

—  Considered the accuracy of
historical provisions against
actual inventory write-off.
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Key Audit Matters (Continued)

The Key Audit Matter

How the matter was addressed in
our audit

Impairment assessment of intangible assets with indefinite useful

lives and goodwill

Refer to notes 2.6, 2.7, 2.18, 4, 16 and 17 to the consolidated financial

statements.

At the reporting date, the Group
had intangible assets with indefinite
useful lives and goodwill of
approximately RMB99,626,000 and
RMB63,422,000 respectively.

Intangible assets with indefinite
useful lives included anesthetic
drug production and selling right
and trade name. These intangible
assets were individually assessed
at year end for impairment. The
valuation process involved significant
estimates and judgement made by
management over the cash flow
forecasts, discount rates and growth
rates of particular drug markets.

For impairment assessment of
goodwill, the recoverable amount of
the cash generating unit (“CGU")
was determined based on value
in use calculation which involves
significant management judgement
and estimations including the growth
rates and discount rates applied in
the value in use calculation.

We have identified the impairment
of intangible assets with indefinite
useful lives and goodwill as a
key audit matter considering the
materiality of the balances and the
use of estimates and judgement by
the management in assessing their
recoverable amounts.

Our audit procedures to impairment
assessment of intangible assets with
indefinite useful life and goodwill
included the following:

— Obtained valuation reports
from independent valuer
employed by the Company and
assessed its qualification and
competence if applicable.

—  Reviewed and questioned the
valuation methodology selected
and the key assumptions made.

— Reconciled input data to
supporting evidence, such
as approved budgets and
considering the reasonableness
of these budgets.

— Compared prior year cash
flow projections with actual
occurrence to consider accuracy
of management’s projections.
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Key Audit Matters (Continued) BREETSIE (FE)

How the matter was addressed in KR FH 04
The Key Audit Matter our audit BEETER BREZER
Expected credit loss of trade receivables W ERRAREERE

Refer to notes 2.9, 4 and 19 to the consolidated financial statements.

At the reporting date, the Group had
trade receivables of approximately
RMB174,252,000, net of expected
credit loss (“ECL") allowance of
approximately RMB22,771,000.

In calculating the ECL allowance,
the ECL rates are estimated by
taking into account the credit loss
experience, ageing of overdue
trade receivables, customers’
repayment history, customers’
financial position and an assessment
of both the current and forecast
general economic conditions, all of
which involve significant degree of
estimates and judgement made by
the management.

We have identified the expected
credit loss of trade receivables as
a key audit matter considering the
materiality of the balances and
the involvement of management'’s
estimation and judgement in
assessing the ECL allowance of trade
receivables.

Our audit procedures to the expected
credit loss of trade receivables
included the following:

—  Obtained an understanding
of how the loss allowance for
trade receivables is estimated
by the management.

—  Tested the aging analysis of
trade receivables, on a sample
basis, to the source documents
including goods delivery notes
and sales invoices.

—  Reviewed the aging analysis of
trade receivables throughout
the year to understand the
settlement patterns of the
customers.

—  Assessed the reasonableness of
management’s loss allowance
estimates by examining
the information used by
management to form such
judgements, including testing
the accuracy of the historical
default data, evaluating
whether the historical loss rates
are appropriately adjusted
based on current economic
conditions and forward-looking
information.
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Other Information

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises all the information in the 2023 annual report of the Company,
but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information,
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Directors for the Consolidated Financial Statements
The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by
the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but
to do so.

The directors assisted by the Audit Committee are responsible for overseeing
the Group’s financial reporting process.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body,
in accordance with our agreed terms of engagements and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any
other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

e identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

o obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

o evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements (Continued)

conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and
to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements (Continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law
or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so
would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of
such communication.

Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants

11t Floor, Lee Garden Two

28 Yun Ping Road

Causeway Bay

Hong Kong SAR

27 March 2024

Lam Yau Hing
Practising Certificate No.: P06622
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

mERmRE

Lftb 2 H W =R

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE—_T-_=F+-_A=+—HULFE

2023 2022
—EB-=F ===tz
Notes RMB’000 RMB’'000
FosE ARET T AREFT
Revenue A 5 1,064,861 986,691
Cost of sales SHERAR (617,350) (542,549)
Gross profit EF 447,511 444,142
Other revenue and other net income = PN SE= L PN 7 28,869 24,042
Selling and distribution expenses HERD AT (252,826) (244,231)
Administrative expenses THRAX (90,433) (93,733)
Other operating expenses H iR (93,746) (38,096)
Impairment of trade and other JFEE LST B X R L Ath P LKL kTR
receivables, net B FEE (3,127) (2,831)
Profit from operations #R i T 36,248 89,293
Finance costs Wi5ER 8(a) (5,574) (7,032)
Profit before taxation BRE Al A 30,674 82,261
Income tax expense FriSHifsZ (16,148) (18,431)
Profit and total comprehensive income  AEEXRFK
for the year 2HEINZETE 14,526 63,830
Profit/(Loss) and total comprehensive DT &BEREANEERF,
income/(expenses) for the year (BR) R2EkEs FEx)
attributable to: .
Owners of the Company ZIN/NEIEZZEN 24,127 54,346
Non-controlling interests FEEAR (9,601) 9,484
14,526 63,830
Earnings per share BRER
Basic and diluted HANES 13 RMB1.44 cents RMB3.24 cents
AR¥1.44% AR¥3 245

The notes on pages 81 to 190 are an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

E MR =

As at 31 December 2023
R=Z=—=F+-A=+—H

2023 2022
—EC-=8 = e
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
BdsE ARET T AREFT
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERAE
Non-current assets EREBEE
Property, plant and equipment W - BB REE 14 203,570 207,674
Right-of-use assets EREEE 15 81,003 91,830
Intangible assets mEE 16 122,149 110,400
Goodwill BES 17 63,422 96,524
Deposits for acquisition of property, HEYZE  BERZENRS
plant and equipment 1,525 1,435
Deposits for acquisition of land use right HEE TP AR e 9,817 9,817
Deferred tax assets R ITHE E 26 3,576 5,461
Time deposits T BATF R 20 10,000 30,000
495,062 553,141
Current assets REBEE
Inventories FE8 18 205,424 203,023
Trade and other receivables JE UK BR R K E A FE YRR 19 332,954 341,968
Short-term bank deposits REHRSRTTIE X 20 10,000 60,000
Bank balances and cash IRITEBRRIRS 20 372,206 290,098
920,584 895,089
Current liabilities REBAE
Trade and other payables FE AT BR SR 2 A FE A< R 1B 21 260,527 267,483
Contract liabilities BREE 22 16,034 43,578
Interest-bearing borrowings MEEE 23 85,417 85,028
Deferred revenue PRIEW ZE 24 - 401
Lease liabilities HEaE 25 499 3,181
Current taxation BIERF: 1R 3,703 13,052
366,180 412,723
Net current assets REEEFE 554,404 482,366
Total assets less current liabilities BEERABAERE 1,049,466 1,035,507
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

=
#re B

VISARIL R

As at 31 December 2023
R=ZZEBZ=F+=RA=+—H

2023 2022
—EC-=5 e
Notes RMB’000 RMB’'000
FosE ARET T AREFT
Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Interest-bearing borrowings MEEE 23 2,427 2,909
Deferred revenue EIEW 24 589 589
Lease liabilities HEEE 25 1,343 1,574
Deferred tax liabilities R IBE & 26 28,925 25,131
33,284 30,203
Net assets EEFE 1,016,182 1,005,304
EQUITY =
Equity attributable to owners KATEE AELER
of the Company
Share capital [N 27 167,800 167,800
Reserves G 740,369 716,242
908,169 884,042
Non-controlling interests =R S 108,013 121,262
Total equity FERBE 1,016,182 1,005,304
Zhang Feng Huang Jian Bo
Rig el
Director Director
E:3 EFE
The notes on pages 81 to 190 are an integral part of these consolidated F81E 190 B A I FERE AN L B 4n & B TS Rk
financial statements. H)—3H
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
nJ\Tg?igigﬁziﬁiégiéﬁé

For the year ended 31 December 2023
E_E_=F+_A=1T—HIFE

2023 2022
—EC-=fF — T —4F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARBF ARBFT
Operating activities REER
Profit before taxation BRE A& A 30,674 82,261
Adjustments for: HEE
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  #1% « = LREITE 23,704 24,292
Depreciation of right-of-use assets REEENE 5,337 6,901
Amortisation of intangible assets BB EE 4,603 4,751
Reversal of impairment of intangible assets mAERERRD (16,201) =
Impairment of trade receivables, net FENRBR TR (B 7R 2,804 2,843
Impairment of other receivables/(Reversal of Hib W IERE,
impairment), net CREREE) 558 323 (12)
Finance costs W5 A 5,574 7,032
Interest income from bank deposits RITIF R B (6,262) (6,471)
Subsidy income released from deferred revenue B FEIE WS A BAURA (401) (401)
Write-down of inventories WRFE 8,277 3,549
Reversal of write-down of inventories FEMRREE 9) (3,089)
Loss on disposal/write-off of property, L& REME - BEREENEER
plant and equipment 1,014 2,638
Impairment of goodwill EESEAE 33,102 =
Operating cash flows before working capital EEESE B2 ELBRER
changes 92,539 124,294
Changes in working capital EEESHE
Increase in inventories FEEN (10,669) (45,529)
Decrease/(Increase) in trade and other receivables & Uk Bf 3% K2 E b e U X 1Z0m > (3% 41) 5,887 (73,295)
(Decrease)/Increase in trade and other payables &~ B 2k N o th & < 7038 Ot 2>) /1240 13,291 40,787
(Decrease)/Increase in contract liabilities BHAECRD) Em (27,544) 26,640
Cash generated from operations KEELRS 73,504 72,897
Income tax paid BEPTEH (19,818) (11,677)
Net cash generated from operating activities AR B F R 53,686 61,220
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

/\\/ \
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

HEZZ_=FSt_H=+—HILFE
2023 2022
—EBC-=F el =
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
AR¥T T AREETIT
Investing activities RETEE
Deposits paid for acquisition of property, XNEEYE  BERRENZS
plant and equipment (3,186) (3,434)
Additions to intangible assets BILEERNE (151) (20)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEWE  BEKEE (12,028) (16,260)
Decrease in short-term bank deposits HIRIT R RO A 50,000 24,000
Decrease in time deposits TE BT ROR D 20,000 —
Interest received EUFI S 6,262 6,471
Net cash generated from investing activities REZBEFLT 2 FHR 60,897 10,757
Financing activities REEE
Repayment interest-bearing borrowings EBEHEES (139,898) (107,187)
Proceeds from interest-bearing borrowings M BB SRS 5RIA 139,805 93,987
Interest paid EASHLE (5,340) (6,375)
Dividend paid to non-controlling interests AT FE2E A e 2 O PR (3,648) (2,926)
Payment of lease liabilities HEBER®K (3,147) (6,769)
Advance from a non-controlling shareholder p=El= HXHX%E’]in/T/\ - 30,000
Repayment to a non-controlling shareholder B2 IEIE AR AR AR (20,247) (9,753)
Net cash used in financing activities BE BT % F 5 (32,475) (9,023)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents RERBREEEYIEM
R 82,108 62,954
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January R—A—BHReRBLEEY 290,098 227,144
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December, R+=—A=+—HHWEZ
represented by bank balances and cash RBESEEYMERITESREES 372,206 290,098

The notes on pages 81 to 190 are an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
(EZB_=F+-A=1T—HILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

RATERARE
Statutory Non-
Share Share reserve Capital Retained controlling
capital premium* fund* reserve* earnings* Sub-total interests Total

it RfEE  EElEer ety REER It FaRER s
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT NRETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT NRETT
(note 28(3) (note 28(0) (note 28(c)
() (fEsn) (o)

At1 January 2022 R-2-—%-F-f 167,800 554,844 49611 (183494) 245935 829,6% 114,704 944400
Proft and totel comprehensie income for theyear ~ AEEEHIR2 AN ELE - - - - 54,346 54,346 9484 63830
Dvidend paid o non-<oniroling intrests KiahEnRE - - - - - - (2926) (2926)
Relase ofstautory esenve upon deregisrationof &~ A~ HHB RRRAEE L i T RE

Subsiclary - - (250) - 50 - - -
Transfer to tatutory reserve fund BRBEROEE - - 1,721 - (172 - - -
At 31 December 2022 i k2 gl o S 167,800 554,844 51,082 (183.494) 298810 884,042 121,262 1,005,304
At1 January 203 WZRIZE- ﬂ E 167,800 554,844 51,082 (188,494) 298810 884,042 121,262 1,005,304
ProftLoss) and totel comprehensiie RERRH/ (5B

income{expense)for the year 2EhE/ (Fﬂi)é@@%ﬁ - - - - U7 U7 (9,601) 14,526
Dvidend paid o non-controling intrests KfFhEanRE - - - - - - (3,648) (3649)
Transer to tatutory reseve fung LR - - 171 - (1) - - -
At 31 December 2023 ik it gl o S 167,800 554,844 52,803 (188,494) 26 908,169 108,013 1,016,182
* The reserves account comprise the Group's reserves of RMB740,369,000 (2022: @ ZEFEREPREAEBRRGEY B ARFTH

RMB716,242,000) in the consolidated statement of financial position. B ARY740,369,000 (T -—F : ARK
716,242,0007T)

The notes on pages 81 to 190 are an integral part of these consolidated FRIEZRZF190EMM BRI SiRE B HmE
financial statements. H—&5H °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

General Information

Shenzhen Neptunus Interlong Bio-technique Company Limited (the
“Company”) is a limited liability company incorporated and domiciled
in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"). The address of its
registered office is Suite 1702, Neptunus Yinhe Technology Mansion, 1
Keji Middle 3rd Road, Maling Community, Yuehai Sub-district, Nanshan
District, Shenzhen, Guangdong Province, the PRC and its principal place
of business is the PRC. The Company's shares are listed on GEM of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

The Group is controlled by Neptunus Bio-engineering, a limited liability
company incorporated and domiciled in the PRC and its shares are
listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange. The ultimate parent company
of the Group is Shenzhen Neptunus Holding Group Limited, a company
incorporated in the PRC.

The Group include the development, production and sales of medicines
and medical devices, the research and development of modern
biological technology business and the purchase and sales of medicines,
healthcare food products and medical devices. The Group’s operations
are based in the PRC.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2023 were approved for issue by the board of directors on 27 March
2024.

Summary of Material Accounting Policies

2.1 Basis of preparation
These annual consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs"”) which collective term includes all applicable
individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the
applicable disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
T E BTSRRI EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE-—SE-—=F+-A=+—HIEE

2. EXRSTHHBERME &)

2. Summary of Material Accounting Policies

(Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued) 2.1 REEBIELE ()
These consolidated financial statements also comply with the RERA & RE VBT EE N EEHA
applicable disclosure requirements of the Rules Governing the RSFAERATGEM Em 8 ([GEM
Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong A 2 ERE o
Limited (“GEM Listing Rules”).
These consolidated financial statements are presented in Renminbi e A B EERE TR AR ([ARKE )
(“RMB") which is also the functional currency of the Company. 27| - AREIRARDTIHINEEEE o
All amounts are rounded to the nearest thousand except where b BHEIEREIN - FTE SNBSS
otherwise indicated. S TAL o
The Material Accounting Policies that have been used in the IR AR TR RN E A
preparation of these consolidated financial statements are BRI T o B BAEFTEIN - AN
summarised below. These policies have been consistently applied R RREEEH—BER o 4
to all the years presented unless otherwise stated. The adoption Ml AR BB S R R 8
of new or amended HKFRSs and the impacts on the Group’s NEBRA M TERERNZE (NE) R
consolidated financial statements, if any, are disclosed in note 3. SR o
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the 4= A FRERSE TIRE S AR AN B S S o
historical cost basis. The measurement bases are fully described in H 2 EEN TN @SB R BRI -
the accounting policies below.
It should be noted that accounting estimates and assumptions are BEEE  REMGASUBRRECER
used in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements. SHEE RS o BEZE(GEE
Although these estimates are based on management’s best [ BSR4 2 Y RSB R AT BN 1T 5
knowledge and judgement of current events and actions, R BN A BN &G
actual results may ultimately differ from those estimates. The H oo SRS B s e SR - B
areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or FifE AR B Rt S A M SR ER
areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the BB R SE A M4 EE o
consolidated financial statements are disclosed in note 4.

2.2 Basis of consolidation 22 HAE®E

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries make up to 31
December each year.

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group
controls an entity when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity.
When assessing whether the Group has power over the entity,
only substantive rights relating to the entity (held by the Group
and others) are considered.

FEUBHRREEARRRENBAR
EEBFT_A=1T—HO#BHRE -

MBARREXAKEZHNER - &
SER2EAHE R A2 D RAE
RAZEERN - WpEBEHEAEZER
BAFEZERR  IASEHZER
HEEZIE - EHEARERTRAAZ
BN REEEmARESEMAL
s 2 BEAER o

FH|
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

fire MR R MY &

For the year ended 31 December 2023
miE=F=c= == AIFE

2. Summary of Material Accounting Policies 2. EREFTHERBE (B
(Continued)

2.2 Basis of consolidation (Continued) 2.2 SO EMEE)

The Group includes the income and expenses of a subsidiary in the
consolidated financial statements from the date it gains control
until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised gains and losses
on transactions between group companies are eliminated in
preparing the consolidated financial statements. Where unrealised
losses on intra-group asset sales are reversed on consolidation,
the underlying asset is also tested for impairment from the
Group's perspective. Amounts reported in the financial statements
of subsidiaries have been adjusted where necessary to ensure
consistency with the accounting policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity on a subsidiary not
attributable directly or indirectly to the Company, and in respect
of which the Group has not agreed any additional terms with the
holders of those interests which would result in the Group as a
whole having a contractual obligation in respect of those interests
that meets the definition of a financial liability. For each business
combination, the Group can elect to measure any non-controlling
interests either at fair value or at their proportionate share of the
subsidiary’s net identifiable assets.

Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position within equity, separately from
the equity attributable to the owners of the Company. Non-
controlling interests in the results of the Group are presented
on the face of the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income as an allocation of the total profit or
loss and total comprehensive income for the year between non-
controlling interests and the owners of the Company.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, subsidiaries are
carried at cost less any impairment loss unless the subsidiary is
held for sale or included in a disposal group. Cost also includes
direct attributable costs of investment.

The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on
the basis of dividends received and receivable at the reporting
date. All dividends whether received out of the investee’s pre or
post-acquisition profits are recognised in the Company’s profit or
loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
T E BTSRRI EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE-—SE-—=F+-A=+—HIEE

2. Summary of Material Accounting Policies 2. ERSFHHERBE (&)

(Continued)

2.3 Business combination 23 EEAp
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition Be3e At RIS A BE o REETEA B
method. The consideration transferred in a business combination Y R EIRATEE - WIASEE
is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of S AR - ANE B S RS
the acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the N B (8 A 5 B T
Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners = PR T > BRASRESS A B B ER
of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in AF(E S B o AR AR
exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are R LB RS TR RS o

recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when 20— I R EERE— AR
the acquired set of activities and assets include an input and AR —HEERE - TRENELA
a substantive process that together significantly contribute to BELMEHEEAEE  BIAEEE
the ability to create outputs. The acquired process is considered EH DI —TH R o (YRR
substantive if it is critical to the ability to continue producing BEEENMENSHEESE  WAFK
outputs, and the inputs acquired include an organised workforce B 918 A 1E BB/ T RIS R L
with necessary skills, knowledge, or experience to perform that REAL AT AT ER M AR R E F - sk
process or it significantly contributes to the ability to continue R pe s W B ARR Bl
producing outputs and is considered unique or scarce or cannot S0 BB R L o fE AR -
be replaced without significant cost, effort, or delay in the ability Bk E A EE A D HIBTRENE
to continue producing outputs. ST RETERAL o

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities FARERE A b IR BE T S R A R B
assumed in a business combination are, with limited exceptions, B AE ERAGR . GIOMERS - M5
measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. SR ACEE A Y AT(ESE -
Consideration transferred as part of a business combination does VEBM A B — 25 TR A B
not include amounts related to the settlement of pre-existing R EEAEEEENSE - &Y
relationships. The gain or loss on the settlement of any pre- A E A BEE £ s sk BN ES
existing relationship is recognised in profit or loss. PHE o

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration B TR > (B - (AR R
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the S5 R B 75 0 B 458 I KB 7 LA 4
acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held A > w B 5 AR A TAE () = 4
equity in the acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition-date FIABE PR A R R A B A S
amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. BRSO EEE S BOEHE - (5488
If, after reassessment, the net of the acquisition-date amounts IS o KBS SRS R P
of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds R BRI B B E R A
the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non- (B - T IR AE 25 A U B T ok B
controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value on the 2w RIS T A A > i R
acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquire (if any), the excess VAT (A0A) 2 A0 - BB 2645 B
is recognised immediately in profit or loss as bargain purchase B AL 25 POREZ e S B B Uk o
gain.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. Summary of Material Accounting Policies
(Continued)

2.3

2.4

Business combination (Continued)

Where the consideration the Group transfers in a business
combination includes assets or liabilities resulting from a
contingent consideration arrangement, the contingent
consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair value and
considered as part of the consideration transferred in a business
combination. Changes in the fair value of the contingent
consideration that qualify as measurement period adjustments
are adjusted retrospectively, with the corresponding adjustments
being made against goodwill or gain on bargain purchase.
Measurement period adjustments are adjustments that arise from
additional information obtained during the measurement period
about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition
date. Measurement period does not exceed one year from the
acquisition date. The subsequent accounting for changes in the
fair value of the contingent consideration that do not qualify
as measurement period adjustments depends on how the
contingent consideration is classified. Contingent consideration
that is classified as equity is not subsequently remeasured and its
subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent
consideration that is classified as a financial liability is subsequently
remeasured at each reporting dates at fair value with changes in
fair value recognised in profit or loss.

Changes in the value of the previously held equity interest
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
equity before the acquisition date are reclassified to profit or loss
when the Group obtains control over the acquiree.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment (other than construction-in-
progress as described below and cost of right-of-use assets as
described in note 2.13) are initially recognised at acquisition cost
and/or manufacturing cost (including any cost directly attributable
to bringing the assets to the location and condition necessary for
them to be capable of operating in the manner intended by the
Group’s management). They are subsequently stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if
any.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
T E BTSRRI EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE-—SE-—=F+-A=+—HIEE

2. Summary of Material Accounting Policies

(Continued)

2.4 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)
Properties in the course of construction for production, supply or
administrative purposes are carried at cost, less any recognised
impairment losses. Costs include professional fees and, for
qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with
the Group's accounting policy. Such properties are classified to the
appropriate categories of property, plant and equipment when
completed and ready for intended use. Depreciation of these
assets, on the same basis as other property assets, commences
when the assets are ready for their intended use.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of assets other
than construction in progress less their residual values over their
estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method, at the
following rates per annum:

Plant and machinery 5 to 10 years
Motor vehicles 5 to 10 years
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 5 to 10 years
Leasehold improvements 5 years or over the

remaining term of the
leases, whichever is
shorter

Buildings 50 years or over the lease
terms, whichever is

shorter

Accounting policy for depreciation of right-of-use assets is set out
in note 2.13.

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date.

The gain or loss arising on retirement or disposal is determined
as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Summary of Material Accounting Policies
(Continued)

24

2.5

2.6

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as separate assets, as appropriate, only when they are
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised.
All other costs, such as repairs and maintenance, are charged
to profit or loss during the financial period in which they are
incurred.

Prepaid lease payments

“Prepaid lease payments” (which meet the definition of right-of-
use assets) represent the upfront payment for long-term land lease
in which the payment can be reliably measured. It is stated at cost
less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment
losses. Depreciation is calculated on a straight line basis over the
term of the lease/right-of-use except where an alternative basis is
more representative of the time pattern of benefits to be derived
by the Group from use of the land.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill) and research and
development activities

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Acquired intangible assets are recognised initially at cost. After
initial recognition, intangible assets with finite useful lives are
carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible assets with finite
useful lives is provided on straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives. Amortisation commences when the intangible assets
are available for use. The following useful lives are applied:

Computer software 5to 10 years

Trademarks 10 years
Customer list 10 years
Technical know-how 10 years
Selling licences 5 years
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

sre MR R M AT

For the year ended 31 December 2023

HE—
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2. Summary of Material Accounting Policies
(Continued)

2.6

Intangible assets (other than goodwill) and research and
development activities (Continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (Continued)

The useful life of the anesthetic drug production and selling right
and trade name are considered by the management of the Group
as indefinite because the anesthetic drug production and selling
right and trade name is expected to contribute to the Group'’s net
cash inflows indefinitely.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are carried at cost less
any subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

The assets’ amortisation methods and useful lives are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date.

Intangible assets, with finite and indefinite useful lives, are tested
for impairment as described below in note 2.18.

Research and development costs

Costs associated with research activities are expensed in profit
or loss as they occur. Costs that are directly attributable to
development activities are recognised as intangible assets provided
they meet the following recognition requirements:

(i)  demonstration of technical feasibility of the prospective
product for internal use or sale;

(i)  there is intention to complete the intangible asset and use or
sell it;

(i) the Group's ability to use or sell the intangible asset is
demonstrated;

(iv) the intangible asset will generate probable economic benefits
through internal use or sale;

(v) sufficient technical, financial and other resources are
available for completion; and

(vi) the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset can be
reliably measured.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. Summary of Material Accounting Policies
(Continued)

2.6

2.7

Intangible assets (other than goodwill) and research and
development activities (Continued)

Research and development costs (Continued)

Direct costs include employee costs incurred on development
activities along with an appropriate portion of relevant overheads.
The costs of development of internally generated software,
products or knowhow that meet the above recognition criteria
are recognised as intangible assets. They are subject to the same
subsequent measurement method as acquired intangible assets.

All other development costs are expensed as incurred.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising in a business combination is recognised as an asset
at the date that control is acquired (the acquisition date). Goodwvill
is measured as the excess of the aggregate of the fair value of
the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the
Group's interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable
assets and liabilities measured as at the acquisition date.

If, after reassessment, the Group’s interest in the fair value of
the acquiree’s identifiable net assets exceeds the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess
is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase
gain.

Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses.
Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units and is tested
annually for impairment (see note 2.18).

On subsequent disposal of a subsidiary, the attributable amount
of goodwill capitalised is included in the determination of the
amount of gain or loss on disposal.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
T E BTSRRI EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE-—SE-—=F+-A=+—HIEE

2. Summary of Material Accounting Policies 2. ERSFHHERBE (&)
(Continued)
2.8 Financial instruments 28 £@MIA
Recognition and derecognition TER RALIF BT
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the PHEERESRABEEASEK SR
Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the THE R — R o

financial instrument.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights CREENECREEENREREY
to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, or when the GHREFNER  NeREERERBAE
financial asset and substantially all of its risks and rewards DR R B2 EER AR LR o SF
are transferred. A financial liability is derecognised when it is BENEER - #BR - BUHZEIBIR AR
extinguished, discharged, cancelled or expires. LEFERR

Financial assets SRIEE

Classification and initial measurement of financial assets CRIEEZ SR E

Except for those trade receivables that do not contain a significant BRIl iR B KRR K ) BRSBTS
financing component and are measured at the transaction price EERFBISRIKRERE LA HAKRAL
in accordance with HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with B SERFTEZRBETIN  FTES
Customers”, all financial assets are initially measured at fair value, BEE VISR AT ERE W&
in case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss E IR AT EF ABxm (TR AT ER
("FVTPL"), plus transaction costs that are directly attributable to ABz]) - BN EEERERWEZS
the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial REENR KA « AT EFABR
assets carried at FVTPL are expensed in the consolidated statement ZEREENR KRR ETRRX
of profit or loss. 84 °

Financial assets, other than those designated and effective as HEMBBEH T EIIZ EREED
hedging instruments, are classified into the following categories: A THIERR

- amortised cost; - ERESEARAGTE

- FVIPL or - HBATERAEZ %

— fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI"). - mEAFEFAHEMEEKE ([

ANHEFAREMEEKER])

The classification is determined by both: DFTHIRIE T RMIEEE

—  the entity’s business model for managing the financial asset; - ERTEEHEHESBEECKZRE
and ®: B

—  the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset. - SRBEEZENRSREREH -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
R e IS ERR M5

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE-Z-=F+-A=+—HLFE

2. EXRESHBEME @)

2. Summary of Material Accounting Policies
(Continued)

2.8 Financial instruments

28 TEITA

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and initial measurement of financial assets
(Continued)

All income and expenses relating to financial assets that are
recognised in profit or loss are presented within finance costs or
other revenue, except for expected credit losses (“ECL") of trade
and other receivables which is presented as a separate item in
profit or loss.

Subsequent measurement of financial assets

Debt investments

Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets are measured at amortised cost if the assets meet
the following conditions (and are not designated as FVTPL):

—  they are held within a business model whose objective is
to hold the financial assets and collect its contractual cash
flows; and

—  the contractual terms of the financial assets give rise to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.

After initial recognition, these are measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method. Interest income from these financial
assets is included in other revenue in profit or loss. Discounting
is omitted where the effect of discounting is immaterial. The
Group's time deposits, short-term bank deposits, bank balances
and cash and trade and other receivables fall into this category of
financial instruments.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that are held within a difference business model
other than “hold to collect” or “hold to collect and sell” are
categorised at FVTPL. Further, irrespective of business model,
financial assets whose contractual cash flows are not solely
payments of principal and interest are accounted for at FVTPL.
The Group'’s principal protected deposits fall into this category of
financial instruments.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
T E BTSRRI EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE-—SE-—=F+-A=+—HIEE

2. Summary of Material Accounting Policies 2. ERSFHHERBE (&)
(Continued)
2.8 Financial instruments (Continued) 28 £@MIE
Financial liabilities LRIBE
Classification and measurement of financial liabilities THREZTERSE
The Group's financial liabilities include trade and other payables, AEEZ A RDERMER R
interest-bearing borrowings and lease liabilities. ENZE  MEEEREERE -
Financial liabilities (other than lease liabilities) are initially measured TRAERTHEEARR NFRAF
at fair value, and, where applicable, adjusted for transaction costs 1B (R (M@ R) SRR ZA T AR E) &t
unless the Group designated a financial liability at FVTPL. B EAKEREE SR A TE ARG
Z e REERRIN o
Subsequently, financial liabilities (other than lease liabilities) are Hiz  eReEGTHERB ERE
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method BRFIR R IL B SHPRART & - HER S
except for derivatives which are not designated as hedging BERRBIEEREF TANITAETAR
instruments in hedge relationships and financial liabilities EEREAFEFABRSNERA &R
designated at FVTPL, which are carried subsequently at fair value HN - REFERIR D TEFIER - WaasiE
with gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. BB ER -
All interest-related charges and, if applicable, changes in an FIARNBHERNE®R 2 SHBER K
instrument’s fair value that are reported in profit or loss are (@) TARAFEZ #BRUHE
included within finance costs. ARALR -
Accounting policies of lease liabilities are set out in note 2.13. HEB BN SHERRENHE2.13 -
Interest-bearing borrowings MEEE
Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, Mt ERITE ERVIRAFENRIZZK
net of transaction costs incurred. Interest-bearing borrowings are RFER o g BRI TEEIREHA A
subsequently stated at amortised cost; any difference between the HIER ¢ TS RE (1B R S AN) EiE o)
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is BEZHEMEERNESHNERE
recognised in profit or loss over the period of the borrowings using PRAZEMN B R AR

the effective interest method.

Interest-bearing borrowings are classified as current liabilities BRIEREEES B EFEERZRE
unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of AMEEL12EAXNARE - &AM
the liability for at least twelve months after the reporting date. BEEERRRBALR -

Trade and other payables JEITERF R A M JENT R

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at their fair value JEAS BR AR N Bt B (A R IB ) AR A A
and subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective TR - Bz A A BRR A ROA LB
interest method. AEHE ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. Summary of Material Accounting Policies
(Continued)

2.9

Impairment of financial assets

HKFRS 9's impairment requirements use forward-looking
information to recognise ECL — the “ECL model”. Instruments
within the scope included loans and other debt-type financial assets
measured at amortised cost and trade and other receivables.

The Group considers a broader range of information when
assessing credit risk and measuring ECL, including past events,
current conditions, reasonable and supportable forecasts that
affect the expected collectability of the future cash flows of the
instrument.

In applying this forward-looking approach, a distinction is made
between:

—  financial instruments that have not deteriorated significantly
in credit quality since initial recognition or that have low
credit risk (“Stage 1”) and

—  financial instruments that have deteriorated significantly in
credit quality since initial recognition and whose credit risk is
not low (“Stage 2”).

“Stage 3" would cover financial assets that have objective
evidence of impairment at the reporting date.

“12-month ECL"” are recognised for the Stage 1 category while
“lifetime ECL" are recognised for the Stage 2 category.

Measurement of the ECL is determined by a probability-weighted
estimate of credit losses over the expected life of the financial
instrument.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
T E BTSRRI EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE-—SE-—=F+-A=+—HIEE

2. EXRSTHHBERME &)

2. Summary of Material Accounting Policies
(Continued)

2.9 Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

29 TEREEREGE

Trade receivables

The Group applies a simplified approach in calculating ECL
and recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECL at each
reporting date. These are the expected shortfalls in contractual
cash flows, considering the potential for default at any point
during the life of the financial assets. In calculating the ECL, the
Group has established a provision matrix that is based on its
historical credit loss experience and external indicators, adjusted
for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the
economic environment.

To measure the ECL, trade receivables have been grouped based
on shared credit risk characteristics and the days past due.

Other financial assets measured at amortised cost

The Group measures the loss allowance for other receivables
equal to 12-month ECL, unless when there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, in which case the
Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime
ECL should be recognised is based on significant increase in the
likelihood or risk of default occurring since initial recognition.

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial assets at the reporting date with the risk
of default occurring on the financial assets at the date of initial
recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers both
guantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when
assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly:

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial
instrument’s external (if available) or internal credit rating;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. Summary of Material Accounting Policies
(Continued)

2.9

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Other financial assets measured at amortised cost (Continued)

—  significant deterioration in external market indicators of
credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread, the
credit default swap prices for the debtor;

—  existing or forecast adverse changes in regulatory, business,
financial, economic conditions, or technological environment
that are expected to cause a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations; and

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group
presumes that the credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition when contractual payments are more than 90
days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk
on a debt instrument has not increased significantly since initial
recognition if the debt instrument is determined to have low
credit risk at the end of each reporting period. A debt instrument
is determined to have low credit risk if it has a low risk of
default, the borrower has strong capacity to meet its contractual
cash flow obligations in the near term and adverse changes in
economic and business conditions in the longer term may, but
will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfill its
contractual cash flow obligations.

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an
event of default occurs when information developed internally or
obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely
to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking
into account any collateral held by the Group).

Detailed analysis of the ECL assessment of trade receivables and
other financial assets measured at amortised cost are set out in
note 31.2.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
T E BTSRRI EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE-—SE-—=F+-A=+—HIEE

2. EXRSTHHBERME &)

2. Summary of Material Accounting Policies
(Continued)

2.10 Inventories 2.10 &8

2.1

2.12

2.13

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less the estimated cost of completion
and applicable selling expenses.

Cost is determined using the weighted average basis, and in
the case of work in progress and finished goods, comprise
direct materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of
overheads. It excludes borrowing costs.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank and in hand,
demand deposits with banks and short term highly liquid
investments with original maturities of three months or less that
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays
consideration before the Group recognises the related revenue.
A contract liability would also be recognised if the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration before the Group
recognises the related revenue. In such cases, a corresponding
receivable would also be recognised.

Leases

Definition of a lease and the Group as a lessee

At inception of a contract, the Group considers whether a
contract is, or contains a lease. A lease is defined as ‘a contract,
or part of a contract, that conveys the right to use an identified
asset (the underlying asset) for a period of time in exchange
for consideration’. To apply this definition, the Group assesses
whether the contract meets three key evaluations which are
whether:

—  the contract contains an identified asset, which is either
explicitly identified in the contract or implicitly specified by
being identified at the time the asset is made available to the
Group;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

= +
iRe SR M A

For the year ended 31 December 2023

Hz= == — B = JrEllEegE

2. Summary of Material Accounting Policies 2. EREFTHERBE (B
(Continued)

2.13 Leases (Continued) 2.13 #HE (&)

Definition of a lease and the Group as a lessee (Continued)

—  the Group has the right to obtain substantially all of
the economic benefits from use of the identified asset
throughout the period of use, considering its rights within
the defined scope of the contract; and

—  the Group has the right to direct the use of the identified
asset throughout the period of use. The Group assesses
whether it has the right to direct ‘how and for what purpose’
the asset is used throughout the period of use.

For contracts that contains a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the contract to each lease and non-lease
component on the basis of their relative stand-alone prices.

Measurement and recognition of leases as a lessee

At lease commencement date, the Group recognises a right-
of-use asset and a lease liability on the consolidated statement
of financial position. The right-of-use asset is measured at cost,
which is made up of the initial measurement of the lease liability,
any initial direct costs incurred by the Group, an estimate of any
costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset at the end of
the lease, and any lease payments made in advance of the lease
commencement date (net of any incentives received).

The Group depreciates the right-of-use assets on a straight-line
basis from the lease commencement date to the earlier of the end
of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end of the lease
term unless the Group is reasonably certain to obtain ownership
at the end of the lease term. The Group also assess the right-of-
use asset for impairment when such indicator exists.

At the commencement date, the Group measures the lease liability
at the present value of the lease payments unpaid at that date,
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that
rate cannot be readily determined, or the Group’s incremental
borrowing rate.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE-—SE-—=F+-A=+—HIEE

2. Summary of Material Accounting Policies 2. EREFTHRBE (@)

(Continued)

2.13 Leases (Continued) 2.13 HE (&)
Measurement and recognition of leases as a lessee (Continued) B RERIEAEAANHE ()
Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability Rt 2HE R ERFANEENRERE
are made up of fixed payments (including in-substance fixed RR I B A RS E B E AR (B4
payment) less any lease incentives receivable, variable payments B B E AR B A U E B &
based on an index or rate, amounts expected to be payable under AI BTN - Mk & RATEHAREISREE
a residual value guarantee. The lease payments also included BRI - HENFNBREREEES
the exercise price of a purchase option reasonable certain to be B TATREVEE B TR B R4 E
exercised by the Group and payment of penalties for terminating HESMMES  MZHEFHREA
a lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising the option SEITERIESHRRERE -

to terminate.

Subsequent to initial measurement, the liability will be reduced pstER - AEHEEEEREENK

for payments made and increased for interest cost on the lease s - BEeEBE& ENFESKART

liability. It is remeasured to reflect any reassessment or lease BN BESEFTEURMAMNER

modification, or if there are changes in in-substance fixed FHE A SIS - B E E T A

payments. The variable lease payments that do not depend on an b o TEKRBIE BT R A ] FHHE (K

index or a rate are recognised as expense in the period on which 75 1A HH R A 25 5 SRR B B A R R SR

the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs. B e

The Group remeasures lease liabilities whenever: AEEEANMEREHERRETERN

S

—  there are changes in lease term or in the assessment of — THEEAMEESTEEERERE
exercise of a purchase option, in which case the related M mEEEl  EEEBR
lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised T - BREEAE A EALE
lease payments using a revised discount rate at the date of I HTIR BB E TR WA E K
reassessment. HEITRER - ENFIEMEENEE

8f&E-

—  the lease payments changes due to changes in market rental — ERIFEEMEILT HEMNK
rates following a market rent review/expected payment RETMHASESE TBHRAR
under a guaranteed residual value, in which cases the related EMHEHESENEME LS
lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease b EEBBERLT - EAPBH
payments using the initial discount rate. IR RE S TR N RUETT

BRI EXIEEBENEES
f& o

For lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate HRAEAEBHEARNHEZE -

lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability based on the AEBREBEESHENNEEHR - &£

lease term of the modified lease by discounting the revised lease 18R B B S FT RO IR R 4

payments using a revised discount rate at the effective date of BTSN FCETTINR - KMEH

modification. FTEHEERE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. Summary of Material Accounting Policies
(Continued)

2.13

2.14

Leases (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of leases as a lessee (Continued)
When the lease is remeasured, the corresponding adjustment is
reflected in the right-of-use asset, or profit and loss if the right-of-
use asset is already reduced to zero.

The Group has elected to account for short-term leases using the
practical expedients. Instead of recognising a right-of-use asset
and lease liability, the payments in relation to these lease are
recognised as an expense in profit or loss on a straight-line basis
over the lease term. Short-term leases are leases with a lease term
of 12 month or less.

The prepaid lease payments for leasehold land are included as
“Right-of-use assets” under non-current assets.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation
(legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, and it is probable
that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation
can be made. Where the time value of money is material,
provisions are stated at the present value of the expenditure
expected to settle the obligation.

All provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to
reflect the current best estimate.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible
obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future uncertain
events not wholly within the control of the Group, are also
disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow
of economic benefits is remote.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
T E BTSRRI EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE-—SE-—=F+-A=+—HIEE

2. Summary of Material Accounting Policies 2. EREFTHRBE (@)

(Continued)

2.15 Share capital 2.15 A
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Share capital is recognised LB AR - RATERAE
at the amount of consideration of shares issued, after deducting T 2 R EER ER EEEETAR 5 4
any transaction costs associated with the issuing of shares (net of B 2 22 5 AR (F0RR (e 4B B P AS- A A
any related income tax benefit) to the extent they are incremental ) MAER G AB BB R
costs directly attributable to the equity transaction. SBRZATEX AR BR -

2.16 Revenue recognition 2.16 W ARERE
Revenue arises mainly from manufacturing and selling of WA 22K B A2 M SHE B RARGEEE
medicines and healthcare products. m °
To determine whether to recognise revenue, the Group follows a REED A ELSRET S HERIA

5-step process:

1. Identifying the contract with a customer 1. BAEERPHEL

2. Identifying the performance obligations 2. HBRBHNEMF

3. Determining the transaction price 3. EEXRSERK

4. Allocating the transaction price to the performance 4. RBARESERZER
obligations

5. Recognising revenue when/as performance obligation(s) are 5. B /UBEERAEARBRITRER
satisfied WA

In all cases, the total transaction price for a contract is allocated REFEBAT - BRRZFERES

amongst the various performance obligations based on their BB cEBRESRTEEHENE

relative stand-alone selling prices. The transaction price for a o BHZRGBEIEEREE =TI

contract excludes any amounts collected on behalf of third parties. Bz AR

Revenue is recognised either at a point in time or over time, when 2 GkEE) AEEEB K AGEE MR

(or as) the Group satisfies performance obligations by transferring BEZETEFMBITRAEMER - A

the promised goods or services to its customers. AR — IS B R S AR — R R TR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. Summary of Material Accounting Policies
(Continued)

2.16

2.17

Revenue recognition (Continued)
Further details of the Group’s revenue and other income
recognition policies are as follows:

Sales of goods

Revenue from manufacturing and selling of medicines and
healthcare products and medical devices for which control of assets
is transferred at a point in time is recognised when the goods are
delivered to customers. The Group provides sales return policies to
customers, and the amount of sales return was insignificant.

Interest income
Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis using the
effective interest method.

Licence fee income
Licence fee income is recognised on an accrual basis in accordance
with the substance of the relevant agreement.

Government subsidies

Subsidies from the government are recognised at their fair value
where there is a reasonable assurance that the subsidies will be
received and the Group will comply with all attached conditions.
Government subsidies are deferred and recognised in profit or
loss over the period necessary to match them with the costs that
the subsidies are intended to compensate. Government subsidies
relating to the purchase of assets are deducted from the carrying
amount of the asset and consequently are effectively recognised
in profit or loss over the useful life of the asset by way of reduced
depreciation expense.

Government subsidies relating to income is presented in gross
under “Other revenue and other net income” in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
T E BTSRRI EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE-—SE-—=F+-A=+—HIEE

2. Summary of Material Accounting Policies 2. ERSFHHERBE (&)

(Continued)

2.18 Impairment of non-financial assets 2.18 FERMEERE
Intangible assets, property, plant and equipment, right-of- BIVEE W% WERSRE - ERE
use assets (including prepaid lease payments), goodwill arising BE (BEENHEEFER) - B WEHE
on acquisition of a subsidiary and the Company’s interests in NAFMEENEERAREIRHE AT
subsidiaries are subject to impairment testing. Bt B TRVE IR °
Goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite useful life or P R H M & EE N BR TR AT R A
those not yet available for use are tested for impairment at least HASK R AT AR AR - RIS RS IR A
annually, irrespective of whether there is any indication that they ARENR - HAERDGFETRER
are impaired. All other assets are tested for impairment whenever A - A EEREURETEER
there are indications that the asset’s carrying amount may not be B AREEREITRERE -

recoverable.

An impairment loss is recognised as an expense immediately for REEIE iR A EREERBE R IKE
the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its RESHE =5 AR ARST - 7
recoverable amount. Recoverable amount is the higher of fair WE B ARMT N2 AT EREEX
value, reflecting market conditions less costs of disposal, and value AREFREERSETE - fHMLERE
in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows B (Gt R RIR S RSB AT
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate RERPIPEHIRE - ARBRIBR 5%
that reflects current market assessment of time value of money cRERELAREBEERARR 2T
and the risk specific to the asset. fily o

For the purposes of assessing impairment, where an asset does HAHEREMN S - MAEERESRAZ
not generate cash inflows largely independent from those from BERSBHBEINEMERE - Ealig
other assets, the recoverable amount is determined for the SHAIEA BYELR S TANSRIE
smallest group of assets that generate cash inflows independently ERE QREEESN)ET - ALt
(i.e., a cash-generating unit). As a result, some assets are M EEREBETRENR - SHM0
tested individually for impairment and some are tested at cash- ARR e EESMA - BEEEEN
generating unit level. Corporate assets are allocated to individual HPIEIE B —B A D AL B S B R (E
cash-generating units, when a reasonable and consistent basis PR EEEBMN - BRI EEAHA
of allocation can be identified, or otherwise they are allocated AEA—BNORERNR/NESEE
to the smallest group of cash-generating units for which a B4R o HRIREE - @ ORER
reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified. B[RS TS & O 2 i R e i
Goodwill in particular is allocated to those cash-generating units BREAEBARNAAEEIEE B e
that are expected to benefit from synergies of the related business BB KEEBRZBESELEMN (TF
combination and represent the lowest level within the Group at AR E D EB) ©

which the goodwill is monitored for internal management purpose
and not be larger than an operating segment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. Summary of Material Accounting Policies
(Continued)

2.18

2.19

Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

Impairment losses recognised for cash-generating units, to which
goodwill has been allocated, are credited initially to the carrying
amount of goodwill. Any remaining impairment loss is charged
pro rata to the other assets in the cash generating unit, except
that the carrying value of an asset will not be reduced below
its individual fair value less cost of disposal, or value in use, if
determinable.

An impairment loss on goodwill is not reversed in subsequent
periods. In respect of other assets, an impairment loss is reversed
if there has been a favourable change in the estimates used to
determine the asset’s recoverable amount and only to the extent
that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or
amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.

Impairment losses recognised in an interim period in respect of
goodwill are not reversed in a subsequent period. This is the case
even if no loss, or a smaller loss, would have been recognised had
the impairment been assessed only at the end of the financial year
to which the interim period relates.

Employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits and contributions to central pension
scheme

The Group participates in the central pension scheme (the
“CPS") operated by the local government authority for all of
its employees in the PRC. The Group is required to contribute a
certain percentage of their covered payroll to the CPS to fund the
benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to the
CPS is to pay the ongoing required contributions under the CPS.
Contributions under the CPS are recognised in profit or loss as
they become payable in accordance with the rules of the CPS.

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave and contributions
to central pension scheme are accrued in the year in which the
associated services are rendered by employees. Where payment
or settlement is deferred and the effect would be material, these
amounts are stated at their present values.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
T E BTSRRI EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE-—SE-—=F+-A=+—HIEE

2. EXRSTHHBERME &)

2. Summary of Material Accounting Policies

(Continued)

2.20

2.21

2.22

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are expensed when incurred.

Foreign currency translation

In the individual financial statements of the consolidated entities,
foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional
currency of the individual entity using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At the reporting date,
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at that date.
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement
of such transactions and from the reporting date retranslation of
monetary assets and liabilities are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost
in a foreign currency are not retranslated (i.e. only translated using
the exchange rates at the transaction date).

Accounting for income taxes
Income tax comprises current tax and deferred tax.

Current income tax assets and/or liabilities comprise those
obligations to, or claims from, fiscal authorities relating to the
current or prior reporting period, that are unpaid at the reporting
date. They are calculated according to the tax rates and tax laws
applicable to the fiscal periods to which they relate, based on the
taxable profit for the year. All changes to current tax assets or
liabilities are recognised as a component of tax expense in profit
or loss.

Deferred tax is calculated using the liability method on temporary
differences at the reporting date between the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial statements
and their respective tax bases. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax
assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences,
tax losses available to be carried forward as well as other unused
tax credits, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit,
including existing taxable temporary differences, will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences, unused tax
losses and unused tax credits can be utilised.

2.20
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
miE=F=c= == AIFE

2. EXRESHBEME @)

2. Summary of Material Accounting Policies
(Continued)

2.22 Accounting for income taxes (Continued)

2.22 g2 B 5 ()

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from goodwill or from initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of assets
and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither taxable nor
accounting profit or loss and does not give rise to equal taxable
and deductible temporary differences.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except where
the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that the temporary differences will
not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax is calculated, without discounting, at tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period the liability is settled or the asset
realised, provided they are enacted or substantively enacted at the
reporting date.

Changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities are recognised in
profit or loss, or in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity if they relate to items that are charged or credited to other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and current tax liabilities are presented in net if,
and only if:

(@ the Group has the legally enforceable right to set off the
recognised amounts; and

(b) intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset
and settle the liability simultaneously.

The Group presents deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities
in net if, and only if:

(@) the entity has a legally enforceable right to set off current
tax assets against current tax liabilities; and
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
T E BTSRRI EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE-—SE-—=F+-A=+—HIEE

2. Summary of Material Accounting Policies 2. ERSFHHERBE (&)
(Continued)
2.22 Accounting for income taxes (Continued) 2.22 Fif8Bi 285t 5% ()

(b) the deferred tax assets and the deferred tax liabilities relate (b) IRFEFIAE FERIRFET I & &
to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on [ — R BIARA L LA T (B ] —IE&K
either: Wz FriSTi B RE
(i) the same taxable entity; or () [E—ERHEE =X
(i) different taxable entities which intend either to settle (i BENFEIELELE AR

current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to BABEHEENRARERE
realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, EREBEBENTRERM
in each future period in which significant amounts £ REBEEHARKID
of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be BB IEBEREESEE
settled or recovered. ST AEE SR E -

2.23 Segment Reporting 2.23 ZHEBE R

The Group identifies operating segments and prepares segment REETFHRARNTESRENLHBE

information based on the regular internal financial information B DA S RN B TS A K B0 B

reported to the executive directors for their decisions about BRDEIERTE » URBEEERNZE

resources allocation to the Group’s business components and HEX ORI - MAKEAIREZE
for their review of the performance of those components. The BERE D EED T REHDEELR o [
business components in the internal financial information reported PITESWME 2 N M B E R B ZETEH
to the executive directors are determined following the Group’s FEBD - THKBRAE B ZIEEBHIRIR
various lines of business. EBE -

2.24 Related parties 224 BEAT

For the purposes of these consolidated financial statements, a MEREMIBImERME - A AT ERMER

party is considered to be related to the Group if: ATHRBEAREEFMEE

(@) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s (@) ZBALTHZBATRELR -
family and if that person: sz B AT
(i)  has control or joint control over the Group; () HAREEHGEG KR

R
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or (iy HAEEFERTEN : 3K
(iiiy is a member of the key management personnel of the (i) ARNEENAEE{ATE
Group or of a parent of the Group. ZEIREKE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. Summary of Material Accounting Policies
(Continued)

2.24 Related parties (Continued)

(b)

the party is an entity and if any of the following conditions

applies:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of
a group of which the other entity is a member);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same
third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity);
and

the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to
the Group or to the parent of the Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by,
that person in their dealings with the entity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
T E BTSRRI EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE-—SE-—=F+-A=+—HIEE

Adoption of New and Amended HKFRSs

New and amended HKFRSs that are effective for annual periods
beginning on 1 January 2023

In the current year, the Group has applied for the first time the
following new and amended HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA, which
are relevant to the Group's operations and effective for the Group's
consolidated financial statements for the annual period beginning on 1
January 2023:

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and related
amendments
Amendments to HKAS 1 and Disclosure of Accounting Policies
HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction

Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform — Pillar Two
Model Rules

Except for those mentioned below, the adoption of the new and
amended HKFRSs had no material impact on how the results and
financial position for the current and prior periods have been prepared
and presented.

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2
“Disclosure of Accounting Policies”

Amendments to HKAS 1 require entities to disclose material accounting
policy information instead of significant accounting policies in its
financial statements. Accounting policy information is material if,
when considered together with other information included in an
entity’s financial statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence
decisions that the primary users of general purpose financial statements
make on the basis of those financial statements. The amendments
also provide some guidance on how material policy information are
being identified and provide some examples of when accounting policy
information is likely to be material.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Adoption of New and Amended HKFRSs
(Continued)

New and amended HKFRSs that are effective for annual periods
beginning on 1 January 2023

In March 2021, HKICPA issued HKFRS Practice Statement 2 “Making
Materiality Judgements” to provide entities with non-mandatory
guidance on how to make materiality judgements when preparing their
general purpose financial statements in accordance with HKFRS. HKFRS
Practice Statement 2 was subsequently revised to provide guidance and
examples on how to apply the concept of materiality to accounting
policy disclosures.

The amendments to HKAS 1 are applied by the Group on 1 January
2023 and are applied prospectively. The amendments have no impact
on the Group’s financial positions and performance but has affected the
accounting policies disclosures as set out in note 2 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 8 “Definition of Accounting Estimates”

The amendments clarify how entities should distinguish changes
in accounting policies from changes in accounting estimates by
introducing a definition for accounting estimates, which is now defined
as “monetary amounts in the financial statements that are subject to
measurement uncertainty”.

Besides, the amendments also clarify the relationship between
accounting policies and accounting estimates by specifying that an
entity develops an accounting estimate to achieve the objective set
out by an accounting policy. Accounting estimates typically involve
the use of judgements or assumptions based on latest available
reliable information. A change in accounting estimate that results
from new information or new development is not correction of an
error. Therefore, the effects of a change in an input or a measurement
technique used to develop an accounting estimate are changes in
accounting estimates if they do not result from the correction of
prior period errors. In addition, two illustrative examples are added to
illustrate how to apply the new definition of accounting estimates.

The amendments are applied by the Group on 1 January 2023 and
are applied prospectively. The amendments have no impact on the
consolidated financial statements of the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
T E BTSRRI EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE-—SE-—=F+-A=+—HIEE

Adoption of New and Amended HKFRSs
(Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 12 - Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction

The amendments clarify that the initial recognition exemption of
deferred tax in HKAS 12 “Income Taxes” does not apply to transactions
that give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences,
such as lease contracts that give rise to the recognition of a lease liability
and the corresponding right-of-use assets and contracts that give rise
to the recognition of decommissioning obligations and corresponding
amounts recognised as assets. Instead, entities are required to recognise
the related deferred tax asset and liability on initial recognition, with the
recognition of any deferred tax asset being subject to the recoverability
criteria in HKAS 12 “Income Taxes”.

The Group adopted the amendments from 1 January 2023 and are
required to recognise the associated deferred tax assets and liabilities
from leases that occurred on or after 1 January 2022, with any
cumulative effect recognised as an adjustment to retained profits at
that date.

Prior to the application of the amendments, the Group had recognised
the deferred tax assets and liabilities arising from leases on a net
basis. Following the requirements of the amendments, the Group has
recognised a separate deferred tax asset in relation to its lease liabilities
and a deferred tax liability in relation to its right-of-use assets as at
1 January 2022. As the balances are qualified for offset under
paragraph 74 of HKAS 12, there is no material impact on the opening
retained profits as at 1 January 2022 as a result of the amendments.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Adoption of New and Amended HKFRSs
(Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 12 - International Tax Reform - Pillar Two
Model Rules

The amendments provide mandatory temporary relief from accounting
for deferred tax arising from the Organisation for Economic Co-
operation and Development’s Pillar Two model rules (i.e. global
minimum tax rules designed to ensure that large multinational business
pay a minimum effective rate of tax of 15% on profits in all countries)
(“Pillar Two Model Rules”). Entities shall apply this temporary exception
immediately and retrospectively upon issuance of the amendments and
disclose the fact of the application.

Besides, the amendments also introduce additional disclosure
requirements to help users of financial statements to understand an
entity’s exposure to income taxes arising from the Pillar Two Model
Rules. These disclosure are required in periods in which the legislation
for Pillar Two Model Rules is enacted or substantially enacted but not
yet in effect in annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January
2023.

The amendments have no impact on the consolidated financial
statements because the Group does not fall into the scope of the Pillar
Two Model Rules.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
T E BTSRRI EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE-—SE-—=F+-A=+—HIEE

3. Adoption of New and Amended HKFRSs
(Continued)

Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs

At the date of authorisation of these consolidated financial statements,
certain new and amended HKFRSs have been published but are not yet
effective, and have not been adopted early by the Group.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between

and HKAS 28 an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture?

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback!

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current and related amendments
to Hong Kong Interpretation 5'

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants’

Amendments to HKAS 7 and  Supplier Finance Arrangements'
HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?

. Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025

3 Effective date not yet determined
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Adoption of New and Amended HKFRSs
(Continued)

Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs (Continued)

The directors anticipate that all of the pronouncements will be adopted
in the Group’s accounting policy for the first period beginning on or
after the effective date of the pronouncement. Information on new
and amended HKFRSs that are expected to have impact on the Group's
accounting policies is provided below. Other new and amended HKFRSs
are not expected to have a material impact on the Group's consolidated
financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

The amendments remove an acknowledged inconsistency between
the requirements in HKFRS 10 “Consolidated Financial Statements”
and those in HKAS 28 “Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures”
in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets between an investor
and its associate or joint venture and require that a full gain or loss
is recognised when a transaction involves a business (whether it is
housed in a subsidiary or not). A partial gain or loss is recognised when
a transaction involves assets that do not constitute a business, even if
these assets are housed in a subsidiary.

The effective date of the amendments has been postponed indefinitely
with earlier adoption permitted. The directors expect that the
amendments have no material impact on the consolidated financial
statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
T E BTSRRI EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE-—SE-—=F+-A=+—HIEE

Adoption of New and Amended HKFRSs
(Continued)

Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs (Continued)
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

The amendments specify that, in subsequent measurement of the
lease liability arising from a sale and leaseback transaction (where
the transaction qualifies as a sale under HKFRS 15), a seller-lessee
determines “lease payments” and “revised lease payments” in a way
that does not result in the recognition of a gain or loss that relates to
the right of use it retains. It would reduce the lease liability as if the
“lease payments” estimated at the date of transaction had been paid.
Any difference between those lease payments and the amounts actually
paid is recognised in profit or loss. The amendments do not prescribe
a particular method of subsequent measurement. The seller-lessee will
need to develop and apply an accounting policy that results in relevant
and reliable information in accordance with HKAS 8.

The illustrative examples to HKFRS 16 have also been amended.
Example 24 now illustrates a sale and leaseback transaction with fixed
payments and above-market terms. A new Example 25 illustrates a
sale and leaseback transaction with variable lease payments that do
not depend on an index or rate. The illustrative examples also clarify
that the liability, that arise from a sale and leaseback transaction that
qualifies as a sale applying HKFRS 15, is a lease liability.

Amendments to HKFRS 16 are effective for annual reporting period
beginning on or after 1 January 2024 and are applied by seller-lessee
retrospectively to sale and leaseback transactions entered into after the
date of initial application of HKFRS 16). Earlier application is permitted.
The directors of the Group expect that the amendments have no
material impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Adoption of New and Amended HKFRSs
(Continued)

Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current and related amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5
The amendments provide further guidance to clarify how to classify
debt and other liabilities as current or non-current which are
summarised as follows:

e It clarifies that a liability is non-current if an entity has a right
(instead of unconditional right as stated before the amendments)
to defer settlement of the liability for at least twelve months from
the end of the reporting period. This right has to be existed at the
end of the reporting period, regardless of whether the lender tests
for compliance at the date or at a later date;

e Any expectations about events after the reporting period do not
impact the assessment made at the end of the reporting period as
to the classification of the liability; and

o “Settlements” are newly defined as a transfer to the counterparty
that results in the extinguishment of the liability. The transfer
could be of cash, other economic resources (e.g. goods or
services), or entity’s own equity instruments. Thus, if the
counterparty conversion option is classified as liability under
HKAS 32 “Financial Instruments: Presentation”, the transfer of
equity instruments by exercising the conversion option constitute
settlement of liability for the purpose of current or non-current
classification of liabilities. One exception to the definition is that
if the counterparty conversion option is classified as equity in
accordance with HKAS 32, the transfer of equity instruments by
exercising the conversion option does not constitute settlement of
liability and would be disregarded when determining whether the
liability is current or non-current.

2022 Amendments issued in 2022 clarified that only covenants of a
liability arising from a loan arrangement, which an entity must comply
with on or before the reporting date (even if the covenant is only
assessed after the reporting date) affect the classification of that liability
as current or non-current. Those covenants to be complied with after
the reporting date do not affect such classification at the reporting
date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
T E BTSRRI EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE-—SE-—=F+-A=+—HIEE

Adoption of New and Amended HKFRSs
(Continued)

Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current and related amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5
(Continued)

Besides, the 2022 Amendments required an entity to provide additional
disclosure when a liability arising from a loan agreement is classified as
non-current and the entity’s right to defer settlement is contingent on
compliance with future covenants within twelve months.

The 2022 Amendments also deferred the effective date of the 2020
Amendments to the annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2024, in which both amendments are to be applied as a
package and apply retrospectively. Earlier application is permitted.

Based on the Group’s outstanding liabilities as at 31 December 2023
the application of 2020 and 2022 Amendments will not result in
reclassification of the Group’s liabilities.

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangements

The amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 clarify the characteristics of
supplier finance arrangement (“SFA”) and require additional disclosures
to enhance the transparency of SFAs and their effects on an entity’s
liabilities, cash flows and exposure to liquidity risk.

The additional disclosures required by the amendments complement
the existing disclosures in HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7. They require entities to
disclose:

e  the terms and conditions of the arrangement;

e the amount of the liabilities that are part of the arrangement,
breaking out the amounts for which the suppliers have already
received payment from the finance providers, and stating where
the liabilities are included on the statement of financial position;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Adoption of New and Amended HKFRSs
(Continued)

Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangements
(Continued)

o ranges of payment due dates; and

e liquidity risk information.

The amendments, with certain specific transition reliefs, are applicable
for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024.
Earlier application is permitted. The directors of the Group expect that
the amendments have no material impact on the consolidated financial
statements because the Group does not have SFA.

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability

The amendments to HKAS 21 clarify the approach that should be
taken by entities when they are reporting foreign currency transactions,
translating foreign operations, or presenting financial statements in
a different currency, and there is a long-term lack of exchangeability
between the relevant currencies.

The amendments:

a) introduce a definition of whether a currency is exchangeable and
the process by which an entity should assess this exchangeability
(i.e. a currency is exchangeable when there is an ability to obtain
the other currency (with a normal administrative delay), and the
transaction would take place through a market or exchange
mechanism that creates enforceable rights and obligations); and

b) set out a framework under which an entity can determine the
spot exchange rate at the measurement date (by an observable
exchange rate without adjustment or another estimation
technique) when a currency lacks exchangeability.

Besides, the amendments also require an entity to disclose the
additional information when it estimates a spot exchange rate due to
lack of exchangeability.

The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2025. Earlier application is permitted. The directors of the
Group expect that the amendments have no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE-—SE-—=F+-A=+—HIEE

Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on
historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future
events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

Estimation uncertainty

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future.
The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal
the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed
below:

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets are tested for
impairment whenever there are indications that the asset’s carrying
amount may not be recoverable. The recoverable amount of an asset is
the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset, which requires significant judgement relating to the level of
revenue and the amount of operating costs. The Group uses all readily
available information in determining an amount that is a reasonable
approximation of the recoverable amount, including estimates based
on reasonable and supportable assumptions and projections of
revenue and operating costs. Changes in these estimates could have
a significant impact on the carrying amounts of the assets and could
result in additional impairment charge or reversal of impairment
in future periods. The carrying amounts of the property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets as at the end of the reporting period
are RMB203,570,000 (2022: RMB207,674,000) and RMB81,003,000
(2022: RMB91,830,000) respectively.

Expected crediit loss on trade and other receivables

The Group makes allowances on items subjects to ECL (including trade
and other receivables) based on assumptions about risk of default
and expected loss rates. The Group uses judgement in making these
assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation,
based on the Group’s past history, existing market conditions as well
as forward looking estimates at the end of each reporting period as set
out in note 2.9.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements
(Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Expected credit loss on trade and other receivables (Continued)

As at 31 December 2023, the aggregate carrying amounts of trade
receivables and other receivables (excluding prepayment and value-
added tax recoverable) amounted to RMB227,217,000 (2022:
RMB205,021,000) (net of ECL allowance of RMB22,771,000 (2022:
RMB24,120,000)) and RMB65,008,000 (2022: RMB87,078,000) (net of
ECL allowance of RMB2,090,000 (2022: RMB1,825,000)) respectively.

When the actual future cash flows are different from expected, such
difference will impact the carrying amount of trade receivables and
other items within the scope of ECL under HKFRS 9 and credit losses in
the periods in which such estimate has been changed.

Write-down of inventories

The Group determines the write-down of inventories with reference to
inventories ageing analysis, projections of expected future saleability
of inventories and the management’s experience and judgement. A
write-down of inventories will be made when the carrying amounts
of inventories decline below their estimated net realisable value. Due
to changes in market conditions, actual saleability of goods may
be different from estimation and profit or loss could be affected by
differences in the estimation. The carrying amounts of inventories
as at the end of the reporting period is RMB205,424,000 (2022:
RMB203,023,000).

Impairment of intangible assets

The Group performs impairment test of intangible assets in accordance
with the accounting policy stated in note 2.18. The recoverable amounts
are the higher of fair value less cost of disposal and value in use. The
calculations of value in use require the use of estimates and assumptions
made by management on the future operation of the business, pre-
tax discount rate and other assumptions underlying the value in use
calculations. The carrying amounts of intangible assets as at the end of
reporting period is RMB122,149,000 (2022: RMB110,400,000).

RYIHBERBFEEYRMBRHOBRDA

fire MR R MY &

For the year ended 31 December 2023
miE=F=c= == AIFE

EZREEE R AE (&)

fAET TR ZE (&)

JEYS AR R B JEYC 5 R TR (5 B 1R (48)
E/\\\:g::ﬁﬂ'—ﬂ :"f’ BH - }_:LI&EE/T/\&
Lt W R T8 (FB A SR8 B AT UK B 456 (B A B
SN Z HBEREE S R A AR®227,217,000
TT(ZE==F : AR¥205,021,0007T) (31
RIEHEEBERENARKE22,771,000
T(ZZE==%F : AR#¥24,120,00071)) &
AR#65,008,000t (ZE==F : AR
#87,078,0007T) (KR TEHAE EBEREE
AR¥2,090,000 L (ZT==F : AR
1,825,0007T)) ©

EEMRRRRESTEARNAMESRER - §
=R B R RTIRIBE BB S 4
Aot mia e e EREE N KhIEE
REBREE LA R A B s B A Z B R E
BEiE o

REELREGFERROIT - YTFEERREH
] 5 & 1 A TEURI LA K 5 22 B A A B K 4 7 DA
EEGFEMR - WEENRAEKREERE
{HET AT B IR HE - HIJZWI@%WTTE@E
B BRTRAIRE LS  BREREE
E’U'F%T%ﬁéﬁiﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁTH i It E T A =
B[ EEn - FERRS HEERNERR
E#HARBE205,424,000(ZE=—4F : 4
AR#203,023,0007T) °

BEEEERE
RIBEFHNHIEE2 18 SFTHUR - AEEEE
FEEADREETREND - AR RS
BAEATEREERAEEBEAET IR
BEREAAREERAEEENARER
EIEFTEL AR R RER - BRESAIITIR XK -
M&ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ AR E S EE AR

c ML EENREHERNEEENA
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
T E BTSRRI EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE-—SE-—=F+-A=+—HIEE

Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements
(Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Impairment of goodwill

The Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered any impairment in
accordance with the accounting policy stated in note 2.18. The recoverable
amounts of cash-generating units have been determined based on value-
in-use calculations. These calculations require the use of estimates about
future cash flows and discount rates. In the process of estimating expected
future cash flows management makes assumptions about future revenue
and profits. These assumptions relate to future events and circumstances.
The actual results may vary and may cause a material adjustment to the
carrying amount of goodwill within the next financial year.

Determining the appropriate discount rate involves estimating the
appropriate adjustment for market risk and for asset specific risk factors
and the estimated cash flows and discount rate are subject to higher
degree of estimation uncertainties. Details of the estimates of the
recoverable amounts of cash generating units containing goodwill are
disclosed in note 17.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group recognised
impairment loss of RMB33,102,000 (2022: Nil) on goodwill to reduce
the carrying amount of goodwill to its recoverable amount. It is
estimated that if the discount rate for the Group’s has increased by
1%, a further impairment loss of RMB7,294,000 would be recognised
against goodwill.

Revenue

Revenue arises mainly from manufacturing and selling of medicines,
healthcare products and medical devices.

EZREHEET R AE (&)

CEROCEEEESC )

B E
REBZRM 218 &5t RS F R
BEADHIREMRE - REELEMNT
WEISBIIERNEREEFELAERE - ZF
AHEABERERARAARRRE R RITREL
fbah o AR EEIARACR SR BIES - &
2 E st AR YR FOsE MEH R, - R ERR
BERREGRIENERM - BERERTEEFE
Z2 - AW EAH TREVREERRE
RRE S RIEMERAE -

HEE 2 BRI R 08 R ST 5 AR S R E &
ERRERNESARETEHE AR
MEERENTHEEERS - E2BENR
SEABM AR E S BN GEFERME7
RIREE -

REBEE_E_=F+_A=+—HIFE "
AEEEREEREEEAR33,102,000
TT(ZZE=—F : &) - UERENEREER
ZHOYREIEEE o [HETiHASEE A BEIR R
MN1% @ HEmBiE—PEIEEREAR
#7,294,0007T °

WA
WAEEREEERHEED  RIEARE
BREH, -

2023 2022

—EBo=5 — T —F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARETTT

Manufacturing and selling of medicines HEEMEE B 576,679 694,840
Sales and distribution of medicines and SHE Ko SHEEm kIR &M

healthcare products 488,182 291,851

1,064,861 986,691

Note:

For the year ended 31 December 2023, revenue included sales of medical devices
of RMB210,674,000 (2022: RMB113,600,000).

Bt -

REBE-_ZT-_=F+_A=1+—HIFE ' KA
BIEEEEMEE N ARE210,674,0007T (—F
——4F : HAREK113,600,0007T) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Segment Reporting

The Group manages its businesses by divisions, which are organised
by a mixture of both business lines (products and services) and
geographical location. In a manner consistent with the way in which
information is reported internally to the Group’s executive directors,
being the chief operating decision maker, for the purpose of resources
allocation and performance assessment, the Group has presented the
following two reportable segments.

(i)  Manufacturing and selling of medicines; and
(i) Sales and distribution of medicines and healthcare products.

Currently, all the Group's activities above are carried out in the PRC. No
reportable operating segment has been aggregated.

The manufacturing and selling of medicines segment derives its revenue
from manufacturing, sales of medicines and medical devices.

The sales and distribution of medicines and healthcare products
segment derives its revenue from sales and distribution of medicines,
healthcare products and medical devices.

RYIHBERBFEEYRMBRHOBRDA

= +
iRe SR M A

For the year ended 31 December 2023

Hz= == — B = JrEllEegE

G EE
ARERA A ERERT - 2 EBIEMIRES
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ARAAEKENRTES (&ZREERRE)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
T E BTSRRI EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE-—SE-—=F+-A=+—HIEE

6. Segment Reporting (Continued) 6. DEPEH(E)

(@) Segment results, assets and liabilities (a)
Segment assets include all current and non-current assets with
the exception of deferred tax assets. Segment liabilities include all
current and non-current liabilities with the exception of current
taxation and deferred tax liabilities.

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable segments
with reference to revenue generated by and the expenses incurred
by those segments except for corporate income and expenses
which are not directly attributable to the business activities of
any reportable segment. Inter-segment revenue are priced with
reference to prices charged to external parties for similar orders.

DEEE - BEERER
DEHEEBEMERDLIFRBEE -
BERREELEHALE - DEHABERE
FrEREBMIERBAE - EFEEAH
BMIEMELEHRIARE

WARRXTIR2ER D BELENK
AN B 855 8B B A 5 S HE B (] 7] BB
BOBOEREDLEERBERNODF
WARZ RSN - DRI ATIZE R
SRS TT WERRY AR RT BV (BB E(E ©

Sales and distribution of
Manufacturing and medicines and healthcare
selling of medicines products Total
LERSEER HERDHERRRER -
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
—BC-=E —E_-F —BC-=E S —BC-=E “BE-CF
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEBTR ARETT AEBT T ARETTL ARET T AREFT
Segment revenue ZHKA
Revenue from external customers — SMREEMA 576,679 694,840 488,182 291,851 1,064,861 986,691
Inter-segment revenue AEEBA 34,805 29932 66,444 35,113 101,249 65,045
Reportable segment revenue CLE R ON 611,484 724,772 554,626 326,964 1,166,110 1,051,736
Reportable segment profit Gk VR e 4,930 83,937 33,489 5,662 38,419 89,599
Write-down of inventories WREE (7,960) (1,439) 317) 2,110) (8,277) (3,549)
Reversal of write-down of inventories 77 & i E - 3,089 9 = 9 3,089
Net (impairment)/reversal of: (RifE) /BEFE -
— trade receivables — R (2,437) 743 (367) (3,586) (2,804) (2,843)
— other receivables — Hi IR @ = (316) 12 323) 12
Bank interest income FATFIRHA 4,789 6,256 1,473 215 6,262 6,471
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
miE=F=c= == AIFE

6. Segment Reporting (Continued) 6. DEBZIR (&)
(a) Segment results, assets and liabilities (Continued) (a) DHEE BEREEE
Sales and distribution of
Manufacturing and medicines and healthcare
selling of medicines products Total
LERHEER HERIHEMRRRER st
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
—E-ZE - F —E-=E i S ot Sk “B-_F
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTR  ARETRE  ARBTR  ARETR  ARMTR  ARMTR

Depreciation and amortisation of non- FE&BAEERITE k&

financial assets 21,970 (32,057) 5,674 (3,887) 33,644 (35,944)
Reversal of impairment of intangible &/ AERHERE

assets 16,201 - - - 16,201 -
Impairment of goodwill HERNE (33,102) - - - (33,102) -
Loss on disposaliwrite-off of property, it/ REME « BE R

plant and equipment RENSE (699) (2,610) (315) (29) (1,014) (2,638)
Finance costs HKER (5,532) (6,957) 42 (75) (5,574) (7,032)
Reportable segment assets TRESHEE 900,542 1,059,172 863,034 657,586 1,763,576 1,716,758

Additions to non-current segment A EFIEIERE)
assets (other than deferred tax HREE (RET

assets) during the year WIEEEN 14,841 20,614 434 5,097 15,275 25711
Reportable segment liabilities ~ THHAHEE 440,314 545,283 278,028 133,449 718,342 678,732
The Group’s customer base is diversified and no customer with REBEE T -_=FFK_FT_-_—F+—-A
whom transactions have exceeded 10% of the Group’s revenue =t—HIFE  AEETFR#Z T H
for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022. P ERFEAETTVHAR ZBaASEIRA

F10% °
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T E BTSRRI EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE-—SE-—=F+-A=+—HIEE

6. DEBE2 (E)
(b) FIERED MY « RBAIES  KER

6. Segment Reporting (Continued)

(b) Reconciliations of reportable segment revenue, profit

before taxation, assets and liabilities BENHER
2023 2022
—E-=F T F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETTT
Revenue KA
Reportable segment revenue A ERER D SPULA 1,166,110 1,051,736
Elimination of inter-segment revenue S E R AR (101,249) (65,045)
Consolidated revenue FEREN PN 1,064,861 986,691
Profit before taxation BRBE AR R
Reportable segment profit A AR 5 =B Al 38,419 89,599
Elimination of inter-segment profit 5 20 T o A 8 (4,638) (4,361)
Reportable segment profit derived from REAREEINRE B A] R
the Group's external customers paN:iial 33,781 85,238
Unallocated corporate expenses ROBEFERET (3,107) (2,977)
Consolidated profit before taxation FRELATAR S Y A 30,674 82,261
Assets BE
Reportable segment assets AR FEE 1,763,576 1,716,758
Elimination of inter-segment receivables 5350 P P S R TR 8 (351,506) (273,989)
1,412,070 1,442,769
Deferred tax assets RIEFIIRE BE 3,576 5,461
Consolidated total assets REBEERE 1,415,646 1,448,230
Liabilities i=F=
Reportable segment liabilities ARy FAE 718,342 678,732
Elimination of inter-segment payables 53 50 RS R I 8 (351,506) (273,989)
366,836 404,743
Current taxation BNEAFR IR 3,703 13,052
Deferred tax liabilities RETIBEE 28,925 25,131
Consolidated total liabilities REaERE 399,464 442,926
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE-E-_=F+-A=+—HIEE

6. Segment Reporting (Continued) 6. DELRIR(E)
(c) Revenue from major products and services () REFEEMEBREHWA
The following is an analysis of the Group'’s revenue from its major AT ASASE 2 E R MR HBA
products and services: DT
2023 2022
—EB-=HF T F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETT
Sales of medicines and healthcare products %5 AR fE T iH & 854,187 873,091
Sales of medical devices EESRMEE 210,674 113,600
1,064,861 986,691
(d) Geographical information (d) mEER
The Group’s revenue was derived from business activities in the AEEHRARBERFREELES)
PRC and the non-current assets of the Group were located in BRSO ERBEE MNP E ©
the PRC. Accordingly, no analysis by geographical segment is It - PR IR S E DT o
provided.
(e) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers (e) AMARKBEFEHHWA
The Group derives revenue from sales of medicines, healthcare REBERNE R HIER TR PR
products and medical devices at a point in time from the following SID1EHE R « REEm R ERSWE
types of customers: 2 ONE
Hospital Pharmacy Others Total
= EE Ht st
2023 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
—B-=F AR%ET R AR¥T T AR%T T AR¥T T
Manufacturing and selling of HENRIEE R
medicines 52,802 514,930 8,947 576,679
Sales and distribution of SHE M) tHEE m
medicines and healthcare R AR
products 22,008 466,174 - 488,182

74,810 981,104 8,947 1,064,861
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sre MR R M AT

For the year ended 31 December 2023

HE—

—ZHE+-A=+—RALEE

6. Segment Reporting (Continued)

(e) Disaggregation of revenue from
(Continued)

contracts with customers

6. \-E‘B b’zf‘é-i")

(
(e) MAREEFANNKA @)

Hospital Pharmacy Others Total
T EE Efth 5t
2022 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
=m==4= ARET T ARETIT NEETTE ARETTT
Manufacturing and selling of HERHEEmR
medicines 68,349 621,307 5,184 694,840
Sales and distribution of SHE Mo IHEER
medicines and healthcare RARE SR
products - 291,851 - 291,851
68,349 913,158 5,184 986,691
Other Revenue and Other Net Income 7. EHMWRAREAMUWRAFEEER
2023 2022
—EB=F —E-F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREFTT
Other revenue Hiug A
Interest income from bank deposits SRITIFF A 6,262 6,471
Licence fee income EHEIE= PN - 7,547
Other net income HW A F 58
Government subsidies: BSEED -
— released from deferred revenue —EBRREWA 401 401
— directly recognised in profit or loss —EHERERER 4,883 5,383
Reversal of write-down of inventories FEMUBEKD 9 3,089
Net foreign exchange gains SN Y2 5 BE 46 24
Reversal of impairment of intangible assets &2 & E R E G 16,201 =
Others HAfth 1,067 1,127
28,869 24,042
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fire MR R MY &

For the year ended 31 December 2023
miE=F=c= == AIFE

8. Profit Before Taxation 8. KRBiAIZA
Profit before taxation is arrived at after (crediting)/charging: B AT F T4 GTA),/FOBRIA R & IR -
2023 2022
—EB-=fF == —hE
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR%TR ARETT
(a) Finance costs (a) HMKEA
Interest on bank loans, amount due to HRITER - EIIEER
a non-controlling shareholder and AR R IE R B A B KA T2
other borrowings 5,340 6,375
Finance charges on lease liabilities HEAENITFEWE 234 657
5,574 7,032

(b) Staff costs (including directors’ (b) EIRAN(BEEEMH)

emoluments) (note) (B &)
Contributions to defined contribution TE R FURIRET BRI R
retirement plans 21,100 19,901
Salaries, wages and other benefits e TEREMEF 127,885 131,367
148,985 151,268

Note: B3 -

- Staff costs of RMB44,641,000, RMB38,274,000, RMB44,506,000 — BIKAAREA4,641,0000  ARE
and RMB21,564,000* (2022: RMB47,107,000, RMB38,847,000, 38,274,000t + AR#44,506,0007T & A
RMB45,445,000 and RMB19,869,000%) are included in cost of sales, selling R#21,564,000* (ZTE=-—fF : AR¥
and distribution expenses, administrative expenses and other operating 47,107,0007C + AR#¥38,847,0007T * AR
expenses respectively. #&45,445,0007T & A R #19,869,0007T*) 55

BT ASHERA « $HE RS HAX - 1TEHH
T REMGERE o

= At 31 December 2023, the Group had no forfeited contributions available - RCZE_=F+-A=+—H AEEIE
to reduce its contributions to the pension schemes in future years (2022: HRKHHEA AT ARROARFENEEZS
RMB nil). FrEMHR(CEZZF - ARSI ©
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE-—SE-—=F+-A=+—HIEE

8. Profit Before Taxation (Continued) 8. BRIADRF (48)
Profit before taxation is arrived at after (crediting)/charging:(Continued) B AT S B T A2 (RE A/ F0BR LA R B I8
)
2023 2022
—Eo=5F —E-—F
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
AR¥TT ARBTFT
(c) Otheritems Hfhg g
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ERAEEENE 5,337 6,901
Amortisation of Intangible Assets* & 4,603 4,751
Depreciation of property, plant and M - BERREITE
equipment 23,704 24,292
(Reversal of impairment of)/Impairment of: CRUERE), A :
— trade receivables, net — FEWARFF R 2,804 2,843
— other receivables, net — B b R IE &8 323 (12)
Reversal of impairment loss of intangible mEERERBERE
assets (16,201) -
Loss on disposal/write-off of property, HEREEME - R &R
plant and equipment* K g5 HE 1,014 2,638
Impairment of goodwill* SEEAEN 33,102 =
Auditor’s remuneration: ZEENE S -
— Audit services —E TR 1,437 1,331
— Non-audit services — IEEET AR 658 650
Lease charges in respect of short term RHHEEZHESH
leases 2,531 42
Cost of inventories FEKA 595,969 442,902
Write-down of inventories* TFE MU * 8,277 3,549
Reversal of write-down of inventories 1 o] 77 B HURL (9) (3,089)
Research and development costs* B R (BIENESb)A
(including salaries, wages and other M€« TEREMER
benefits of RMB21,564,000 (2022: AR#21,564,0007T
RMB19,869,000) in note 8(b)) (ZEBE-—F: AREK
19,869,0007T)) 46,203 28,723
Net foreign exchange gains b i 2 5 58 (46) (24)
* These amounts are included in “Other operating expenses” in the * HE SR AGEBEEEMEEKEREY

consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

[EfEEFS A -
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BE-E-_=F+-A=+—HIEE

Income Tax Expense 9. FIEHMAX
2023 2022
—E-=HF == —hE
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR¥T T ARETTT
Current tax BIHAS 8
PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT") HR B ZEFRIS T
([EZPTSHLD)
Current year REE 10,469 18,151
Deferred Tax B IE
Current year (note 26) RNEE (BF7E26) 5,679 280
16,148 18,431
Hong Kong Profits Tax has not been provided as the Group had no REBEZT-_=FRK=_FT=_=—F+=A1
assessable profits subject to Hong Kong Profits Tax for the years ended =+ —HIEFE  BRAEENEERANE
31 December 2023 and 2022. BNSTHHERTUEH - BN AFE AL &

FHERBNSHEE -

During the year ended 31 December 2023, three (2022: three) BHE_Z-_=F+-"A=+—HIFE " K
subsidiaries of the Group established in the PRC are qualified as “High SERFBKIN=F(ZZE=_F : =)
and New Technology Enterprise”. In accordance with the applicable B ARG ERK A RAEMEEE] - B
Enterprise Income Tax Law of the PRC, these subsidiaries are subject to HRPBEEEMAEEE  ZEWBARER
the PRC EIT at a preferential rate of 15%. 15% BB B R A AR B SEFTISEL o
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BE-—SE-—=F+-A=+—HIEE

Income Tax Expense (Continued)

According to a policy promulgated by the State Tax Bureau of the
PRC, effective from 2019 onwards, enterprises engage in research and
development activities are entitled to claim 175% of the research and
development expenses incurred in a year as tax deductible expenses
in determining the taxable profits for that year (“Super Deduction”).
Three (2022: Three) subsidiaries of the Group are eligible to such Super
Deduction in ascertaining its assessable profits for the year ended 31
December 2023.

The Company and other PRC subsidiaries are subject to the PRC EIT at a
rate of 25% (2022: 25%) for the year ended 31 December 2023.

Reconciliation between income tax expense and accounting profit at
the applicable tax rates:

9. PRI (1B
BRIBEFREERGERBEMGOBR  B=F
—NEFR  REWRESNCEGEERT
ZEENERT TR EREZFEEE
RIE 2 B B 175% 1E AT HF R Z ([HBAR
HERIE]) - AEB =M (T =_—F : =)
MBARAEREEHEZE_ZT-_=F+_-A
=T BHULEFENERBUEHE © Al ZXZ
LB IBRIA o

BHE_Z-_=—F+-A=+—HLFE "
AAr REMPBKNEQREZ25% (ZF
T 2 25%) By AP B 1k ZE TS B A R AN
i o

PSR R S B A B S B R DRI
PR -

2023 2022
—EC-=fF ===k
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARETT
Profit before taxation MREL B A 30,674 82,261
Tax on profit before taxation, calculated at %2 BB 7E 7 U & BEAE 1Y 358 R 3 PR 75 R
the rates applicable to profits in the tax AT EBRFL AR TR IR
jurisdiction concerned 5,945 13,192
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses AT A RS2 13,067 14,808
Tax effect of non-taxable income FERR N R R IS R 2 (5.137) (5,788)
Tax losses/(Utilisation of tax losses previously) RERFHIAEIE,
not recognised (BAScRIFiIaEE) 2,273 (3,781)
Income tax expense FTiSHif X 16,148 18,431
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE_ZT_=F+_A=+—HIFE

10. Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Emoluments 10. ESRERITHAEME
Directors’ and chief executive’s (that is, general manager) emoluments RIRGEM E AR RN - BB R FMEGIZE383(1)
disclosed pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules, section 383(1) of the Hong 1R R AR (REESNmE R R 0158250 #
Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of BENES RERTERA S BIAELIR) &) 5 B
Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows: LU

Salaries,
allowances Retirement
Directors’ and benefits- scheme
fees in kind contributions Total
E2 A= 21 RIRGTE
20 REYFE HR @st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARET R ARETR ARETR ARET R
2023 —BC=F
Executive directors BTES
Mr. Zhang Feng RIS A 100 - - 100
Mr. Huang Jian Bo BRIREE 100 452 72 624
Mr. Zhang Xiao Guang (note c) s o 5 A (FTsEe) 44 515 80 639
Non-executive directors FHTES
Ms. Yu Lin T+ 100 - - 100
Mr. Shen Da Kai (note d) WA A (feEd) 56 - - 56
Mr. Zhang Yi Fei SREREAE 100 - - 100
Mr. Jin Rui (note b) S 54 (FiraEb) 100 - - 100

Independent non-executive directors BYEHTES

Mr. Yick Wing Fat, Simon FKERE 212 - - 212
Mr. Poon Ka Yeung ERHEE 106 - - 106
Mr. Zhang Jian Zhou BRI R A 100 - - 100

1,018 967 152 2,137
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T E BTSRRI EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE-—SE-—=F+-A=+—HIEE

10. EERSTITHAERE (8)

10. Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Emoluments
(Continued)

Salaries,
allowances Retirement
Directors'’ and benefits- scheme
fees in kind contributions Total
e o 28 RIREE
ok REMHMz= R st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTT ARETT ARBTT ARBTT

2022 =i EE

Executive directors BITES

Mr. Zhang Feng IR A 100 - - 100

Mr. Huang Jian Bo ERRELE 100 452 71 623

Non-executive directors FBTES

Ms. Yu Lin Tttt 100 - - 100

Mr. Shen Da Kai MRS TAE 100 - - 100

Mr. Zhang Yi Fei RERSEAE 100 - - 100

Mr. Xu Yan He (note a) AL (HiEa) 25 - = 25

Mr. Jin Rui (note b) S H L (HizEb) 55 = = 55

Independent non-executive directors BUFHITES

Mr. Yick Wing Fat, Simon SKBEFRAE 212 = = 212

Mr. Poon Ka Yeung ERHEAE 106 - - 106

Mr. Zhang Jian Zhou ERlIALAE 100 - - 100
998 452 71 1,521

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, no emoluments RBE_Z_=FR_FT__F+_H

=t+—RLIFE  AEEWEREE M
T ERIMAREBE S IARE B LK) EE)
SKAERBERA(E -

were paid or payable by the Group to any of the directors as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for
loss of office.

There was no arrangement under which a director waived or agreed REBEE_E_=ZFEF_T_—_F+_A

to waive any remuneration during the years ended 31 December 2023
and 2022.

=+ —BLEE YEEEHERXFABNRE
ERBHE A 2Bk o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
R e IS ERR M5

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE-Z-=F+-A=+—HLFE

10. Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Emoluments

11.

(Continued)

Notes:
(@)  Passed away on 21 March 2022.

(b)  Appointed as a non-executive director with effect from 13 May 2022.

10. EERSRITHAEMZ ()

Wi

(@ M-F—_—F=A—_t+—H=&t-

(b) B-E__FRATZ=RRERERFNT

e
() Appointed as an executive director with effect from 25 June 2023. (0 BZEZ=FA-+hAREZEAWNT
EEo
(d)  Retired upon the expiration of his term of office on 24 June 2023. (d R-ZE_=FNA-_tHBETHEGREER
Fo
Five Highest Paid Individuals’ Emoluments 1. AT H A L 15
The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the Group FAREBERAEESFATREERSE (=
for the year included two (2022: one) directors of the Company whose TF: —R)ADRES  FEZHME
emoluments are reflected in the analysis in note 10. The aggregate BERBAKFEI1I0M DT - FREMNEH
emoluments payable to the remaining three (2022: four) individuals —H (T F - mR) @AM R
during the year are as follows: T«
2023 2022
—EC-=F —E-—F
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
ARET T ARETT
Salaries and other emoluments e REMB 2,385 2,497
Retirement scheme contributions RIRET B 88 90
2,473 2,587

RYIHBERBFEEYRMBRHOBRDA
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sre MR R M AT

For the year ended 31 December 2023

HE—

11.

12.

13.

—ZHE+-A=+—RALEE

Five Highest Paid Individuals’ Emoluments
(Continued)

11.

FEERSHA THFHN (&)

The number of non-director highest paid employees whose FHBNATHEANNFEEERFEEA
remuneration fell within the following band is as follows: %UZDT :
2023 2022
—EC-=HF —T-—F
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
A AEL
Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z 21,000,000/ 7T 2 B
HK$1,000,001 to HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,0018 722 1,500,000/ 7T 1 1
3 4
Dividends 12. BRE

The directors do not propose the payment of any dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2023 (2022: RMB nil).

Earnings per Share

Basic earnings per share

The calculation of basic earnings per share has been based on the profit
attributable to owners of the Company of RMB24,127,000 (2022:
RMB54,346,000) and the weighted average number of 1,678,000,000
(2022: 1,678,000,000) ordinary shares in issue during the year.

Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share equals to basic earnings per share as there
were no potential dilutive ordinary shares outstanding for both years
presented.

5t

EEVFEFRNBE_ZT_=4+_A8
=+ —HLEFEERAKRE(ZZE=__F : A
RUZIT) o

BREF

BREXRREF
BREAZFBIRIEAQBES A B F
AR¥24,127,000C (Z2=Z=F : AR¥
54,346,0007T) * ARAFERNEBEITER
&Y ANAESE 5 201,678,000,0000% (— 2= —
4 : 1,678,000,000%) L @AKTE -

BREERF
EEIEAEWI WERY ERBENEEEEE
B EREEANERNSRELRE

ﬂ
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14. Property, Plant and Equipment

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
— EE| >N

R e IS ERR M5

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE_ZT_=F+_A=+—HIFE

14. Y% - BMERRE

Furniture,
Leasehold Plant and Motor  fixturesand  Construction-
Buildings  improvements machinery vehicles  equipment  in-progress Total
BENE BE %E
B ¢ BERRE AE EG] FRIR st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTT AR¥T T AR®T T ARBTT ARBTT AR®TT
Cost REAE
At 1 January 2023 RZF==%-A-H 194,643 7,549 101,612 12,363 26,362 2,857 345,386
Additions hE 2,058 671 5,045 496 2,609 4,245 15,124
Write-offiDisposal $5/E (1,494) - (6,383) (1,218) (2.359) - (11,454)
Transfer % 6,799 - - - - (6,799) -
Redlassified from right-of-use assets AFREAEENDE - - - - 123 - 123
At 31 December 2023 R=B=£+-A=1-H 202,006 8,220 100,274 11,641 33,835 303 356,279
Accumulated depreciation and ZHERAE
impairment
At 1 January 2023 RZB-=%-5-A (57,280) (6,455) (54,791) (4,916) (14.270) - (137,7112)
Charge for the year REERH (8,648) (478) (10,158) (1,540) (2,880) - (23,704)
Reclassiied from right-of-use assets AEREEEENAE - - - - (1,733) - (1,733)
Eiminated on write-offfdisposal fE/LERYE 1312 - 6,001 915 2212 - 10,440
At 31 December 2023 R=BZ=£+ZA=+-H (64,616) (6,933) (58,948) (5,541) (16,671) - (152,709)
Carrying amount Kk
At 31 December 2023 R=BZ=£+ZA=+-H 137,390 1,287 41,326 6,100 17,164 303 203,570
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T E BTSRRI EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE-—SE-—=F+-A=+—HIEE

14. Property, Plant and Equipment (Continued) 14. Y13 - WERZME (&)
Furniture,
Leasehold Plant and Motor fituresand ~ Construction-
Buildings  improvements machinery vehicles equipment in-progress Total
BENE GlR %2
E7 Xt BRIRE N VEE IR 5t

RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000
ARMTE  ARMIT  ARMTR  ARETR ARETR ARBTR AR

Cost BRAE

At 1 January 2022 R=E--#-f-F 191914 6,899 100,872 10,088 25541 - 335314
Additons e 3113 650 6,885 2,668 1143 4750 19,209
Write-off/Disposal fi/ 1 @21 - (6,145) (393) (322) = (9,137)
Transfer R 1,893 - - - - (1.893) -
At 31 December 2022 R=BZZ£+-A=1-A 194,643 7549 101,612 12,363 26,362 2857 345,386

Accumulated depreciation and ZHAERAR

impairment
At 1 January 2022 R=B=Z%-5-A (49,981) (4.464) (50,246) (3.696) (11532) - (119919)
Charge for the year REERH (9,292) (1,991) (8,387) (1,581) (3,041) - (2429)
Eiminated on write-off BERHH 1,993 - 380 361 303 - 6,499
At 31 December 2022 RZB-ZE+-A=1-H (57,280) (6,455) (54,791) (4.916) (14270) - (137.712)
Carrying amount HEf
At 31 December 2022 RZBZZE+-A=1-H 137,363 1,094 46,821 1447 12,092 2,857 207,674
At 31 December 2023, the Group’s buildings with a carrying amount of RZTEZ=F+-A=+—H  rx&F#%&
RMB24,099,000 (2022: RMB24,387,000) were pledged to secure the BRMEE ARE24,099,0000 (=& ==
Group's banking facilities of RMB57,000,000 (2022: RMB61,000,000), AR¥E24,387,0007T) KIIEFEEAREE
of which RMB57,070,000 (2022: RMB57,070,000) have been utilised as HRITHEARKS7,000,0000 (=T ==
at 31 December 2023. F : AR#61,000,0007) AR - Hp
AR#57,070,0007c (2 -4 : AR
57,070,00070) R =B -_=F+ A =+—
HE®A °
At 31 December 2023, the Group’s furniture, fixtures and equipment RZZBZ=F+"H=+—8 ' A5EH&K
with a carrying amount of RMB3,928,000 (2022: RMB1,822,000) were HEARK3,928,000c(ZE——F : AR
pledged to secure the Group’s other borrowings. #1,822,0007T) HYRIE - KB KEZHEDEMA

ERAEEZ b EEMRE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o <H S
iRe SR M A
For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-F-=F+-A=t—ALFE

15. Right-of-use Assets 15. EREEE
Prepaid
lease Office
payments Buildings equipment Total
A
HEME BF WAERE et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTFT ARBFIT ARETT ARBTFT
(note (a)) (note (b)) (note (b))
(Fff7E(@)) (P E () (F5E(b))
Net carrying amount at 1 January R-ZE—-—F—HF—HK
2022 BREFE 84,631 567 7,223 92,421
Additions NE = 6,482 = 6,482
Depreciation/Amortisation k- Ve i (2,561) (2,607) (1,733) (6,901)
Write-off Rz - (172) - (172)
Net carrying amount at R-B-—F+=A
31 December 2022 and =Et+—HR=-ZE-=F
1 January 2023 — A —HHNEREFE 82,070 4,270 5,490 91,830
Depreciation/Amortisation e HH (2,569) (2,768) - (5,337)
Reclassified to property, BB EYE  BER
plant and equipment B - - (5.490) (5.490)
Net carrying amount at R-B-=%+=A#
31 December 2023 =+—HWREEE 79,501 1,502 - 81,003
Notes: MeE -

(@)  The prepaid lease payments represent prepayments in relation to leases of
land in the PRC which were amortised over the lease term on a straight-
line basis.

(b)  Details of the leases are set out in note 25.

() ZENBEEFREMNTHNOBEE RN
R ZERNEEFRERNHERRRERE

(b) MERFFBEHRHITES -
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T E BTSRRI EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE-—SE-—=F+-A=+—HIEE

16. Intangible Assets 16. B EE
Anesthetic
drug Internally
production Acquired  developed
Computer and selling Trade  Customer technical technical Selling
software  Trademarks right name lst  know-how  know-how licences Total
il BhEh  mEER

Bt 1] EBR RBER BFRE EARM BAMA BEROR it
RVBOOD  RMBOOD  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RWBOOO  RMBOOD  RMBOOO  RMBOOO MBI
ARBTR  ARMTT  ARETn  ARETR  ARMTR  ARMTR  ARETR ARETR AREAR

note 16(a)  note16@@  note 16(b) note 16(c)  note 16(d)
Mol Ko Kiel) el ME60)

Cost TS
At 1 January 2022 R-E-E-f-A 221 701 53,143 46,483 58,089 60 31 13739 177,608
Additions hE 2 - - - - - - - 20
Wiite-off #% - - - - - - - (623) (623)
At31 December 2022 and R-E-—£+-f=1-A

1 January 2023 Rk=E==£-H-H 241 701 53,143 46,483 58,089 60 3172 13116 177,005
Additions hE 5 - - - - - 9% - 151
At 31 December 2023 RZB-=E+-A=t1-H 2291 0 53,143 46,483 58,089 60 3,67 13,116 177,156
Accumulated amortisationand ~ Zsr&ERKHE

impairment
At 1 January 2022 R=B--%-f-8 (1,056) (191) (16,201) - (40,586) Q) (384) (3434) (61,854)
Amortsation charge for theyear  REEBigEE (219 (199) - - (1,859) ) (19 (2452) (4,751)
At 31 December 2022 and R-E-—£+-A=1-A

1 January 2023 R-E-=F-f-H (1,275) (390) (16,201) - (42,445 (6) (402) (5,880) (66,605)
Reversal of impairment loss EmREBERE

for the year - - 16,01 - - - - - 16,01
Amortisation charge for the year  AERE BT, () (199 - - (1,859) (4) - 2.319) (4,603)
At 31 December 2023 R-B-=£t-A=t-A (1,498) (589) - - (44,304) (10) (402) (8,204) (55,007)
Carrying amount EE
At 31 December 2023 RZB-=F+ZA=1-H 19 112 53,143 46,483 13,785 50 2,865 4912 122149
At 31 December 2022 RS- —F+-A=t-H %6 3N 36,942 46,483 15,644 5 2,710 7230 110,400
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16. Intangible Assets (Continued)

Notes:

(a)

Anesthetic drug production and selling right and trade name

The anesthetic drug production and selling right and the trade name
used to produce revenue to the segment of manufacturing and selling
of medicines under Fuzhou Neptunus Fuyao Pharmaceutical Company
Limited (“Neptunus Fuyao”). The anesthetic drug production and selling
right carries a sole narcotic production and selling right in Fujian Province
as designated by the State, and has no foreseeable limit to the period
over which the Group can use to generate net cashflows. As a result, the
anesthetic drug production and selling right and trade name was assessed
by the management of the Group as having an indefinite useful life and is
not amortised. It is tested for impairment annually and whenever there is
an indication that it may be impaired.

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the recoverable amount of anesthetic
drug production and selling right was assessed by reference to a valuation
carried out by Verity Appraisals Company Limited, an independent qualified
professional valuer with appropriate qualification and experience in the
valuation of similar assets in the relevant industry. As the assessed value
of anesthetic drug production and selling right is higher (2022: higher)
than its carrying amount, a reversal of provision for impairment loss of
RMB16,201,000 (2022: no provision for impairment loss or reversal) was
made during the Year.

The recoverable amount of trade name was assessed by reference to the
value-in-use calculations. As the assessed value is higher than its carrying
amount as at 31 December 2023 and 2022, no provision for impairment
loss is considered necessary

The recoverable amount of anesthetic drug production and selling right
is determined based on value in use calculations. These calculations use
cash flow projections based on financial budget approved by the executive
directors covering a five-year period and the expected growth rate during
this five years is 1.02% (2022: -1.12%). Cash flows beyond five-year
period are extrapolated using an average growth rate of 2% (2022: 2%).
The growth rates used do not exceed the long-term average growth rates
of the medical industries. The cash flows are discounted using a discount
rate of 21.66% (2022: 25.06%). The discount rates used are pre-tax and
reflect specific risks relating to the relevant segments.

The recoverable amount of trade name is determined based on the fair
value of trade name as measured using a royalty rate of 5.1% (2022:
5.1%) on sales and a discount rate of 21.41% (2022: 24.3%). The annual
sales were projected based on financial budgets approved by the executive
directors covering a five-year period and the expected growth rate during
this five years is 8.17% (2022: 13.70%) and to growth rate beyond five
years has been extrapolated using an average growth rate of 2% (2022:
2%). The average growth rate of 2% (2022: 2%) is based on the average
of 10-year consumer price index in the PRC and does not exceed the long-
term average growth rates of the pharmaceutical industries.

RYIHBERBFEEYRMBRHOBRDA

= 70N

B3 -

(a)

fire MR R MY &

For the year ended 31 December 2023
miE=F=c= == AIFE

/:53 n\a)
MBEEREREE AR

TR BEE S R X B2 AN RENEER
BRBEERAR(TEEREDNERLEER
SHEDBPELEWA - MM EE RS A ER
RENRZE MMM EERHE - BAS
B ARESFRE MR L EARLN
HIR o EiE - AREE I E R S E
HEREBERAGERAIERAFH &1
RS - REBESFETRERR - ARMN
B RBREAIEHERRE - RIEETRE
A -

EA_;_—E&_T**¢+ B ==

i B B o E SH AR B0 AT IR Bl 2 BB R 2 R
mufrfﬁﬁﬁﬁ RIEFTRURLE - A EAR
ARR—RREBRTERAEEE B RE
B ETHERRE & B8 S MER -
HRMBREREFEENTHERR(ZE
ZZF @) EREE  RAFEREE
BB E R A R¥16,201,000 (2= —
F  WEREREEEER)

X aBrakE B2 BASEFERE
B EHETHFTE  c HRZZE=Z=FK=F
—oE+ - A=t AR ESRERE
& - BAtRAEDEFLRESBREE -

it B L AR DA R TS B TB R AT IR Bl © 5B TS
IR FEREENFTE T EAMERE - Z5T8
FRERKRTESIEZ AT KB
HAHEENBESREAMAERREZRE
BRI TEEE R R A1.02% (=T =_F : -
1.12%) » EBBAFHZ RS REEH2% (=
TF : 2%)MFEHERERETEA -
FEAMER RS BAEBTENRPTY
HRE - B REMNITIRER21.66% (=

T :25.06%) ° EAMITIER AR AT
BE - WRBEBS BHFERR

X5 AR E S5 IR EEMNS5.1%
(ZZZ=F : 5 1%) I EKRERRITER
KU1 41% (ZBE=——1F : 243%):tE 2%
BEBATERERE - FEHEIBIRNIT
EEMAEREAFHNMBTEELITEA
Rz AFHENFEREREA8.17% (=
T :13.70%)  BBAFRIERER

2% (ZFZZF 1 2%) P RERES - %
2% (ZF == 1 2%) IR R THER A

Bl 106 F B B ER IR BRI R B R BT
FREATHERE o
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T E BTSRRI EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE-—SE-—=F+-A=+—HIEE

16. Intangible Assets (Continued) 16. B EE (58)

Notes: (Continued) MisE : (8
(b) Customer list (b) EFFRE
The customer list has a finite useful life and is amortised on a straight-line BFEABERREAMEAERITABEZENO
basis over 10 years. The useful life of the customer list is determined with FAEE  FEPEENFFERAFRIZER
reference to the estimated future revenue from the customer list which BRI = BRI B &P BB MG RK
is based on historical information. The management is of the view that WATMETE - ERERR  10FHRHBE -
the future economic benefits that can be derived from the customer list TR B &P 4 B W AR AR A s T B o
beyond the 10-year period are insignificant.
The customer list is allocated to the segment of manufacturing and selling BEREDIESEmERERIME D BEER
of medicines. A e
() Internally developed technical know-how (c) AEPBIRBEERI;M
Internally developed technical know-how represented development cost of A B 7 B G 1 A 48 Bk B AN ) R B
Sodium Bicarbonate Tablets, which has a finite useful life of 10 years. The N BERENTFEALR - AR A
useful life is determined with reference to the estimated future revenue K2ZHREEEIN A OB RRBARETE
from the Sodium Bicarbonate Tablets. The management is of the view that RAREBESEE B RIS A 7 &
the future economic benefits that can be derived from the technical know- SHEEWARFRREE - ERERR - 105
how beyond the 10-year period are insignificant. 182K B B A R H R R a2 R/ o
(d) Selling licenses (d) SHEFE
Selling licences have a finite useful life and is amortised on a straight- SHERT A B AR E Al A F R AT RER
line basis over 5 years. The useful life is determined with reference to the SEREE - AIERAFRIDBZHETAIFE
period of validity of the selling licences. KB R ER T E
17. Goodwill 17. &
2023 2022
—E-=4F T —F
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
ARET T AREEFIT
Gross carrying amount fRE#AE
At beginning and end of the year RENRER 96,524 96,524
Accumulated impairment RETEE
At beginning of the year REH] - =
Impairment loss AEEE 33,102 =
At end of the year RER 33,102 -
Net carrying amount SREFE
At end of the year RER 63,422 96,524

The carrying amount of goodwill, net of any impairment loss, is
allocated to the cash generating unit identified according to the
location of operation and operating segment, that is, manufacturing
and selling of medicines business in Beijing, the PRC.

BENREE R ERERSER) Dok E
RIBEEWH NG ENBEENRSELSE
7 - B BlAE e B R EE AN $H B 5675 ©
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17. Goodwill (Continued)

The recoverable amount of the cash generating unit was assessed
by reference to a valuation carried out by an independent qualified
professional valuer, Verity Appraisals Company Limited, and was
determined based on value-in-use calculations covering a detailed five-
year budget plan, followed by an extrapolation of expected cash flows
calculated using the growth rates set out below.

The key assumptions used for value-in-use calculations were as follows:

fire MR R MY &

For the year ended 31 December 2023
miE=F=c= == AIFE

17. BE (&

ReEL BN KR eE2EBILAER
BEXHEMEFFIEERARETHEEE
TaHl - YRR EFALFRETZINE
REEFERE - NEA T XAME &R
EFERERE

ARG EEREENBRRRNT

2023 2022

—EC-=F —E-—F

Growth rate R 24.85% 28.58%
Growth rate beyond five year FRiE A R 2 R 2% 2%
Discount rate (pre-tax) PTIRZE (FiAD) 15.03% 15.75%

The forecast for the Group’s income from manufacturing and selling of
medicines business in Beijing was adjusted in 2023 for the decline of the
Group'’s development plan according to the medicines market in PRC
due to sales of existing products were sluggish and the introduction of
new products by the Group was delayed as compared to the original
plan, which result the manufacturing and selling of medicines business
in Beijing remains in a loss-making position. Impairment testing
considering these latest developments resulted in the impairment of
goodwill associated with the cash generating unit of manufacturing
and selling of medicines business.

As the carrying value of the goodwill has been reduced to its
recoverable amount of RMB63,422,000 as at 31 December 2023, the
related goodwill impairment loss of RMB33,102,000 (2022: Nil) was
recognised and included under “other expenses” in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and
attributed to the Group’s manufacturing and selling of medicines
segment.

Apart from the considerations described in determining the value in use
of the cash generating units above, the Group’s management is not
currently aware of any other probable changes that would necessitate
changes in its key estimates and could cause the cash generating units’
carrying amounts to exceed their recoverable amounts. However,
the estimate of recoverable amount is sensitive to the discount rate
applied. The impact from a reasonable change in the discount rate is
assessed in note 4 together with other critical accounting estimates and
assumptions.

RYIHBERBFEEYRMBRHOBRDA

HAREEREETRR * MAKESERN
EmAKRSRREHEE - RETEE i?i?ﬁ
BHIER - AKRBENEERFTEEM TR
¢t¥¢$%ﬁiﬁ?ﬂ’\]§9ﬁé%$§&%%¥%}%ﬁ’ﬂ
WATRRETTHE - SEIL R EREER
HEEBDERERNRE - ZEEZF&HN
BR - OREARSHEEREERBEEXD
ReEL S ARMEERNE

HRAEE EAEECR T _=ZF+=
A=+t ARZEEATKEBSBARE
63,422,0007T ' AR EBREBSEARE
33,102,0007C (=== : T)E FTHERIL
TAGEEEREMEERERO [ EFH
XIET - WEBRA S BN EE K S 5%
556 o

B EErTREEABMEREERMERE
HRZESN - ANEBEEE B AT R AT
Hb M B MEREFSHEHRLEY
b HmERSEELEEMMRMERBLEA]
WESRE - A - AIUKIE S RERY (S E TP EE
PR BEIR RIBGRX o ek &8 H AR =
eREFH BN HEREMAR S
TR o
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T E BTSRRI EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE-—SE-—=F+-A=+—HIEE

18. Inventories 18. &
2023 2022
—E-=4F —E-4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETIT
Raw materials R 57,290 70,565
Work-in-progress e 49,392 47,801
Finished goods IRk 98,742 84,657
205,424 203,023

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group reversed
RMB9,000 (2022: RMB3,089,000) of an inventory write-down as the
obsolete inventories previously written down were sold. In addition, the
Group write-down inventories of RMB8,277,000 (2022: RMB3,549,000)
to its net realisable value.

19. Trade and Other Receivables

REBEEZT=_=F+-_A=+—HLFE
A ARLATHRAREFEELEH &
EE AR FEHURARE, 000 (ZE=——
& AR¥3,089,0007T) ° M » AEEH
RIFE AR 277,000 (ZE=-—4F : A
R#3,549,0007T) £ H A &35 FE °

19. FEUARFR R H A FEURRIR

2023 2022

—E-=5 =E==F

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

BiaE ARETT ARETTT

Trade receivables FEUBR X 197,023 177,007
Less: ECL allowance B FEEME B SR RE (22,771) (24,120)
174,252 152,887

Bills receivables M Z & (i) 52,965 52,134
227,217 205,021

Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries FEUR R 2T B A R FE (i), 32(b) 41,899 60,288
Amounts due from related companies FEULRRE A RIFRIE (ii), 32(b) 2,481 4,487
Amount due from immediate parent company &% 5 B £ A 7] Z8 (ii), 32(b) 5 2

Amount due from an intermediate parent FEU BB A R F0E

company 251 330
Other receivables H A Y RIE 20,398 8,796
Value-added tax recoverable AU Bl {E RS 268 =
Prepayment and deposits FENRERES (iii) 42,525 64,869
Less: ECL allowance B FEEME B SRR (2,090) (1,825)
105,737 136,947

332,954 341,968
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19. Trade and Other Receivables (Continued)

Notes:

(0]

(ii)

(iii)

These bank acceptance bills matured within one year from date of issue.
The Group considered the issuing banks of the bills are of good credit
quality and therefore, the ECL of these receivables are considered to be
insignificant.

The amounts due are unsecured, interest-free and repayable within one
year. Further details on the Group’s credit policy is set out in note 31.2.

Prepayment and deposits mainly represent deposits prepaid in advance to
suppliers of RMB29,139,000 which aged within one year (2022: deposits
prepaid in advance to suppliers RMB27,951,000 which aged within one
year and earnest money paid for potential investment of RMBnil (2022:
RMB15,000,000). Further details on the Group's credit policy is set out in
note 31.2.

The directors of the Company consider that the fair values of Trade and Other
Receivables are not materially different from their carrying amounts because
these balances have short maturity periods on their inception.

Ageing analysis

Trade

and bills receivables are due for payment within 30-180 days (2022:

30-180 days) from the date of billing. Based on the invoices dates (which
approximate the respective revenue recognition dates), the ageing analysis of the
trade and bills receivables net of ECL allowance, was as follows:

= <H S
iRe SR M A
For the year ended 31 December 2023
miE=F=c= == AIFE

19. FEWRFR R H AW TR (48)

PG

() HEBIRARENRTAE—END -
AEER AR ETRITE TR -
Flt - %SRS E B E BB A
BREK -

(i) ZEFAREER  REUARAR—FAE
& - ARARBEEEBRNE —SFEHR
MizE31.2

(i) HMEKRRE BARERESEEE
RRA—FANEMNEEENIREARE
29,139,000 (ZE=——%F : R A—F A
Tt HEmiEe AR27,951,0007T) -
RBEREHRESAARBZL(ZE ==
£ : AR#15,000,0007T) - BREAAEERE
BHRHE — P EEnHE31.2 o

AAREERR  BUCRREEMBRZENA
FEEERAETESAER - ARLSHER
B 28 Ry O B BARRF R AE

BRER 2 HT

FEUR R 3 R B M S AR AE B 22 % & A #1302 180
B(ZZ——4% : 3081808 RFIHAXfF - LT A&
AERE 2 ERER R EREE R ESREEESE
BB REZ A (EZWARRABES) 252
BRER DA

Trade receivables FEURBE 2%
2023 2022
—EC=F et =
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETT
Within 3 months 3EAA 110,314 120,856
4 to 6 months 4Z6fEA 37,152 13,485
7 to 12 months 72128 A 15,700 8,247
Over 1 year HBB1F 11,086 10,299
174,252 152,887

RYIHBERBFEEYRMBRHOBRDA
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE-—SE-—=F+-A=+—HIEE

19. Trade and Other Receivables (Continued) 19. EURERF K H At FEURFRIE (48)
Notes: (Continued) MeE : (B
Bills receivables et
2023 2022
—E-=F T4
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T ARETT
Within 3 months 3fEA A 15,440 17,582
4 to 6 months 4=618A 37,525 34,301
7 to 12 months 7212{8A - 251
52,965 52,134
ECL of trade receivables FER e S TR A IE

The movement in the ECL allowance of trade receivables is as follows:

FEUERR A TEEE B IR BB 2 BT

2023 2022

—E-=F —T-—F

RMB’000 RMB’'000

ARMT T ARETT

Balance at 1 January K—A— BRI 24,120 25,520

ECL recognised during the year FNERZ B EEEER 2,863 3,766

ECL reversed during the year FRELD 2 EREEER (59) (923)

Amount written off during the year FAMIH R (4,153) (4,243)

Balance at 31 December R+=—A=+—H8&E% 22,771 24,120
ECL of other receivables HittEWFERBEEEE

The movement in the ECL allowance of other receivables is as follows:

HitRUHUAN R ERBRRE 2T

2023 2022

—BC-=fF T
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBT ARETT
Balance at 1 January = Rl == OF =373 1,825 1,920
ECL recognised during the year FARRZTBEEEE 323 =
ECL reversed during the year FAE R 2 EEMEEEE - (12)
Amount written off during the year FAEE TR (58) (83)
Balance at 31 December R+=—A=+—8H 2,090 1,825
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fire MR R MY &

For the year ended 31 December 2023
miE=F=c= == AIFE

20. Time Deposits/short-term Bank Deposits/bank 20. EHATERREHERERITIERRR1T
Balances and Cash ,.‘nﬁ?&fﬁﬁ
2023 2022
—E-=HF —E_—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%TT ARETT
Non-current assets FRBES
Time deposits TE BT 10,000 30,000
Current assets REEE
Short-term bank deposits REIRITER 10,000 60,000
Bank balances and cash RITERERRE 372,206 290,098
382,206 350,098
392,206 380,098
As at 31 December 2023, the time deposits carry interest at 3.20% NZTE_=F+_RA=+—8  EHEFEX
(2022: 3.99%) per annum. The time deposits will be matured in July BEFIER3. 20%(_§::¢ 3.99%) °
2026 (2022: March 2024). ZERAFERER _Z_RELA(ZE==

£ FME= H) 28 -

As at 31 December 2023, the effective interest rate of short-term bank RZEZ=F+=ZR=+—H8  BHRT
deposits was 2.20% (2022: 3.80% to 3.85%) per annum. The short- GBRHNERFEMNER220% (ZFT==
term bank deposits have a maturity of within 12 months (2022: 12 3 80%%3.85%) ° MHARITERI121E A
months). REE(CZ=——4F : 12/@A) -
Bank balances carry interest at market rates which range from 0.20% WITERRMISNEGTE » FRENF
t0 1.90% (2022: 0.25% to 2.03%) per annum. 0.20%FE1.90%(ZF "% : 0.25% %
2.03%) °
Included in bank balances and cash of the Group is RMB392,206,000 AEERBRTEHRERESBEERRFE
(2022: RMB380,098,000) of bank balances denominated in RMB placed WIRITAARBEHED fE THHBARK
with banks in the PRC. RMB is not a freely convertible currency. Under 392,206,000 (ZEZ—F : AR¥
the PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of 380,098,0007T) ° AREEIIER] B HEEHR
Settlement and Sales and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, B - IRIBHERINE B IR RG] RAEE - B
the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for foreign currencies through b RASIEEIRME - NEBEEFBERRE
banks that are authorised to conduct foreign exchange business. HEITINE ZEFFHVIRI TS A R A IR -
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE-—SE-—=F+-A=+—HIEE

21. Trade and Other Payables

21. BIERF R AL B I FRIR

2023 2022
—E-=F ===k
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
bz ARBTT ARETT
Trade payables FEASTBRER 149,223 114,003
Other payables and accruals HAb R RIE R ERT & A (i) 102,118 125,191
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries FERST R RM B A |l 5kIA (ii), 32(b) 2,468 4,935
Amounts due to immediate parent Company & E B2 A8 (i), 32(b) 800 =
Amount due to an intermediate parent FER R A B FRIA

company (ii), 32(b) 442 607
Amounts due to related companies FESTEEE A RFRIE (i), 32(b) 5,476 2,500
Amount due to a non-controlling shareholder FEfFE#5 A% A% 58 7118 (iii), 32(b) - 20,247
260,527 267,483

Notes: MHEE

(i) Other payables and accruals mainly represent security deposits, VAT
payable, selling expense payable, other tax payables and final payment
of construction of building of RMB16,615,000, RMB2,206,000,
RMB16,634,000, RMB3,761,000 and RMB3,991,000 (2022:
RMB21,260,000, RMB14,367,000, RMB29,662,000, RMB10,047,000 and
RMB3,065,000) respectively.

(i) The amounts due are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

(i) The amount due was unsecured, interest-bearing at 6% per annum and
has been fully settled during the year ended 31 December 2023.

All amounts are short term and hence the carrying amounts of the
Group's Trade and Other Payables are considered to be a reasonable
approximation of fair value.

(ii)
(iii)

HMENREREFERAEERRES
FEREER  EBRNEEER EMEMNH
EREETENRENR  DRIHNARK
16,615,0007T * AR¥2,206,0007C *+ AR
#16,634,0007T *+ AR%3,761,0007T &
AR#3,991,000T (ZE=-—4F : ARK
21,260,0007T + AR#¥14,367,0007T * AR
#£29,662,0007T « AR110,047,0007T & A
K #¥3,065,0007T) °

REEHRREER  RERBRERER -

REBEE-ZT-_=F+=-A=+—HILFE -
BRAEER FHEAE6%RBERLE

o

i

A SRAEEH - Bt - AKERER
FRR N B At FE MR IR R EL BRI (B F] B IR AR AE
HEXFEART o
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R e IS ERR M5

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE-Z-=F+-A=+—HLFE

21. Trade and Other Payables (Continued)

Based on the invoice dates, the ageing analysis of the trade payables

278

was as follows:

21. B RRA R A FIE (&)
FEATERARIR IR B 2R B HOBR IR D AT

2023 2022
—E-=HF =EE=—E
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARET T
Within 3 months 3EARA 117,380 53,404
4 to 6 months 4% 618 A 10,373 16,090
7 to 12 months 72121@H 8,009 31,125
Over 1 year TEEBA | 13,461 13,384
149,223 114,003

Contract Liabilities 22. 5HEE
2023 2022
—ECo=5 T —4F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR®T AREFT

Contract liabilities arising from receipts EXABREIEZEHAE

in advance 16,034 43,578

Contract liabilities outstanding at the beginning of the year amounting
to RMB43,578,000 (2022: RMB16,938,000) have been recognised as

revenue during the year.

RYIHBERBFEEYRMBRHOBRDA

RENMBABEEZANABARYE

43,578,000 7T (

£ ARE

16,938,0007T) * ERNFRNERBUA °
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE-—SE-—=F+-A=+—HIEE

23. Interest-bearing Borrowings

23. ftEEE

2023 2022
—E-=8 =E=—kE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®ETT NEESSER

Non-current liabilities FRBEME
Other borrowings HibEE 2,427 2,909

Current liabilities piE=Ri

Short-term bank loans EHESRTTE R 82,105 83,106
Other borrowings HibfE = 3,312 1,922
85,417 85,028
87,844 87,937

As at 31 December 2022 and 2023, other borrowing with principal of
RMB4,831,000 and RMB5,739,000 from a third party were secured by
a pledge of the Group's furniture, fixtures and equipment (note 14).
The effective interest rate was 6.5% per annum repayable as follows:

HE_Z-_—_Fr-_ZF-_=F+=-AF=+—
B REF=ZA4ASEIHAEARE
4,831,0007T ;2 A R #5,739,000 T ) E Ab &
ERASENEKRE - £BRIEBEBERER
(FI5E14) - BEFIER AT F6.5% KIEEZEN

B

2023 2022
—Eo=5 —Eo—F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETTT

Carrying amount repayable FEEEREE
Within one year —FR 3,312 1,922
In the second year F-ER 2,076 1,922
In the third to fifth year F=ZAFN 351 987
5,739 4,831
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23. Interest-bearing Borrowings (Continued)

As at 31 December 2023, the short-term bank loans were denominated
in RMB, repayable within one year, further details were as follows:

(a)

(b)

(0)

Bank borrowings of RMB57,070,000 were secured by a pledge
of the Group’s buildings with carrying amount RMB 24,099,000
(note 14) and guarantee from the non-controlling shareholder
of a subsidiary of the Group and subsidiaries of the Group. The
effective interest rate was 3.55% to 4.35% per annum.

Bank borrowings of RMB19,028,000 was guaranteed by a
guarantee from the non-controlling shareholder of a subsidiary
and a subsidiary of the Group. The effective interest rate was
4.10% to 5.50% per annum.

Bank borrowings of RMB6,007,000 was unsecured. The effective
interest rate was 4.1% per annum.

As at 31 December 2022, the interest-bearing borrowings were
denominated in RMB, repayable within one year, further details were as
follows:

(a)

(b)

(0)

(d)

(e)

Bank borrowings of RMB20,023,000 were secured by a pledge of
the Group’s buildings with carrying amount RMB24,387,000 (note
14). The effective interest rate was 3.7% per annum.

Bank borrowings of RMB37,047,000 were guaranteed by a
guarantee from the non-controlling shareholder of a subsidiary
and a pledge of the Group’s buildings with carrying amount
RMB24,387,000 (note 14). The effective interest rate was 4.05%
10 4.35% per annum.

Bank borrowings of RMB5,007,000 was guaranteed by a
guarantee from the non-controlling shareholder of a subsidiary.
The effective interest rate was 5% per annum.

Bank borrowings of RMB15,021,000 were guaranteed by a
guarantee from the non-controlling shareholder of a subsidiary
and a subsidiary of the Group. The effective interest rate was 4.8%
to 5% per annum.

Bank borrowings of RMB6,008,000 were unsecured. The effective
interest rate was 4.5% per annum.

= +
iRe SR M A

For the year ended 31 December 2023

miE=F=c= == AIFE

23. I EfEE (&)
R-Z-=#+-A=+—8  EHRTHE
BUARBIIE - R—EREE  FSHE
ERHOT -

(@) RITEEARYS7,070,000tHASE
EREEAARK24,099,000TH i
**#%(W*EM)%R#&ZKE@ %ﬁﬁﬁ%

NARFEERBRREANEBMEA
FORBEIE(R o ﬁ%@ﬂzz%a%%i
4.35% o

(b)y SRITEE ARY19,028,0007CH —fH

Pﬁ% AR FEE H&H&%&KEI el B

RNAMRBEER - ERENEXR
4.10%i5.50%

(© SRITEEARY6,007,0007CEER
BERFEFEEL1% o

#fg::¢+—ﬂ_+*5 KRG HASRTT1E
EUARBIIE  R—FRNEE  ELZ54
éﬂ@T-

(@) RITIEE AR¥20,023,0007THANEE
BREE A A R#24,387,000 T V24
IR EER (HEE14) - BERER|=R
53.7% °

(b) fEm%iéf)\Eﬁ%y,ow,OOOﬁEE—F'EEJMT
RN AR FEEAR AR R AR TE R AN B AR
ﬁz%)\ﬁﬁgzzt,sszooo%@?é%@ﬁ?ﬁﬂ
EER (H7E14) - BEEFEHIER4.05%
Z4.35%

(0) fﬁﬂf%iéf/\@#ﬁs 007,0007CH — F'EJMT
RN AR FEFERR AR SR B IR B (EIELR o
B%%ifru?m%

d) RITEEARKE15,021,0007C8H—M
BB A R H IS AR AR R R A= E B A
AIBRBIEER - ERFFHEH4.8%
5% °

(e) RITEEARKG6,008,0007T 4 EHE
IR o BREFEFERL5% °
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‘e R MiEE
For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE-ZE-_=F+-A=+—HItFE

24. Deferred Revenue

Y

24, IEFE

2023 2022

—E-=4F ===k

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T AREETTT

Current portion mENER = 401
Non-current portion FEMENER S 589 589
589 990

Deferred revenue represented subsidies granted by the Shenzhen
Bureau of Science and Technology and/or the Shenzhen Bureau of
Finance for assisting the Group in performing research and development
of medicines products. Income will be recognised to match with the
research and development expenses incurred, useful life of property,
plant and equipment or when the project is completed. Details of the
subsidies granted are as follows:

BRI R RE B & ORI K
RARBGBARBETHEBEERKT LN
B o WA THRIALS E £ 8 E
Fx W% BERREHERFHNIAR
TR  FBIREIBAT ¢

RMB’'000
ARBTF T
At 1 January 2022 R-—TE—_—F—H—H 1,391
Amortisation for the year N E (401)
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 R_ZE-_—4+—-HA=+—H
r=E—=F—HF—H 990
Amortisation for the year NG S (401)
At 31 December 2023 R-E-_=F+=-HA=+—H 589
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R e IS ERR M5

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE-E-_=F+-A=+—HIEE

25. Lease Liabilities 25. HEEE
2023 2022
—E-=HF == —hE
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR¥T T ARETT
Total minimum lease payments: =EHAERIBERE
Due within one year —F R EIE 571 3,341
Due in the second to fifth years E_ERFRH 1,412 1,714
1,983 5,055
Future finance charges on leases liabilities HEBBENARRBEER (141) (300)
Present value of leases liabilities HEBERE 1,842 4,755
Present value of minimum lease payments:  SIEHAEFIERE :
Due within one year —FARE] 499 3,181
Due in the second to fifth years FE_EHFEIH 1,343 1,574
1,842 4,755
Less: Portion due within one year included & : stARBBEEB N —F
under current liabilities A EIEARY R (499) (3,181)
Portion due after one year included SFAERBBREE T —F1%
under non-current liabilities B HEARE 5 1,343 1,574

REBEZZ-_=F+-A=+—HIEE -
HEMBERS R AARES,678,0007T (=
T——4F: AR¥6,811,0007T) °

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the total cash outflows for
the leases are RMB5,678,000 (2022: RMB6,811,000).
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‘e R MiEE
For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE-ZE-_=F+-A=+—HItFE

25. Lease Liabilities (Continued)

Details of the lease activities

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group has entered into leases
for land use right in the PRC, office, office equipment, staff quarters

HEFBFHE
R-E_ =R _T_—_F+-_A=+—
B AEEEHAFT R ERE - #HA

and warehouse. E MAERE BIBSREERIVZHE
4 o
Financial statements Range of
Types of items of right-of-use Number remaining
right-of-use assets assets included in of leases lease term Particulars
EREEERE EREEENHBRRER HEHE g M EE #f5
Land use right in the PRC  Prepaid lease payments in “Right-of- 3 27-29 years All lease payments are prepaid upon entering
use assets” (2022: 3) (2022: 28-30 years) the contract.
RPENDERE  RIEREREINAENEENE 3 27-29% FAMENRRET LA KRN -
(ZEB-=%:3) (ZT==%:2830%)
Office Buildings in "Right-of-use assets” Nil Nil Contains an option to renew the lease for
(2022: 1) (2022: 1 year) additional 1 year after the end of the lease
by giving a six-month notice to landlord
before the end of the contract.
PRE REREEEINETF £ z BAEERNERARANEABHIEENR
(EZT==F%:1) (EZ==F:1F) A EROEREBER—F -
Office Not applicable as short term lease 1 Within 12 months Subject to monthly fixed rental payment
exemption under HKFRS 16 applied (2022: Nil) (2022: Nil) and no extension option or termination
option would be exercised at the lease
commencement date
PRE R R E B RS 4R F 1657 1 128 AR &8 AEERe MR RN ERR RS E
BTEHHERE T ER (C2-—%:%) (CT-—%:% TR TE AR B SR L HE -
Office equipment Office equipment in “Right-of-use Nil Nil All of the contract contains an option to
assets” (2022: 3) (2022: Within 12 months)  purchase the equipment at the end of the
lease term.
PRERME RIERRAE] MM RERE z z BN NHEE—TREEE  AINEER
(Z2ZZF:3) (CERZZF: 2EAR) EHERSEEZRENEE -
Warehouse Buildings in “Right-of-use assets” Nil Nil Contains an option to renew the lease for
(2022: 1) (2022: 1 year) additional 1 year after the end of the lease
by giving a two-month notice to landlord
before the end of the contract.
BE REREEE|NET z z BAEERNERARAMEABAEFNR
(ZBZZF 1) (ZBZZF:15) ;o EROEREBER—F -
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AR B RaAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
miE=F=c= == AIFE

25. Lease Liabilities (Continued) 25. lHEAE (@)
Details of the lease activities (Continued) HAEFBFHE (&)
Financial statements Range of
Types of items of right-of-use Number remaining
right-of-use assets assets included in of leases lease term Particulars
EREEEER EREEENIBERRER HEHE T EREE #f5
Warehouse Not applicable as short term lease 1 Within 12 months Subject to monthly fixed rental payment
exemption under HKFRS 16 applied ~ (2022: 2) (2022: Within 12 months)  and no extension option or termination
option would be exercised at the lease
commencement date.
RE BT RE AN SR EER £ 165 1 12EAR &g AEERSNF RN ERRES
HTEHEERe N ER (ZBZZF:1) (ZB-ZF:12ERR) HEGETHERRHE-
Staff quarters Buildings in “Right-of-use assets” 1 1 year Contains an option to renew the lease for
(2022: 5) (2022: 1 to 2 years) additional 1 year after the end of the lease
by giving a one-month notice to landlord
before the end of the contract.
B8IEE RIEREEE]NEF 1 (K3 BEEANEREN—EARAEENT
(ZEZZF:5) (ZEZZF 1229) A EENEREBER—F -
Staff quarters Not applicable as short term lease 3 Within 12 months Subject to monthly fixed rental payment
exemption under HKFRS 16 applied (2022: Nil) (2022: Nil) and no extension option or termination
option would be exercised at the lease
commencement date.
=R EFTRE R &SI IR E 4R E 165 3 12EAR %8 AEERSMNHRIE SRS B
HTEHREHRE T ER (Z2-ZF:\) (Z2-%: F) BREATOO T Ep AR A
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE-—SE-—=F+-A=+—HIEE

26. Deferred Tax

26. IEIERIIE

The movement during the year in the Deferred Tax (assets)/liabilities is as EIERE (B E) / BERFANEHNT
follows:
2023 2022
—BC-=F — T4
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT ARETTT
At 1 January n—A—H 19,670 19,390
Recognised in profit or loss (note 9) gz iERR (1 5E9) 5,679 280
At 31 December R+=B=+—~H 25,349 19,670
The movement in deferred tax (assets)/liabilities (prior to offsetting of FRELERE(BE) /A& RERER
balances within the same taxation jurisdiction) during the year is as WE B [E N E A ERAT) LB AT
follows:
Fair value
change of
non-current
assets Others Total
FERBEE
AT ESE Hith st
RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AR¥T T AR¥T T
At 1 January 2022 WN-_E_—_F—H—H 26,120 (6,730) 19,390
Recognised in profit or loss ERB =R (989) 1,269 280
At 31 December 2022 and RZB_F
1 January 2023 +ZA=+—HK
—Z-=%—H—H 25,131 (5,461) 19,670
Recognised in profit or loss HERIE R 3,794 1,885 5,679
At 31 December 2023 REZBZ=F
+=HA=+—H 28,925 (3.576) 25,349
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26. Deferred Tax (Continued)

The amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position are as follows:

= A\ H
%/T\m/\

R I ot

For the year ended 31 December 2023
miE=F=c= == AIFE

26. IEFERIIE ()

REFE P BARRKRTHERNE RN -

2023 2022
—EBC-=F —E_—4&F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%TT ARETT
Deferred Tax assets recognised in the Mre B EAR R IR
consolidated statement of financial position E’JLL%}EEIE;QE (3,576) (5,461)
Deferred Tax liabilities recognised in the RGBSR R IER
consolidated statement of financial position E’\JML%RIEE\% 28,925 25,131
25,349 19,670

As at 31 December 2023, the Group has unrecognised tax losses of
RMB94,883,000 (2022: RMB72,201,000) to carry for PRC EIT purposes

REZ-=F+"H=+—H A&EFN
TR B XS RGERER ZHIEEE

as follows: AR#94,883,000t (ZTE=_—F : AR%
72,201,0007T)

2023 2022

—E-=E =EE=—E

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ARETT

Year of expiry: E|EIEE(n -

2023 —TE-=4F - 4,556
2024 ZT-F - 4,983
2025 kSl i = - 1,692
2026 —ERF - 768
2029 —ENF 19,431 19,431
2030 —E=TF 2,921 2,921
2031 and after —E=—FR2E 72,531 37,850
94,883 72,201

RYIHBERBFEEYRMBRHOBRDA

2023F F 33 155



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
T E BTSRRI EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE-—SE-—=F+-A=+—HIEE

27. Share Capital 27. IR7R
2023 2022 2023 2022
Number of Number of
shares shares
—E-=E % —E-=E -
RIODEE RiAEE
Notes ‘000 ‘000 RMB’000 RMB'000
(i T T AR®T ARETT
Registered, issued and fully paid: =t » E&1T &
BB
At 1 January and 31 December ~ W—A—AK+=A
=305
— Domestic shares of RMBO0.10 each —ZREEAR0.107T
HMAER (i) 1,252,000 1,252,000 125,200 125,200
— H shares of RMBO0. 10 each - BREBEARKC.10T
HIHRR (ii) 426,000 426,000 42,600 42,600
1,678,000 1,678,000 167,800 167,800

The shareholders of domestic shares and H shares are entitled to receive
dividends as declared by the Company from time to time and are
entitled to one vote per share at meetings of the Company. All domestic
shares and H shares rank equally with regard to the Company’s residual
assets.

Notes:
(i)  The domestic shares are not currently listed on any stock exchange.

(i) The H shares have been issued and listed on the GEM of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited since 5 September 2005.

RNE R EHRBRRE B EBERA A TRE
IRHIRR S + WERRARRSZ EAERRE
—Z o FIENERRKHBRYHARRARIBTEE
ZHREEER -

GEE
) NERBELRAEABEAZHH LT -

iy HREB-ZZTRFNLARARBETING
BERZZMERARGEMLET -
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28. Reserves

(a)

(b)

(0

Share premium
Share premium arose from the issue of shares at prices in excess
of their par value less share issue expenses.

Statutory reserve fund

The companies of the Group incorporated in the PRC are required
to allocate at least 10% of its net profit according to its PRC
audited financial statements to the statutory reserve fund until
the balance of such reserve has reached 50% of the companies’
issued Share Capital. In such case, any further appropriation is
optional. The statutory reserve fund shall only be used for making
up losses or for capitalisation into Share Capital, provided that
the remaining balance is not less than 20% of the issued Share
Capital after such capitalisation.

Capital reserve

Capital reserve comprises (i) the difference between the total
amount of fair value of shares issued to the immediate holding
company and a fellow subsidiary of the Company and the
amount of the net assets value acquired during the acquisition of
Neptunus Fuyao, (ii) the difference between the total amount of
consideration paid to the immediate parent company and a fellow
subsidiary of the Company and the amount of the net assets value
acquired during the acquisition of Neptunus Changjian, and (iii)
the difference between the total amount of consideration paid
from immediate parent company and a subsidiary of the Company
and the amount of the net assets value disposed during disposal
of Taizhou Neptunus Nano Bio-medical Technology Company
Limited.

RYIHBERBFEEYRMBRHOBRDA

o <H S
iRe SR M A
For the year ended 31 December 2023
HEZZ_=FSt_H=+—HILFE

28. %1%

(a)

(b)

(c)

grpiy]
RBET M EENBREEBLE
EEMRERNDETER -

EELAEE
REERHBEZEMKZNARAED
75 AR % o B AR B AR B 7 R O A R
10% D EEEEAEREE - EEXH R
HHREDZERREBETRANS50%
BRIk - RZIBERT - NRRAREEL
ETEESIMER < JBE ATRE R AT AR
e - HENMERIRAE - fERFEA
TORETEBEANENE BITRA
20% °

BB
BEARRERENARNRRERERAT
R—FHRZKBARETORMDH AT
ERRENESTRERCKWBEES
BEZENER (XN TARFAEBT
RAIR—HRRNE A RN EEER
eI REMBEEFENTEZ
B ZRE  R(i)VAAREBE QR R
AR —HB AR NRERRREL
ERNEBENRENBENZERAF
RHOHEBEEFEHNEHE
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(=]
el

VISR B et

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_ZT_=F = HA=+—RHUFE

28. Reserves (Continued)

(d)

(e)

Distributability of Reserves
At 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Company had no
distributable reserves.

Capital management

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and to
continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other
stakeholders by pricing products and services commensurately
with the level of risk and by securing access to finance at a
reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital
structure to maintain a balance between the higher shareholder
returns that might be possible with higher levels of borrowings
and the advantages and security afforded by a sound capital
position, and makes adjustments to the capital structure in light of
changes in economic conditions.

The Group monitors its capital structure on the basis of net debt
to equity ratio. For this purpose, net debt is defined as total debt
(which includes interest-bearing borrowings and Lease Liabilities)
less bank balances and cash.

28. fith (%)
(d) HEZTDIRM

(e)

RNEE==ER=F = =% = f
=t+—H ' KA EAHED RS

BEXER
AEEEREARH B IRAERANEE R
Bl & A E At RIS AR E RS - 75
VA 7 PR [ e 7K 1 S 2 o e AR RE (B %
BAERAESRE

ASEETE R B R A A
- L RRRSRREE (TEBRS
o K T2 T SRR B AR IR 7 25 5
BB RRERNTE - BT
SREVE BV A A B E % -

REBIRFERS B AL R )RR
HEARGERE - slit s - AEESEF
B RE BHBETS (BIEH S AR RE
SRE)RBITEGIIRS -
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s EE >

R e IS ERR M5

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE-E-_=F+-A=+—HIEE

28. Reserves (Continued) 28. f#1E (&)
(e) Capital management (Continued) (e) EBEXEE(E)

During 2023, the Group's strategy, which was unchanged from MR- =4F - AEEFREA RIS E
2022, was to maintain a gearing ratio within 30% to 70%. In T FER - RERFEARBELER
order to maintain the ratio, the Group may adjust the amount of 30%E70% 2 fH o R#EFERNBIEL
dividends paid to shareholders, issue new shares, return capital %= REEFTRE S AR T AR AR
to shareholders, raise new debt financing or sell assets to reduce BEE% - BIIHRG  RMREREE
debt. The net debt to equity ratio at 31 December 2023 and 2022 7R~ (BT ERS R & ok B B B LAUR

was as follows: LEE RZIE=FR=_FT__
T A=+ —BRFERES RN

I

2023 2022

—E-=F == =4

RMB’'000 RMB’'000

AR®TT ARETT

Total borrowings BEHE

Lease liabilities HEARE 1,842 4,755
Interest-bearing borrowings MEEE 87,844 108,184

89,686 112,939

Less: bank balances and cash B IRITRASRRIRE (382,206) (350,098)

Net debt HE N/A TE M N/A 73

Total equity T ABER 1,016,182 1,005,304

Net debt to equity ratio SR EB RS L N/A FiE F N/A e
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T E BTSRRI EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE-—SE-—=F+-A=+—HIEE

29. Reconciliation of Liabilities Arising from 29. EXERE R EB2HER
Financing Activities
The changes in the Group's liabilities arising from financing activities

AEBELAREES 2 AEEE DR

can be classified as follows: e
Amount
duetoa
non-controlling
Lease Interest-bearing shareholder
liabilities borrowings FEATFEER Total
HESE WEEE RRMFTE ast
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000
AR¥ETR AR¥ETT AR¥ETR AR¥TR
At 1 January 2023 R-ZE-=#—-f—H 4,755 87,937 20,247 112,939
Cash-flows: RERE .
— Payment of lease liabilities -HEBREMAR (3,147) - = (3,147)
— Proceeds - FiB5A - 139,805 - 139,805
~ Repayment -ER - (139,898) (20,247) (160,145)
— Interest paid -ERFIE - (5,420) (100) (5,520)
Non-cash: ¥HE:
~ Interest expenses - MERR 234 5,420 100 5,754
At 31 December 2023 R=B-=#+=-A=+-H 1,842 87,844 - 89,686
At 1 January 2022 RZE-—%—-HA—H 4,557 101,137 - 105,694
Cash-flows: RERE .
— Payment of lease liabilities -REBBRAR (6,769) = = (6,769)
- Proceeds il - 93,987 30,000 123,987
- Repayment -B% - (107,187) (9,753) (116,940)
~ Interest paid -BHFE - (5.622) (753) (6,375)
Non-cash: FHE
- Interest expenses - fSF% 657 5,622 753 7,032
— Entering into new leases - RIAFHE 6,482 = = 6,482
- Write-off - B (172) - - (172)
At 31 December 2023 R=ZZ-=f+=B=+-H 4,755 87,937 20,247 112,939
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30. Non-cash Transactions

il

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group entered into
lease contracts in which additions to right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities amounting to RMB6,482,000 was recognised at the lease
commencement date.

Financial Risk Management

The Group is exposed to financial risks through its use of financial
instruments in its ordinary course of operations and in its investment
activities. The financial risks include market risk (included foreign
currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

The management manages and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and effective
manner.

There has been no change to the types of the Group’s exposure in
respect of financial instruments or the manner in which it manages and
measures the risks.

AR B RaAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
miE=F=c= == AIFE

30. ¥RERS

31.

RYIHBERBFEEYRMBRHOBRDA

RBEZT-_=—F+=-A=+—HILFER
EEFIVAETHESRY  HPFAREER
TAEaEMNEINEAREE,482,000c A
E R B HRER o

BB ERE
$%Ii§i@ﬁéﬁﬁ%‘%&%ﬂ&¢&&§xﬁ@
FRiEAeRTAmmEReaRER - MR
BIE % @ (a?ﬁﬁl\“ﬁﬁﬂ R K2 N o [
1m,\ S RmENE S R
BREEHZERBEITEIEREEE - AR
B U FREUE E FE i o

AEENSRTASENAREL N ER
R B AR HHALWES -
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T E BTSRRI EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE-—SE-—=F+-A=+—HIEE

31. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 31. IS EREIEEERE (&)
31.1 Categories of financial assets and liabilities 311 eREEREEZEF
The carrying amounts presented in the consolidated statement e BN KRR 2FIHREEEA T
of financial position relate to the following categories of financial HiMenEERERAERA

assets and financial liabilities:

2023 2022
—E-=F —T-CF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREETTT
Financial assets SREE
Financial assets at amortised cost BB ENEREE
Trade and other receivables JFE Ui BR X Rz EL At g W 3k T8 292,225 292,099
Time deposits TE BiTF R 10,000 30,000
Short-term bank deposits EERSRTTER 10,000 60,000
Bank balances and cash RITHEBR RIS 372,206 290,098
684,431 672,197
Financial liabilities o= =R
Financial liabilities measured at BB ENESRES
amortised cost
Trade and other payables FEAST BRI Rz EL A FE A~ 2R IE 254,559 243,069
Interest-bearing borrowings Mt EEE 87,844 87,937
Lease liabilities HEaE 1,842 4,755
344,245 335,761
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31. Financial Risk Management (Continued)
31.2 Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default
on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the
Group. The Group has adopted a policy of only dealing with
creditworthy counterparties and obtaining sufficient collateral,
where appropriate, as a means of mitigating the risk of financial
loss from defaults.

The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to trade and other
receivables. The Group's exposure to credit risk arising from time
deposits, short-term bank deposits and bank balances is limited
because the counterparties are the major banks in the PRC with
established credit ratings, for which the Group considers to have
low credit risk. Given the high credit ratings of the banks, the
management does not expect any counterparties to fail to meet
its obligations.

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk for the components
of the consolidated statement of financial position at 31 December
2023 and 2022 is the carrying amount as disclosed in note 31.1.

(i)  Trade receivables
The Group's exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by
the individual characteristics of each customer rather than
the industry or country in which the customers operate and
therefore significant concentrations of credit risk primarily
arise when the Group has significant exposure to individual
customers.

Individual credit evaluations are performed on all customers
requiring credit over a certain amount. These evaluations
focus on the customer’s past history of making payments
when due and current ability to pay, and take into account
information specific to the customer as well as pertaining to
the economic environment in which the customer operates.
Trade receivables are due within 30-180 days from the date
of billing. Trade receivables are written off (i.e. derecognised)
when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery.
Normally, the Group does not obtain collaterals from
customers.

RYIHBERBFEEYRMBRHOBRDA

fire MR R MY &

For the year ended 31 December 2023
miE=F=c= == AIFE

B RRERE B ERBER ()
31.2 8RR

EERBES NS —TTERARELNE
MBS S| BRA R BB 5B A - $‘$
EE AR EAEEN TP RERE
S8 M ER) (E R EEL %EJZ
MPERRIER TR ZHEE -

AEESEERRE 25 ER KRR
N EL A FEMOGRIR o 755 (B P I g 9 7€ B
7R - HHSRITEFARRITESRZE
ERRER  AXZHFRNTEES
KeEERRNEERT - Bt - &

w#ﬂ*ﬁﬂ BRI - ERRITHERS
EEE  ERERYREH TR
NETHEE -

AEBR-_E_=FR_TB-__F+=
A=+ —AZEE0BIRRRAEK LS
B AEERR AN 1P RENR
Ao -

() EWEA
AEENEERRIZZZER
MERIEE (MIEFFPELEME
E’]ﬁ%%l%)ﬁﬁwa BIEER

SEETHBEREIEZLENE
’ilﬁﬂlﬂﬂ%ﬁ'ﬁéﬁﬂ A

B o

AEBEMBEEZRBRE TSR
FENEFETEMNGEERME -
ZENMEERE S XM EE
IR EERC SR & B ATAY (R ee
N BEREFPBARERZFK
EEBMENKEREAMNE
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T E BTSRRI EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE-—SE-—=F+-A=+—HIEE

31. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 31. IS EREIEEERE (&)
31.2 Credit risk (Continued) 31.2 FERK (&)
(i) Trade receivables (Continued) ()  EWERF(E)
The Group measures loss allowances for trade receivables REFRBEEREHEMEES
at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, which is calculated Bz &R 2 RKRRERER
using a provision matrix. As the Group’s historical credit % BRI REBRE
loss experience does not indicate significantly different loss HEL @B AEERELEES
patterns for different customer segments, the loss allowance BEBRWEBRRTRMAS =R
based on past due status is not further distinguished BELBANBEREREEZR
between the Group's different customer bases. B b 2 74 480 B 1B 5/ I O FES 18 1%

BARAEE R E PR EEL
E—FED e

The following table provides information about the Group’s TEREFR_ZF_=F+=-A=1
exposure to credit risk and ECL for trade receivables as at 31 —HBER=ZE_—F+=HA=1+—H
December 2023 and 2022 which was determined as follows: A EEHEREE R A AR B

RRHTEHEEERNER

Over 6
Current and months but Over 1 year
within less than but less than
—EC=E 6 months 1 year 3 years Over 3 years

31 December 2023 +ZA=+-H past due past due past due past due Total
EAR #B6MEA BB1F

6EARES ELMERSR ESMFERES skl #st

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTT ARBF T ARBF T ARBF T ARBTT

ECL rate AREEERE 0% -1% 4% 10% -50% 100% =

Gross carrying amount  #2BRE{E

— trade receivables - MR 165,380 4,661 6,776 20,206 197,023
Lifetime ECL 2HRHEEEE 10 215 2,340 20,206 22,771
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fire MR R MY &

For the year ended 31 December 2023
miE=F=c= == AIFE

31. Financial Risk Management (Continued) M REMREREBZERBER (&)
31.2 Credit risk (Continued) 31.2 FERK ()
(i)  Trade receivables (Continued) () EWEE(E
Current and Over 6 months
within 6 but less than Over 1 year
—T_—F months 1 year but less than 3 Over 3 years
31 December 2022 T=A=1=H past due past due years past due past due Total
BRIk fR6{E A HA1F
elEAMEE EIMERS  EIR3FEERH 3R st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
ECL rate HEEERER 0%-1% 4% 10-50% 100% -
Gross carrying amount  ZBEREAE
— trade receivables - YRR 146,684 2,909 4,538 22,876 77,007
Lifetime ECL 2HRHEE
B 26 116 1,102 22,876 24,120

(i1)

As set out in note 19, at 31 December 2023, the Group
had bank acceptance bills of RMB52,965,000 (2022:
RMB52,134,000). Nonetheless, the Group only accepts bank
acceptance bills issued by banks in the PRC with good credit
rating and considers that the credit risk associated with such
bank acceptance bills to be insignificant.

Other financial assets at amortised cost

Other financial assets at amortised cost include other
receivables, deposits and amounts due from related parties.
The management would make periodic collective and
individual assessment on the recoverability of these other
financial assets based on historical settlement records,
past experience and current external information and
adjusted to reflect probability-weighted forward-looking
information, including the default rate where the relevant
debtors operates. Other monitoring procedures are in place
to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue
debts. In these regards, the credit risk of other receivables
are considered to be low.

RYIHBERBFEEYRMBRHOBRDA

(ii)

A E19FTE c R=F=—=F
+=ZA=+—8 ' AEBZRT
AR A ARES52,965,0007T
(ZZ2==%F : AR¥52,134,000
J0) ° A - AEBEERERTEA
BRI EEFRABITRITZR
TERLEER  URABBEZER
118 R 2 E ERBREM

Ak A G R 2 B E
Hih R B A EN S RE E
BIEHMEWRFIE  FREER
BERRIE - BEERBERESL
BB - BAKLRNE RN
B R E b S g B B R A] B U
T EAVE SR B8 R A A A M 48 A
BL\RBRBEENESATEEES
B BIEREESALENED
Ko REBIIE | Kb BEEE 2

Fr + DARE(R o] SRER 2R 3 15 5 Uk (=
BAERS - Bt E - B
HFIEREERBREEARIE -
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— 25 2
‘e B HRMEE
For the year ended 31 December 2023
e — G- — 5| =S—[E[l[tEEE

31. Financial Risk Management (Continued)

31.2 Credit risk (Continued)
Other financial assets at amortised cost (Continued)

(ii)

The ECL rate applied for the amounts due from related
parties (trade nature and non-trade nature) and other
receivables are as follows:

(a)

(b)

amounts due from related parties (trade nature) are
to be considered using “0% for amounts that are
between current and within 3 months, 1%-4% for
amounts that are more than 3 months but less than 12
months; 10%-20% for amounts that are between 1
and 2 years, 30%-50% for amounts that are between
2 and 3 years and 100% for amounts that are over 3
years according to the past due ageing” for calculating
the ECL.

amounts due from related parties (non-trade nature)
and other receivables are to be considered using “20%
for amounts that are between 1 and 2 years, 50% for
amounts that are between 2 and 3 years and 100%
for amounts that are over 3 years according to the past
due ageing” for calculating the ECL.

Total ECL recognised for other receivables amounted to
RMB2,090,000 (2022: RMB1,825,000).

31. I EMGEIRE B ERBER (E)
31.2 &Rk (&)
E B At 282 EE

(ii)

(&

s KEE T SR (B S 1EE R IE
BHMNE) hZF BN IRRE
RBEMEREERXMT

(a

JEUREAE S FIB (B2 1HE)
AR A0 A (1B 55 6 HA BR e
&A1 R3ME A A E S 5
0% @ BB3EAETR
1218 BB H S 5B HEEE1 %-
4% i 1E2F B ARG
10%-20% : 2E3F @S
HAEE30%-50% M BB 34
BRI REEE100%  LARHE
TBHEEEE -

FEU BT S IE GEE 5 1%
H) & E e U R IB AR A
FEARIES KK 1225
BIEA S RERME20% « 2234
BHA S FARES0% & B B3
FEE S ERAHE 100% ] AFT
HIgEME BB -

REMERRBRRNBSHEE
EstEEREA A A R%2,090,0007T
(ZZE =% : ARK¥1,825,000
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31. Financial Risk Management (Continued)
31.3 Liquidity risk

Individual operating entities within the Group are responsible
for their own cash management, including the short-term
investment of cash surpluses and the raising of loans to cover
expected cash demands, subject to parent company’s board
approval. The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and
expected liquidity requirements and its compliance with lending
covenants to ensure that it maintains sufficient amounts of cash
and adequate committed lines of funding from major financial
institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and
longer term. The Group relies on operating cashflows as a
significant source of liquid fund. As at 31 December 2023, the
Group has available unutilised banking facilities of approximately
RMBnil (2022: RMB3,930,000) for loan and issue of bills.

Analysed below is the Group’s remaining contractual maturities
for its non-derivative financial liabilities as at 31 December 2023
and 2022. When the creditor has a choice of when the liability is
settled, the liability is included on the basis of the earliest date on
when the Group can be required to pay. Where the settlement
of the liability is in instalments, each instalment is allocated to the
earliest period in which the Group is committed to pay.

RYIHBERBFEEYRMBRHOBRDA

AR B RaAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
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T E BTSRRI EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE-—SE-—=F+-A=+—HIEE

31. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 31. IS EREIEEERE (&)
31.3 Liquidity risk (Continued) 31.3 REBELER (F)
PAIYE] 202
3IzE St 3
Total Total
Within ~ Overfyear  contractual Within Over 1 year contractual
fyearor  butwithin  undiscounted Carrying 1 year or butwithin -~ undiscounted Camying
on demand 5 years cash flow amount  on demand 5 years cash flow amount
i E ] B8 AHRIR EE iR 07
REZRE  1EESER BEREAE REE  REEMR  \EESRR ReRE4E FEE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥TL  ARBTR  ARMTr  ARBTR  ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR
Non-derivative financial liabilies ~~ Ffi4£HEE
Interest-bearing borrowings hsRETEHE 89,182 2510 91,750 87,844 87,555 33 9,879 §7.937
Trade and other payables ERERAMRNZE 254559 - 254,559 254,559 243,646 - 243646 243,069
Lease libiltes HERR 571 1412 1983 1802 334 1714 505 4755
344312 3,982 348,292 344,245 33454 5038 339,580 335,761
31.4 Foreign currency risk 31.4 SNERBE

Presently, there is no hedging policy with respect to the foreign
exchange exposure. The Group's functional currency is Renminbi
and the Group has no significant foreign currency risk because its
business is principally in the PRC and most of the transactions are
denominated in the Group'’s functional currency.

B AT - 30 B SN L e B SR R
REBENNREEE /AR - BINAE
BREBEIEEDTE - REBARXZUAR
SEMIIEEREHE - AW ES AN
KRR

31.5 Interest rate risk 31.5 A=@K
Interest rate risk relates to the risk that the fair value or cash FERRES R T EMNAFEXIRER

flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes
in market interest rates. The Group’s interest rate risk arises
primarily from short-term interest-bearing bank borrowings with
variable rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. The
exposure to interest rates for the Group’s bank balances, time
deposits and short-term bank deposits are considered immaterial.

As M X KB ER R -
AN B A R\ = Z R BT BN R
MM EEE - EEREREE R
BemntEak - REBERRITAR -
TE BATE RN A AR T 17 R0 A =R e
RRLTERX o

168 SHENZHEN NEPTUNUS INTERLONG BIO-TECHNIQUE COMPANY LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR B RaAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
miE=F=c= == AIFE

31. Financial Risk Management (Continued) R EE B ERBER
31.5 Interest rate risk (Continued) 32.5 ARk ()
At 31 December 2023, it is estimated that an increase/decrease RZBEZ=F+=A=+—H ' KFE
of 50 basis points in interest rates, with all other variables held BB ESRFIENELT - HeH=
constant, would decrease/increase the Group’s profit after income N, A S0MEERE - #R A 1N

ANER B BR FT1S B 180m A R AR BB s 140
BARIE373,000L(ZE=—4F : A
R#¥460,0007T) ° #0550 8%
BEEEEHEN T —AFERE RS
F R A B o] ge B L AT -

tax and retained profits by approximately RMB373,000 (2022:
RMB460,000). The 50 basis point increase/decrease represents
management’s assessment of a reasonably possible change in
interest rates over the period until the next annual reporting date.

. EXNBERIRS
B AR A B S SRR b b S 2 2 S5 -
AR EERAEE A EEE T FHIER
R o

32. Material Related Party Transactions
In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in these consolidated
financial statements, the Group had the following significant
transactions with related parties during the year.

(@) BERXRS

(a) Related party transactions

2023 2022
—E-=F —T__F
Name of related parties Relationship Nature of transactions Note RMB000 RMB'000
BER A% B RHME FitzE ARET T ARETT
Shenzhen Neptunus Group Company Intermediate parent Rental of office (i) 1,433 1,459
Limited (“Neptunus Group”) company HERAE
BT EERNERAR SN
(MEEXE))
Shenzhen Neptunus Pharmaceutical ~ Fellow subsidiary Purchase of finished goods (ii) 71,655 74,281
Company Limited (“Neptunus RIZHE LA BEAK M
Pharmaceutical”) Purchase of raw materials (ii) 2,580 -
AIBEEEBRAR BERME
(pisE=2 =) Rental of storage (i) 296 276
ERHEER
Hangzhou Neptunus Bio-engineering  Fellow subsidiary Purchase of finished goods (ii) - 501

Company Limited EEGENE

mMEEENIRERAH

EEHN M

RYIHBERBFEEYRMBRHOBRDA
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BE-—SE-—=F+-A=+—HIEE

2. ERBELRS (B
BES RS )

32. Material Related Party Transactions (Continued)

(a) Related party transactions (Continued) (a)

2023 2022
—B-=F T —F
Name of related parties Relationship Nature of transactions Note RMB’000 RMB'000
BER A8 BiE RHME FitaE ARET T ARETFT
Hubei Neptunus Pharmaceutical Fellow subsidiary Sales of goods (if) 155 223
Group Company Limited RRHRBAR HEEY
HitEEREEBER AR
Heilongjiang Province Neptunus Fellow subsidiary Sales of goods (ii) 522 81
Pharmaceutical Company Limited ~ FIZHIB A HEEY
REIEETRERRAA
Henan Dongsen Pharmaceutical Fellow subsidiary Sales of goods (ii) 431 224
Company Limited EES NG HERY
A ERAEERR A
Henan Neptunus Pharmaceutical Fellow subsidiary Sales of goods (i) 681 10,164
Group Company Limited RRRBAR HEEY
EEEREEBER AR
Jining Neptunus Huasen Fellow subsidiary Sales of goods (ii) 203 205
Pharmaceutical Company Limited ~ RIZKIB A7 HEEY
BESTEREEER LA
Shenzhen Neptunus Jiankang Fellow subsidiary Sales of goods (ii) 1,279 1,247
Shiye Company Limited EES =N HERY
MMETREEXRRAR
Jiangsu Neptunus Jiankang Fellow subsidiary Purchase of finished goods (ii) - 946
Bio-technology Co., Ltd. RRMRBAR BERNm
TESTREEMRBARAH Sales of goods (i 122 74
HERY
Sulu Neptunus Pharmaceutical Fellow subsidiary Sales of goods (ii) 210 364

Group Company Limited
HEEIRESEFRAR

RZHBAR

HEEN
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE-Z-=F+-A=+—HLFE

32. Material Related Party Transactions (Continued)

32. EXBAEL RS (@)

Pharmaceutical Company Limited

AEEERTREERAF

EEH- NG

HERW

RYIHBERBFEEYRMBRHOBRDA

(a) Related party transactions (Continued) (a) BERZRS @
2023 2022
“EB-=F Bl
Name of related parties Relationship Nature of transactions Note RMB'000 RMB'000
BERER LA REME i ARET R ARETFT
Anyang Hengfeng Pharmaceutical  Fellow subsidiary Sales of goods (ii) 212 991
Co., Ltd. BELI=NG HEEY
Z5EERERRAR
Shenzhen Quanyaowang Fellow subsidiary Sales of goods (ii) - 293
Pharmaceutical Co., Limited EEGENE HEEN
A2 ERELERAR
Guangxi Guilin Pharmaceutical Fellow subsidiary Sales of goods (ii) 2,490 2,462
Company Limited RIZMBAR HEEN
BRENETBEAR AR
Zhoukou Renhe Pharmaceutical Fellow subsidiary Sales of goods (ii) 2,079 2,006
Company Limited RZMBAR HEEN
BOTCMEEER AR
Shenzhen Neptunus Medical Fellow subsidiary Research and (iii) a1 3
Technology Research Institute RZMBAR development income
Company Limited B
("Neptunus Research Limited”) Purchase of finished goods (ii) 104 1,715
B ERERERRRERAF RN M
(e EHRb)
Henan Neptunus Yinhe Fellow subsidiary Sales of goods (ii) 770 670
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32. Material Related Party Transactions (Continued) 32. ERAEAERR S (@)
(a) Related party transactions (Continued) (a) BELZRS (H)

2023 2022

—B-=F T —F

Name of related parties Relationship Nature of transactions Note RMB’000 RMB'000

BER A8 BiE RHME FitaE ARET T ARETFT

Neptunus (Zhanjiang) Pharmaceutical Fellow subsidiary Sales of goods (if) 441 264

Company Limited G HEEY

BT (R BEERLA

Shandong Neptunus Yinhe Fellow subsidiary Sales of goods (ii) 11,623 24,040
Pharmaceutical Company Limited ~ FIZKIB2AA] HEEY
WRETHRAEEERAR

Zhongshan Changjian Pharmaceutical Fellow subsidiary Sales of goods (ii) 97 762
Company Limited RZMERR HERY
RIlmEREXERAR

Shenzhen Shenye Pharmaceutical Fellow subsidiary Sales of goods (i) 2,571 1,357
Development Company Limited ~ RIZKB A HEEW
AMImEAEBEEREBAR

Xinjiang Neptunus Pharmaceutical ~ Fellow subsidiary Sales of goods (ii) 936 544
Company Limited RZARBAR HEEN
NESTEEBRAR

Anhui Neptunus Guoan Fellow subsidiary Sales of goods (ii) 422 653
Pharmaceutical Company Limited ~ FIZFIEAA HERY
ZHETHZBERRAR

Qingdao Huaren Medical Delivery Fellow subsidiary Sales of goods (i) 868 894
Company Limited RRHRBAR HEEY
BEECBERZERATA

Anhui Neptunus Pharmaceutical Fellow subsidiary Sales of goods (ii) 635 995

Group Company Limited RZMBAR HERN
BT BEEEERAR
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE-Z-=F+-A=+—HLFE

32. Material Related Party Transactions (Continued)

(a) Related party transactions (Continued)

32. EXBAEL RS (@)

() BEFXRS (H)

2023 2022
“EB-=F Bl
Name of related parties Relationship Nature of transactions Note RMB'000 RMB'000
BERER LA REME i ARET R ARETFT
Guangxi Neptunus Yinhe Fellow subsidiary Sales of goods (ii) 95 113
Company Limited EESE A HEEY
EREERIRERB AR
Henan Enji Pharmaceutical Fellow subsidiary Sales of goods (ii) 146 1,036
Company Limited RZMBAR HEEN
AERBERERAR
Shenzhen Neptunus Yidianyao Related company Sales of goods (ii) 7,562 6,200
Pharmaceutical Company Limited B2 HEEN
MmEESREREER AN
Jiangsu Nepstar Pharmaceutical Related company Sales of goods (ii) 5,196 4,526
Company Limited NG HEEN
IEHSTERBEBRAR
Jilin Neptunus Jiankang Related company Purchase of finished goods (ii) 13,154 4,787
Bio-technology Company Limited ~ B:EA ] BEEKS
ANEEREEVRBEER AT
Nanning Neptunus Jiankang Bio- Related company Purchase of finished goods (ii) 22,493 19,775
technology Company Limited NG| BERHM
HEETREEMRBERAR
Shaoyang Neptunus Pharmaceutical ~ Fellow subsidiary Sales of goods (ii) 343 473
Company Limited RZMBAR HEEN
BEETBEERAOA
Guangdong Neptunus Medical Group Fellow subsidiary Sales of goods (ii) -956 20,208

Company Limited EESE A HEEY)

EREIRESEERAF
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32. Material Related Party Transactions (Continued) 32. ERAEAERR S (@)
(a) Related party transactions (Continued) (a) BELZRS (H)

2023 2022

—B-=F “EoF

Name of related parties Relationship Nature of transactions Note RMB’000 RMB'000

BERERE B XHMHE FitaE ARET T ARETFT

Henan Guanbao Yuntong Fellow subsidiary Sales of goods (ii) 802 649

Pharmaceutical Company Limited ~ FIZHIBR A HEEY

AEBEEREXERAR

Neptunus (Shaoguan) Medical Fellow subsidiary Sales of goods (ii) 9 114
Company Limited RZMBAR HEEY
BT (AW BEERAR

Kashi Neptunus Yinhe Pharmaceutical Fellow subsidiary Sales of goods (ii) 824 409
Company Limited RZMERR HERY
RITEEHRABERRAA

Henan Zuojinming Pharmaceutical ~ Fellow subsidiary Sales of goods (i) 240 1,071
Company Limited G PN HEED
AEESHEEER DA

Jilin Neptunus Jiankang Technology  Fellow subsidiary Sales of goods (ii) 9,836 2,411
Development Company Limited ~ RIZKBAF HEEN
EMEEREHEERERAA

Shenzhen Neptunus Dayuancao Related company Purchase of finished goods (ii) 138 872
Bio-technique Company Limited ~ BEAF] BERN@

RIEERTEEDRER A

Hubei Neptunus Deming Fellow subsidiary Sales of goods (ii) 201 102
Pharmaceutical Company Limited ~ FIZHIBR A HEEY
MILETEABRERRAR

Binzhou Neptunus Huanghe Fellow subsidiary Sales of goods (ii) 356 264

Pharmaceutical Company Limited ~ FZH{BAA] HEEY
BIETEEEERAR
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BE—T_=-—Ft+-_HA=t—HIHFE

32. Material Related Party Transactions (Continued) 32. ERAEAERRZ (@)
(a) Related party transactions (Continued) (a) BERZRS @
2023 2022
—B-=F e 2 i
Name of related parties Relationship Nature of transactions Note RMB'000 RMB'000
BERER LA REME i ARET R ARETFT
Linyi Dongrui Pharmaceutical Fellow subsidiary Sales of goods (ii) 109 321
Company Limited FRMBAR HEEN
TR s EERA
Shandong Neptunus Yangguang Fellow subsidiary Sales of goods (ii) 2 536
Xinnuo Pharmaceutical Company ~ RIZHMBAA HEEN
Limited

WREERAEREEERAR

Luan Neptunus Pharmaceutical Fellow subsidiary Sales of goods (ii) 73 194
Company Limited EELhEING HEEN
NEBTBERRAR

Liaoning Province Nepstar Related company Sales of goods (ii) 1,907 1,855
Pharmaceutical Trading Company ~ B:EA ] HEEN
Limited

FELEIERBEEHBR LA

Fuzhou Nepstar Jiankang Drugstore  Related company Sales of goods (ii) 316 877
Chain Company Limited NG| HEEN
BN EREREREHAR AR

Neptunus Medical Devices (Shanghai) Fellow subsidiary Sales of goods (ii) 318 -
Co. Ltd. EESE A HEEY)
BEEERM (8 FERAR

Shandong Neptunus Pharmaceutical ~ Fellow subsidiary Sales of goods (ii) 476 =

Group Company Limited RIZMBAR HEEN
LWEETRESERR A
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32. Material Related Party Transactions (Continued)

32. EXBEL RS (&)

(a) Related party transactions (Continued) (a) BELZRS (H)
2023 2022
BC=F Bk
Name of related parties Relationship Nature of transactions Note RMB’000 RMB'000
BERERE B XHMHE FitaE ARETT ARETFT
Neptunus Medical Delivery Services  Fellow subsidiary Sales of goods (ii) 1,290 -
(Fujian) Company Limited G N HEEY
Xiamen Branch
BEERIARS (B2) ARAT
EfA R
Notes: BSE

(i) Neptunus Group leased office premises to the Group, the rental of
office premises was charged at pre-agreed rates with reference to
market rates.

(i)  The purchases, sales and rental of storage were transacted in the
normal course of business on the same terms as those charged to
and contracted with other third party suppliers and customers.

(iiy The research and development income are from technical
development cooperation with Neptunus Research.

@

(iii)

BERERAKELBBRLEYR -
MAEYEEE IRIET S ERIRRA
LR ERUER -

BEWEIMEE HEMAREAEER
AR —REBBIZD  REHEME
=77 IR KB P FTAT S A W ER B AT
AR A RRGETT -

B I A TR 5 B T SR M1
A -
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BE-Z-=F+-A=+—HLFE

32. Material Related Party Transactions (Continued) 32. EREERRS (5B)
(b) Outstanding balances with related parties (b) ERBENBESEH
Amounts due from related parties Amounts due to related parties

ERBEELFE EABEELFE
2023 2022 2023 2022
—EC=E B —BC=E T
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000
ARETR ARETT ARETR ARETT

Amounts due from/to immediate parent [/ [ENEBE ]
company FOE 5 2 800 -

Amounts due from/to an intermediate BN/ AT

parent company FOE 251 330 442 607
Amounts due from/to fellow Bl /AR R

subsidiaries: NEIFA
Neptunus Pharmaceutical TEE 1,360 52 982 3,560
Shandong Neptunus Yinhe Pharmaceutical ~ IR EE

Company Limited BRAR] 13,337 14,610 - 28
Henan Dongsen Pharmaceutical Company ~ ARIRGEEAR A

Limited 20 20 - -
Anhui Neptunus Pharmaceutical Group THETEEEE

Company Limited BRAF 34 86 9 20
Henan Neptunus Pharmaceutical Group EeTRESE

Company Limited BRAT 7,931 9,648 - =
Sulu Neptunus Pharmaceutical Group HESTRELHE

Company Limited BRAT - - 14 77
Shenzhen Quanyaowang Pharmaceutical ~ F3Ifi 2 B4R

Company Limited AR 856 856 - =
Anyang Hengfeng Pharmaceutical Company &3 EIR B &R 1\ ]

Limited 167 218 - -
Shenzhen Neptunus Property Management I/ ENEEE

Company Limited BRAT 17 67 = -
Henan Neptunus Yinhe Pharmaceutical RS TR

Company Limited BRARA - 79 25 24
Neptunus Research Limited BEMER - - 366 789
Shenzhen Neptunus Jiankang Shiye MImETRREE

Company Limited BRAH 37 122 - -
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BE-—SE-—=F+-A=+—HIEE

32. ERBAER RS (1)
(b) KA HBE T Ah

32. Material Related Party Transactions (Continued)

(b) Outstanding balances with related parties (Continued)

Amounts due from related parties Amounts due to related parties

EREER A A EERFE
2023 2022 2023 2022
—E-= —F-- —g-= —E2__F
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT AR¥TR ARBFT
Guangxi Guilin Neptunus Pharmaceutical ~ EFEME T REE
Company Limited BRRA 581 579 - 62
Binzhou Neptunus Huanghe Pharmaceutical E//@ T & E%
Company Limited BRAA - - - 99
Shaoyang Neptunus Pharmaceutical 58 T BEBRAR
Company Limited - - 48 -
Shenzhen Shenye Pharmaceutical AIMAZBEER
Development Company Limited BRAT 29 132 - -
Qingdao Huaren Pharmaceutical Distribution 5 &3~ 8 & ffi%
Company Limited BRRA 224 206 - =
Guangxi Neptunus Yinhe Pharmaceutical ~ ERETRIEE
Company Limited BRAR - - - 8
Heilongjiang Province Neptunus TRIEETRE
Pharmaceutical Company Limited BRAR 228 512 - -
Henan Enji Pharmaceutical Company Limited 7 B EEEAR AR 67 285 - -
Neptunus (Shaoguan) Medical Company /&L (BH) BEER AR
Limited - - - 20
Keshi Neptunus Hongkang Medical BTG LRBERM
Instruments Company Limited EREEAR = = = 1
Kashi Neptunus Yinhe Pharmaceutical RETHIBLE
Company Limited BRAA - - 20 58
Guangdong Neptunus Medical Group ERSTREEEER
Company Limited AR 8,589 19,416 3 15
Henan Guanbao Yuntong Pharmaceutical ~ IEEEERZEXAR
Company Limited N - 375 540 -
Xinjiang Neptunus Xinjia Pharmaceutical ~ ¥BEINEEEER
Company Limited NG - - - 7
Henan Zuojinming Pharmaceutical Company AEI{ESBABEA R A A
Limited 85 % - =
Zhoukou Renhe Pharmaceutical Company ~ BATHEZAR A F)
Limited - 114 449 -
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(b) Outstanding balances with related parties (Continued)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

fire MR R MY &

For the year ended 31 December 2023

HE

Amounts due from related parties

32. BERBAER R 5 (&)
(b) MRBMEBIES K05 (D)

=== — 5 = S S|l[EER)E

Amounts due to related parties

EKERE R A ENEERTE
2023 2022 2023 2022
—g-= —E2__F “E-CE ZEo
RMB000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000
AR¥TR AREFT ARBTR AREFT
Jilin Neptunus Jiankang Health Technology ~ E#NE T EERHTERE
Company Limited BRAR 8,173 12,723 - =
Hubei Neptunus Deming Pharmaceutical AL/ E/EmRE S
Company Limited BRAR - 12 - =
Shenzhen Neptunus Media Health Company AT BEERFER
Limited NG - 32 - -
Heze Neptunus Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. HEGTERERRAR - 5 - -
Hubei Neptunus Pharmaceutical Group ST REEE
Company Limited BRATE - 43 - 18
Tengzhou Neptunus Pharmaceutical NS TERE
Company Limited BRATE - = = 4
Luan Neptunus Pharmaceutical Company ~ ~ZETEEER
Limited AR - - - 55
Jiangsu Neptunus Pharmaceutical Company JIERETEEBR
Limited AF] - - - 17
Neptunus (Zhanjiang) Pharmaceutical BT (B BE
Company Limited BRAAE - - - 55
Jining Neptunus Huasen Pharmaceutical BESIERESR
Company Limited BRAR - - - 18
Xingjiang Neptunus Pharmaceutical MEETREE
Company Limited BRAH 139 - - -
Neptunus Medical Delivery Services (Fujian) /& BEE X RI5(EE)
Company Limited Xiamen Branch BBRAREMAAH 25 - - =
Gansu Neptunus Pharmaceutical Company ~ Hed8 TEEAR AR
Limited - - 12 -
41,899 60,288 2,468 4,935

RYIHBERBFEEYRMBRHOBRDA
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BE-—SE-—=F+-A=+—HIEE

32. Material Related Party Transactions (Continued) 32. EREERRS (18)
(b) Outstanding balances with related parties (Continued) (b) MERBEMEES L (E)
Amounts due from related parties Amounts due to related parties
EREER A A EERFE
2023 2022 2023 2022
—E-= —F-- —g-= —E2__F
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARBFT
Amounts due from/to related Bl ERBELR
companies: FUE
Shenzhen Neptunus Yidiangao e T 5Bk &
Pharmaceutical Company Limited BRAA 1,708 1,035 - -
Jiangsu Nepstar Pharmaceutical Company [ T308 T ERE %
Limited BRAR 601 749 - -
Jilin Neptunus Jiangkang Bio-technology G ERFEANRE
Company Limited BRRA - - 2,372 2,045
Nanning Neptunus Jiangkang Bio-technology FiZ/8 ERFEAMRI
Company Limited BRL - 2,202 3,079 =
Shenzhen Nepstar Health Drugstore Chain ~ #JImE L ERiEFER
Company Limited ERERAR - 4 = =
Liaoning Province Nepstar Pharmaceutical B4 TERELE S
Trading Company Limited BRAA] 158 497 - -
Shenzhen Neptunus Dayuancao FIEEATEEMEE
Biotechnique Company Limited BRAT - - 25 260
Fuzhou Nepstar Health Drugstore Chain BMNETERRRERE
Company Limited HERLA 14 - = 195
2,481 4,487 5,476 2,500
Amount due to a non-controlling FE(TSERIRAR R IB
shareholder - - - 20,247
44,636 65,107 9,186 28,289
The balances with related companies are unsecured, interest-free BRIEIEIE IR AR R RIE - BAE T SR AR
and repayable on demand, except for the amount due to a non- TR - R ERAREKER - FERMTEE21
controlling shareholder, details are disclosed in note 21. R -
*  The English translation of the Chinese name in these consolidated * EEANBEALT  AEEPBHREAFXE
financial statements, where indicated, is included for information BHEEEERREERZH -

purpose only.
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32. Material Related Party Transactions (Continued)

(0

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B IR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE-E-_=F+-A=+—HIEE

The Group’s amounts due from/to related parties which are of
trade nature and non-trade nature, consisted of the following:

=
AR

32. EXBAEL RS (@)

(0 AEEBREZUENFESUEE 2R
YRR A RS T AR A

Amounts due from related parties

as at 31 December

Rt=B=t+-REREESFE

Amounts due to related parties
as at 31 December

Rt=B=+-BEABERFE

2023 2022 2023 2022
—EC-ZE “E-—F —EC-ZE St 3
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR AREFL ARETT ARETT
Note (i) Note (i) Note (ii) Note (ii)
HEZEG) () W& ii) P i)
Trade nature EatE
Amounts due from/to fellow subsidiaries e/ TR RIZKBA AZUA 41,882 60,221 2,468 4,935
Amounts due from/to related companies Bl /ENTE A RIZUE 2,481 4,487 5,476 2,500
44,363 64,708 1,944 7,435
Non-trade nature FEAME
Amount due from/to immediate parent Y/ EREBEARE
company 5 2 800 -
Amount due from/to an intermediate parent fEY /N TR EIRAFIZUE
company 251 330 442 607
Amounts due from/to fellow subsidiaries et/ TR R ZHBA AZUE 17 67 = =
Amount due to a non-controlling FEREARIRRTIE
shareholder - - - 20,247
273 399 1,242 20,854
44,636 65,107 9,186 28,289

RYIHBERBFEEYRMBRHOBRDA
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE-—SE-—=F+-A=+—HIEE

32. Material Related Party Transactions (Continued) 32. ERAEAERR S (@)

() The Group's amounts due from/to related parties which are of () AEEBERESUENFESHEE
trade nature and non-trade nature, consisted of the following: W/ FERRE A RIERIE T EE
(Continued) €)

Notes: BeE
(i) The aging analysis of amounts due from related parties arising from () REEEBAETFELEBEEIUEER
the ordinary course of business which are of trade nature, based on ER BT H HAA FE U BR 2 75 SUE AR B
invoice date, is as follows: DA :
2023 2022
—E-=F T4
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AR¥ET T
Within 3 months 3EAR 12,606 51,951
More than 3 months but less than 12 months 83 A AE L7112 {8 A 30,901 2,666
Over 12 months 8@ 12 @A 856 10,091
44,363 64,708

(i) The aging analysis of amounts due to related parties arising from
the ordinary course of business which are of trade nature, based on
invoice date, is as follows:

(i) MABREHBETFELBEZEER
EE R B HIR0 A B S 77 SROIARRER

DT

2023 2022

—E-=F T
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETT
Within 3 months 3EAR 6,963 7,077
Over 12 months Bid 12 & A 981 358
7,944 7,435
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32. Material Related Party Transactions (Continued)

(d)

(e)

Key management personnel remuneration

Remuneration for key management personnel of the Group
including remuneration paid to the Company’s directors as
disclosed in note 10 and certain of the highest paid employees as

= 4 =
fre SRR T
For the year ended 31 December 2023
miE=F=c= == AIFE

32. EXEBH RS (&)

d) TEEEBARMS
AEEIEEEEARMLRERN
FAARAEFNME RHE 105
B)RENFETREFHEENSH

disclosed in note 11, are as follows: (RIFTFE1 P HRER) a0 T
2023 2022
—E-=HF —E_—4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETFT
Short-term employee benefits 52 HRfE B f& A 4,157 3,306
Post-employment benefits RIRIEF 262 189
4,419 3,495

Certain related party transactions in respect of (a) and (b) above
constitute connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions as defined in Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.
The disclosures required under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing
Rules are provided in the Report of the Directors.

(e) B L@ R(b)WETHRETRSE
REAER S GEM TR BIZE20E Fr
AENHBERERS - GEM ETAA
FEERTENEBEINES SRS o
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T E BTSRRI EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE-—SE-—=F+-A=+—HIEE

33. Commitments 33. A&IE
(a) Capital commitments (a) BEARIE
2023 2022
—B-=F —Eo—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARETT
Property, plant and equipment ME . BEESRE
Contracted but not provided for: EHEVEESETEE
Property, plant and equipment Y - BB KRR 734 990
(b) At the reporting date, the lease commitments for short-term (b) R¥HEBHE - EEAEENEERE
leases are as follows: Ul
2023 2022
—E-=5F —T-—F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBTT
Within 1 year R—FA 1,260 1,764
Details of the leases are set out in note 25. EAMEERABFE  #ERMFE252
A o
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— EE| >N

R e IS ERR M5

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE_ZT_=F+_A=+—HIFE

34. Statement of Financial Position of the Company 34. RQ B EIEAR R TR
2023 2022
—E=H —E = —E
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT YN
Assets and Liabilities BERAEE
Non-current assets EREBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - WE K& 1,221 1,390
Intangible assets mREE 12 28
Interests in subsidiaries (Note ii) B 8~ R A9 & (BT 5EN) 476,520 476,520
Right-of-use assets EREEE = 340
477,753 478,278
Current assets REEE
Trade and other receivables JFEE LA B S5 e L At PR U TR 214,086 185,553
Bank balances and cash RITHEBRRIRS 12,912 7,443
226,998 192,996
Current liabilities REEE
Trade and other payables JRE 1 BIR R R EL Ath P {51 SR IE 7,765 5,683
Contract liabilities BHEE 1,700 1,505
Current taxation BIHARE IR 3,202 2,342
Lease liabilities HEaRE = 342
12,667 9,872
Net current assets TENE EFE 214,331 183,124
Total assets less current liabilities HEERABASE 692,084 661,402
Non-current liability FRBEME
Deferred revenue FEREW S 340 340
Net assets FEE 691,744 661,062
Equity e
Share Capital A& 167,800 167,800
Reserves (Note i) i (PR =ED) 523,944 493,262
Total equity ERBE 691,744 661,062
Zhang Feng Huang Jian Bo [534 EHIK
Director Director o] =5
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE-—SE-—=F+-A=+—HIEE

34. Statement of Financial Position of the Company 34. IR R AR &R (BE)
(Continued)
Notes: Bi%E
(i)  The movement in the Company’s reserves is as follows: () ARAREAFENREESHOT :
Share Statutory Accumulated
premium reserve fund losses Total
A7 ME EEAES BiER @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AREFTT AREFTT ARETTT AREFTT
At 1 January 2022 N-_TE—_—F—Hf—H 554,844 3,330 (81,072) 477,102
Profit for the year and total comprehensive & FI & & R4
income for the year W st 4a%E - - 16,160 16,160

At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 R=Z-—4+—H

=+—Bk
—T-=F—f—H 554,844 3,330 (64,912) 493,262
Profit for the year and total comprehensive 4 R 7| I F &R &
income for the year lgay ikl = = 30,682 30,682
At 31 December 2023 R-IBZ=%F
TEEETF=E 554,844 3,330 (34,230) 523,944
(i) The following is a list of principal subsidiaries at 31 December 2023: iy UNTARZZEZ_=F+-A=+—HKHEBA
AIRE
Percentage
Place of Particulars of of ownership
incorporation  Class of registered/issued interests held
Name of subsidiary and operation  shares held and paid up capital by the Company Principal activity
MK T/ ERTR ARREE
ARERB XY FERHER BRERFR BERERAIN TEXH
Directly held by the Company:
ARAEERE
Ascendent Bio-Technology Company Limited ~ Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 100% Dormant
SRR AR AR BB Eyil (2022: HK$1) (2022: 100%) Eame%
18T 100%
(C2==%F: 10 (ZB==% : 100%)
Fuzhou Neptunus Fuyao Pharmaceutical CompanyPRC Registered RMB30,000,000 80% Production and sales of
Limited ("Neptunus Fuyao”)** H Capital (2022: RMB30,000,000) (2022: 80%)  medicine and medical
RNEIREMEERAR (EERE)" AR ARH30,000,0007 80%  devices
(B (ZBZZF :80%) HERHEZMREREM
AR30,000,0007)
Shenzhen Neptunus Changjian Pharmaceutical ~ PRC Registered RMB10,000,000 100% Sales and distribution of
Company Limited (“Neptunus Changjian”)*®  HE Capital (2022: RMB10,000,000) (2022: 100%)  medicines and healthcare
RBERRBEERAR (TEERE)* EMER AR H10,000,0007 100%  products
(ZB==%: (ZBZZF:100%) HERDHERRARER
AK#10,000,0007T)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE-Z-=F+-A=+—HLFE

34. R B BFIRL R (&)

34. Statement of Financial Position of the Company
(Continued)

RYIHBERBFEEYRMBRHOBRDA

Notes: i : ()
(i) The following is a list of principal subsidiaries at 31 December 2023: (i) WUWTFARZZE—_=F+-_A=+—HKBA
(Continued) AIZE  (B)
Percentage
Place of Particulars of of ownership
incorporation  Class of registered/issued interests held
Name of subsidiary and operation  shares held and paid up capital by the Company Principal activity
AR LK T/ ERTR LN )iiEs2 )
ARER EXE FERGER BREAFE BERERASN TEXH
Indirectly held by the Company:
ANAREESE
Fuzhou Neptunus Jinxiang Chinese PRC Registered RMB10,000,000 76% Production and sales of
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd H Capital (2022: RMB10,000,000) (2022:76%)  medicine
(“Neptunus Jinxiang")** g 7N AR#10,000,0007T 76% EERHEEY
BMEE KT EREBRAR (2% (ZZ==F:76%)
(Fexes))* AR #10,000,0007T)
Fuzhou Fuyao Medical Co., Ltd PRC Registered RMB10,000,000 79.6% Sales of medicine and
("Fuzhou Fuyao”)** F Capital (2022: RMB10,000,000) (2022:79.6%)  medicine device
M EEEEERAR (BMEE) AR AR #10,000,0007C 79.6% HEEMREREH
(Em==%: (ZZ==F :79.6%)
AR%10,000,00070)
Jilin Neptunus Changjian Industrial Company ~ PRC Registered RMBNil N/A  Sales and distribution of
Limited (“Jilin Changjian”)*@* F Capital (2022: RMB500,000) (2022: 100%)  medicines and healthcare
EWBEIREEXEB AR ([EHRE])** AR AREZT @A products
(ZF=—fF: (ZZZZF :100%) HERDHERRRER
AR500,0007T)
Beijing Neptunus Zhongxin Pharmaceutical Co., PRC Registered RMB100,000,000 51% Production and sales of
Ltd (“Neptunus Zhongxin“)*® F Capital (2022: RMB100,000,000) (2022:51%)  medicine
ERBERHEXRNE RAR (DEEHH])*e AR AR #100,000,0007T 51% HERAEEY
(-®—= (Z2==F :51%)
AR #100,000,0007T)
Hainan Neptunus Changjian Trading Co., Ltd ~ PRC Registered RMB1,000,000 100% Sales and distribution of
("Hainan Neptunus")*@ HE Capital (2022: RMB1,000,000) (2022: 100%)  medicines and healthcare
BRI REESERDR(EREE]) AR ARH1,000,0007T 100%  products
(2% (ZBZZF:100%) HERDHEERKRER
AR #1,000,0007T)
Zhaoging Naptunus Changjian Trading Co., Ltd  PRC Registered RMB500,000 100% Sales and distribution of
("Zhaoging Changjian”)*@A HEl Capital (2022: Nil) (2022: N/A)  medicines and healthcare
EEBIRREHER DA (EERRE]) AR AEH500,0007T 100%  products
(ZZ2==%:%3) (2% TER) #ERDHERERER
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

HE_Z-_=F+_A=Z+—HILFE

34. Statement of Financial Position of the Company 34. IR R AR &R (BE)
(Continued)
Notes: MisE - (48
(i) The following is a list of principal subsidiaries at 31 December 2023: (i) UAFBR-_Z_=F+_A=+—HBWEXR
(Continued) RIRE  (B)
*  These companies are registered under the laws of the PRC as limited *  ZEARRBHENEEEZZAERAEMLER

al ¢

liability companies.

0

#  Neptunus Fuyao has controlling interests in Neptunus Jinxiang and % BERELETEREBMEE(EERE
Fuzhou Fuyao (“Neptunus Fuyao Group”). KB A ERER
@  Neptunus Changjian has controlling interest in Neptunus Zhongxin, ° BIRBHETHN - SRMEIREEST
Hainan Neptunus and Zhaoging Neptunus (“Neptunus Changjian (NBEREEREDIFHIERER
Group”).
A Zhaoging Changjian was newly incorporated on 17 April 2023. " EERBR_T_=FNA++EBHFMK
e
%  Jilin Changjian was deregistration on 14 April 2023. % BEMRER-_F-_=FWA1MHERHET
o
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o <H S
iRe SR M A
For the year ended 31 December 2023
HEZZ_=FSt_H=+—HILFE

34. Statement of Financial Position of the Company

(Continued)

The following table lists out the information relating to the Neptunus
Fuyao Group which has material non-controlling interests (“NCI"”).
The summarised financial information presented below represents the

amounts before any intragroup elimination.

34. R B BFIRL R (&)

TRINTEBEERER R ([ SRR
@B EREEENER - TXHATRHB
BRBETEEM A RS HA 2 25 -

2023 2022
—EC-=E =EE==GF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETTT
NCI percentage PR R A DL 20% 20%
Current assets BN EE 533,673 512,249
Non-current assets IERBEE 306,246 323,451
Current liabilities mENEE (221,859) (259,840)
Non-current liabilities FEREFERE (15,809) (13,355)
Net assets BEFE 602,251 562,505
Carrying amount of NCI PR AR Y BR E (B 120,450 112,501
Revenue WA 683,163 610,036
Profit for the year REZm F 58,459 57,622
Total comprehensive income 2EM4REE 58,459 57,622
Profit allocated to NCI 3B T FEFEAR M e A 11,692 11,524
Dividend paid to NCl ST IR R R AR (3.648) (2,926)
Cash flows used in operating activities KEREMARSN (14,351) (18,004)
Cash flows from investing activities REEBMEREM 64,489 81,115
Cash flows used in financing activities BMEEBMAREM (14,000) (13,272)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE-—SE-—=F+-A=+—HIEE

34. Statement of Financial Position of the Company 34, RN B EIMOR TR (B)
(Continued)
The following table lists out the information relating to the Neptunus TRINTEBABENEZEREZNE T RE
Changjian Group which has material NCI. The summarised financial SEMER o TXFITHMBEEREZTIEE
information presented below represents the amounts before any inter- Al A RIS EHRI 2 25 o

company elimination.

2023 2022

—E-=F T —F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T ARETTT

NCI percentage JEPERR I B DL 49% 49%
Current assets MENEE 113,960 146,787
Non-current assets IEMENE E 119,112 130,602
Current liabilities mEE & (256,276) (256,424)
Non-current liabilities ERBAE (16,674) (18,035)
Net (liabilities)/assets (B EEFE (39,878) 2,930
Carrying amount of NCI PR s Y BRI (B (19,540) 1,436
Revenue L ON 93,797 115,533
Loss for the year REFE1E (42,807) (5,012)
Total comprehensive expense ZHEMAS LT (42,807) (5,012)
Loss allocated to NCI DT IR R Y BT IR (20,975) (2,456)
Cash flows from operating activities LETEEBEREMN 6,465 14,588
Cash flows (used in)/from investing activities & /&3 (FTA) /Fi3IR &R (171) 6,912
Cash flows used in financing activities BEEBFTAR SR (6,837) (25,539)

190 SHENZHEN NEPTUNUS INTERLONG BIO-TECHNIQUE COMPANY LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023



Five Year Financial Summary

- R

H A

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—EC-=F = —EE =l =N =F=I4E
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETR AREFT ARETTT ARETI ARETTT
RESULTS ES5
Revenue KA 1,064,861 986,691 838,805 1,031,369 1,080,871
Cost of sales SHERA (617,350) (542,549) (464,702) (457,009) (437,833)
Gross profit EA 447,511 444,142 374,103 574,360 643,038
Other revenue and HpA K
other net income HAR A F5E 28,869 24,042 28,722 15,187 9,279
Selling and distribution costs HERDHEAT (252,826) (244,231) (238,115) (420,578) (456,599)
Administrative expenses TEFY (90,433) (93,733) (80,536) (64,456) (65,573)
Other operating expenses Hifs e Rz (93,746) (38,096) (37,466) (50,266) (49,542)
Impairment losses on trade and ~ FEURER 30K E At FE UK
other receivables, net IR REEEFE (3,127) (2,831) (3,002) (3,205) (365)
Profit from operations ERR 36,248 89,293 43,706 51,042 80,238
Finance costs HHKER (5,574) (7,032) (4,596) (830) (1,417)
Profit before taxation BRBLATER 30,674 82,261 39,110 50,212 78,821
Income tax expense FrisBimx (16,148) (18,431) (4,804) (11,470) (15,412)
Profit for the year REFBR 14,526 63,830 34,306 38,742 63,409
Attributable to: FE1L
Owners of the Company EAREEA 24,127 54,346 35,958 36,592 59,719
Non-controlling interests FEE R R (9,601) 9,484 (1,652) 2,150 3,690
14,526 63,830 34,306 38,742 63,409
Assets and liabilities BEHEE
Total assets BEE 1,415,646 1,448,230 1,307,570 1,120,882 1,124,123
Total liabilities BAE (399,464) (442,926) (363,170) (225,210) (264,193)
1,016,182 1,005,304 944,400 895,672 859,930
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Group Property
e JE kS

PROPERTY IN PRC

GRIEIRYE S
Gross Group's
Location Intended use Site area floor area interest
ik A THEE BEER EihfEm
(sq.m) (sq.m) (%)
(FF5K) (F5K) (A7 L)
Kuiqgi Village, Industrial 166,109.5 58,434.74 80
Gushan Town,
Jin"an District
Fuzhou City
Fujian Province
The PRC
hEREZEEMNT I% 166,109.5 58,434.74 80
B2 5 L SR IR AT
No. 1, Qiangyun Road Industrial 18,086.47 16,441.71 51
Miyun Economic
Development Zone,
Beijing City,
The PRC
REIE R HEE I% 18,086.47 16,441.71 51
SREER15R
15 Zhansimen Road, Industrial 6,768.48 1,691.90 51
Shahe Town,
Changping District,
Beijing City,
The PRC
HELIE T & PR SR T3 6,768.48 1,691.90 51
J& B FIRE155%
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